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PART |
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements.stdtements other than statements of historica$fancluding statements regarding
our future financial condition, business strategg plans and objectives of management for futueratfons, are forward-looking statements.
Terminology such as “believe,” “may,” “might,” “obgtive,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “iend,” “should,” “plan,” “expect,”
“predict,” “potential,” or the negative of thesertes or other similar expressions is intended tatifie forward-looking statements. We have
based these forward-looking statements largelyusrcarrent expectations and projections about &uivents and financial trends that we
believe may affect our financial condition, resuafperations, business strategy and financiadsi€Ehese forward-looking statements are
subject to a number of known and unknown riskswamzkrtainties that could cause our actual resoiltifter materially from those expresset
implied in our forward-looking statements. Suclksisnd uncertainties include, among others, thstadlin Part 1, Iltem 1A. “Risk Factors” of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere is thport, such as but not limited to:

« our still developing industry and relatively newsiness mode

» changes in the economic condition, market dynaméggjlatory enforcement or legislative environmegifécting our, our third par
publisher’, and our client businesses

« our dependence on the availability and affordabdit quality media from thir-party publishers
» our dependence on Internet search companies éztaltternet visitors
» our ability to accurately forecast our operatingules and appropriately plan our expen:
e our ability to compete in our industr
* our ability to manage cyber security risks and €associated with maintaining a robust securitsastfucture
» our ability to develop our websites to allow Interwrisitors to access our websites through molsigags;
* our ability to develop new services and enhancesnamd features to meet new demands from our cliantt
» our ability to successfully challenge regulatorglits) investigations, or allegations of noncomptiamvith laws.
Except as required by law, we undertake no obligatd update publicly any forward-looking statenseior any reason to conform these

statements to actual results or to changes inxpeatations. Given these risks and uncertaintezgjers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on such forward-looking statements, andjuadify all of our forward-looking statements thete cautionary statements.

Item 1. Business
Our Company

QuinStreet is a leader in performance marketingnenWe have built a strong set of capabilitiestigage Internet visitors in targeted
media and to connect our marketing clients withrthetential customers online. We focus on sendghgnts in large, information-intensive
industry verticals where relevant, targeted medi @fferings help visitors make informed choicésd the products that match their needs,
thus become qualified customer prospects for aantd. Presently, our primary client verticals @ire financial services and education
industries. We also have a presence in the bustodsssiness technology, home services and meiidaktries.
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We generate revenue by delivering measurable onlem&eting results to our clients. These resuktstygpically in the form of qualified
leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applications, ostomers that are generated from our marketingities on our websites or via third-party
publishers with whom we have relationships. Cligmimarily pay us for leads that they can conwvetd icustomers, typically in a call center or
through other offline customer acquisition processe for clicks from our websites that they canvaat into applications or customers on tl
websites. We are predominantly paid on a negotiatedarket-driven “per lead” or “per click” basMedia costs to generate qualified leads,
inquiries, clicks, calls, applications or customairs borne by us as a cost of providing our sesvice

QuinStreet was incorporated in California on A8l 1999 and reincorporated in Delaware on Dece@be?009. We have been a
pioneer in the development and application of medsa marketing on the Internet. Clients pay ughieractual opt-in actions by prospects or
customers that result from our marketing activibesheir behalf, versus traditional impressiondubhadvertising and marketing models in
which an advertiser pays for more general exposuas advertisement. We have been particularlydedwon developing and delivering
measurable marketing results in the search engioasystem,” the entry point of the Internet for hadghe visitors we convert into qualified
leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applications ostamers for our clients. We own or partner withticat content websites that attract Internet
visitors from organic search engine rankings duta¢oquality and relevancy of their content to skangine users. We also acquire targeted
visitors for our websites through the purchaseayf-per-click, or PPC, advertisements on searchnesgWe complement search engine
companies by building websites with content aneérirfiys that are relevant and responsive to thaichers, and by increasing the value of the
PPC search advertising they sell by matching visitath offerings and converting them into customerspects for our clients.

Market Opportunity
Change in marketing strategy and approach

We believe that marketing approaches are changitmdgets shift from offline, analog advertisingdiagto digital advertising media
such as Internet marketing. These changing appesaate fundamental, and require a shift to fundaafigmew competencies, including:

From qualitative, impression-driven marketing to alytic, data-driven marketing

Growth in Internet marketing is enabling a moreadditiven approach to advertising. The measuralilitynline marketing allows
marketers to collect a significant amount of dethitlata on the performance of their marketing cégngaincluding the effectiveness of ad
format and placement and user responses. Thisdatthen be analyzed and used to improve markesimgaign performance and cost-
effectiveness on substantially shorter cycle tithes with traditional offline media.

From account management-based client relationshtpsresults-based client relationships

Marketers are becoming increasingly focused onegjies that deliver specific, measurable resutts.eikample, marketers are attempting
to better understand how their marketing spendinguyrces measurable objectives such as meetingténgat marketing cost per new custor
As marketers adopt more resutiased approaches, the basis of client relationstithstheir marketing services providers is shiitiinom being
more account management-based to being more residtged.

From marketing messages pushed on audiences to rating messages pulled by self-directed audiences

Traditional marketing messages such as televisioradio advertisements are broadcast to a brodidraze. The Internet is enabling
more self-directed and targeted marketing. For gl@mwhen Internet visitors click on PPC searcheafisements, they are expressing an
interest in and proactively engaging with inforroatabout a product or service related to that dbeznent. The growth of self-directed
marketing, primarily through
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online channels, allows marketers to present naygeted and potentially more relevant marketingsagss to potential customers who have
taken the first step in the buying process, whigh io turn increase the effectiveness of marketgrshding.

From marketing spending focused on large media bugsnarketing spending optimized for fragmented need

We believe that media is becoming increasinglyrfragted and that marketing strategies are changiagddpt to this trend. There are
millions of Internet websites, tens of thousandw/bich have significant numbers of visitors. Whités fragmentation can create challenges fo
marketers, it also allows for improved audiencensegtation and the delivery of highly targeted mérkemessages, but new technologies ant
approaches are necessary to effectively manageetimaglgiven the increasing complexity resultingfirmore media fragmentation.

Increasing complexity of online marketing

Online marketing is a dynamic and increasingly claxadvertising medium. There are numerous onlivnels for marketers to reach
potential customers, including search enginesrreteportals, vertical content websites, affiliagworks, display and contextual ad networks,
email, video advertising, and social media. Werrefghese and other marketing channels as medizh Bf these channels may involve
multiple ad formats and different pricing modelsypdifying the complexity of online marketing. Welleee that this complexity increases the
demand for our vertical marketing and media sesviuge to our capabilities and to our experienceaniagy and optimizing online marketing
programs across multiple channels. Also, marketedsagencies often lack our ability to aggregaferioigs from multiple clients in the same
industry vertical, an approach that allows us teec@ wide selection of visitor segments and previtbre potential matches to visitor needs.
This approach can allow us to convert more Intevisitors into qualified leads, inquiries, clickslls, applications, or customers from targetec
media sources, giving us an advantage when buyingpaetizing that media.

Our Business Model

We deliver cost-effective marketing results to olignts most typically in the form of a qualifiegldd, inquiry, click, call, application or
customer. Leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, and @ptibns can then convert into a customer or salelfents at a rate that results in an acceptab
marketing cost to them. We are paid typically bgrls when we deliver qualified leads, inquiridigks, calls, applications, or customers as
defined by our agreements with them. Referencésetalelivery of customers means a sale or comptaistbmer transaction (e.g., bound
insurance policies or customer appointments wignts). Because we bear the costs of media, ogrgmes must deliver a value to our clients
and provide for a media yield, or generation ofegtable margin on our media costs, that providesuad financial outcome for us. To deliver
leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applications, andtomers to our clients, generally we:

* own or access targeted media through businessgamaents (e.g., revenue sharing agreements) orropasing media (e.g., clicks
from major search engine:

* run advertisements or other forms of marketing mgss and programs in that media to create visgigpanses in the form most
typically of leads or inquiries (contact informatiand intent or requests), clicks (to further dficgtion or matching steps, or to
online client applications or offerings), calls ¢ior owned and operated call centers or that otbents or their agents),
applications (e.g., for enrollment or a financiedguct), or customers (e.g., bound insurance )¢

* match these leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, apfilims, or customers to client offerings or bratidg we believe can meet visitor
interests or needs and client targets and requiresnanc

» optimize client matches and media yield such thatehieve desired results for clients and a soimath¢ial outcome for u:
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Media cost, or the cost to attract targeted Intevisitors, is the largest cost input to producihg measurable marketing results we de
to clients. Balancing our clients’ customer acdiosi cost and conversion objectives — or the raterach the leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, or
applications that we deliver to them convert intgtomers — with our media costs and yield objestivepresents the primary challenge in ou
business model. We have been able to effectivdgnba these competing demands by focusing on odianseurces and capabilities,
conversion optimization, and our mix of offeringalaclient coverage. We also seek to mitigate meds risk by working with third-party
publishers predominantly on a revenue-share bslgdia purchased on a revenue-share basis haseapdghe majority of our media costs
and of the Internet visitors we convert into quetifleads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applicatioosgcustomers for clients, contributing significa
to our ability to maintain profitability.

Media and Internet visitor mix

We are a client-driven organization. We seek tome of the largest providers of measurable mar§getsults on the Internet in the client
industry verticals we serve by meeting the needdieifits for results, reliability and volume. Mawggithose client needs requires that we
maintain a diversified and flexible mix of Interngsitor sources due to the dynamic nature of @ntiredia. Our media mix changes with
changes in Internet visitor usage patterns. Wetadahose changes on an ongoing basis, and atsetirely adjust our mix of vertical media
sources to respond to client or vertical-specificuanstances and to achieve our financial objesti@enerally, our Internet visitor sources
include:

» websites owned and operated by us, with contenbffadngs that are relevant to our cli€’ target customer:
» visitors acquired from PPC advertisements purchasadajor search engines and sent to our web

e revenue sharing agreements with third-party publiskvith whom we have a relationship and whoseerurtr traffic is relevant to
our client’ target customer:

» email lists owned by us or by third parties; i

« advertisements run through online advertising nets;adirectly with major websites or portals, sbomedia networks, or mobile
networks, on a reven-share or purchased bas

Conversion optimization

Once we acquire targeted Internet visitors from afigur numerous online media sources, we seekrweart that media into qualified
leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applications, ostomers at a rate that balances client resultsauit media costs or yield objectives. We start by
providing Internet visitors with information andgauct offerings on our websites and in our markgfirograms that we believe match their
interests. Achieving acceptable client results medlia yield then requires ongoing testing, meaguanalysis, feedback, and adaptation of the
key components of our Internet marketing prograhhgse components include the marketing or advegtisiessaging, content mix, visitor
navigation path, mix and coverage of client offgampresented, and point-of-sale conversion mesgagithe content that is presented to an
Internet visitor immediately prior to convertingathindividual into a qualified lead, inquiry, clickall, application, or customer for our clients.
This data complexity is managed by us with techgwladlata reporting, marketing processes, and peesowe believe that our scale and more
than fifteen-year track record give us an advantagenanaging this complexity often implies a stexggerience-based learning curve.

Offerings and client coverage

The Internet is a self-directed medium. Internstteis choose the websites they visit and theinemavigation paths, and always have
the option of clicking away to a different websiteweb page. Having offerings, content or cliehts imatch the interests or needs of website
visitors is key to providing results and



Table of Contents

adequate media yield. Our vertical focus allowsousontinuously revise and improve this matchingcpss, to better understand the various
segments of visitors and client offerings availablée matched, and to ensure that we enable Hiteisitors to find what they seek.

Our Competitive Advantages
Vertical focus and expertise

We focus our efforts on large, attractive clientked verticals and on building our depth of medid aoverage of clients and client
offerings within them. We have been a pioneer etlgping vertical marketing and media on the Ing¢and in providing measurable
marketing results to clients. We focus on clienteware moving their marketing spending to measerabline formats and on information-
intensive client verticals with large underlying met opportunities and high product or customegtiiihe values. This focus allows us to utilize
targeted media, in-depth industry and client knolgs and customer segmentation and breadth ot cftarings, or coverage, to deliver
results for our clients, and greater media yield lnying power.

Measurable marketing experience, expertise and data

We have substantial experience at designing ankbylag marketing programs that match Internet wisitto information or product
offerings, and that can deliver economically atixec measurable results to our clients, cost-éffety for us. Such results require frequent
testing and balancing of numerous variables, inolyithternet visitor sources, mix of content anatlént and product offerings, visitor
navigation paths, prospect qualification, and afilsieg creative design, among others. The complefiexecuting these marketing campaigns
is challenging. Due to our scale and more thaadiftyear track record, we have successfully exddhtaisands of Internet marketing
programs, and we have gained significant experiemgaging and optimizing this complexity to meet dients’ volume, quality and cost
objectives, while also achieving media yield anglibg power requirements for our business model.

Targeted media

Targeted media attracts Internet visitors who alatively narrowly focused demographically or ieittinterests. Targeted media can
deliver better measurable marketing results foratients, at lower media costs for us due to hightrs of conversion of Internet visitors into
qualified leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applioas, or customers for targeted offerings and,nftiie to less competition from display
advertisers. We have significant experience atticrgaidentifying, partnering, monetizing, and mgimg targeted media on the Internet. This
array of targeted media can represent a sharegwteal traffic in our verticals on the Internettttameaningful and attractive to clients. Many
of the targeted media sources for our marketingnanms are proprietary or more defensible becauserdirect ownership of websites in our
client verticals, our acquisition of targeted Imetr visitors directly from search engines to oubsites, and our relationships and media buying
power advantages with media properties or sourseed by others. Examples of websites that we owhagerate include Schools.com,
OnlineDegrees.com, and AlliedHealthWorld.com in education client vertical, Carlnsurance.com, lagge.com, Insure.com,
CardRatings.com, and MoneyRates.com in our findiseiavices client vertical; eWeek.com and ITBusgt&tge.com in our business-to-
business technology client vertical; reliableremedeom and improvementcenter.com in our home sesvelient vertical; and
ElderCarelink.com in our medical client vertical.

Proprietary technology

We have developed a core technology platform acwhamon set of applications for managing and opfimgizneasurable marketing
programs across multiple client verticals at scalee primary objectives and effects of our techgi@e are to achieve higher media yield,
deliver better results for our clients, and moffecetly and effectively manage our scale and claxipy. We continuously strive to develop
technologies that allow us to better match Intewnstors in our client verticals to the informaticclients or product offerings
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visitors seek at scale. In so doing, our technel®gian allow us to simultaneously improve visitissaction, increase our media yield, and
achieve higher rates of conversions of leads, megjiclicks, calls, applications, or customersdor clients — a cycle of increased value for
Internet visitors and our clients and competitidgantage for us. Some of the key applications intechnology platform are:

» an ad server for tracking the placement and pedaga of content, creative messaging, and offeldmggur websites and on those
of publishers with whom we worl

» databas-driven applications for dynamically matching contenffers or brands to Internet visit’ expressed needs or intere:

» aplatform for measuring and managing the perfoean tens of thousands of PPC search engine &imgrcampaigns

» dashboards or reporting tools for displaying opegaand financial metrics for thousands of ongaimarketing campaigns; an

» acompliance tool capable of cataloging and filtgrtontent from the thousands of websites on whighmarketing programs
appear to ensure adherence to client branding ljuédeand to regulatory requiremer

Approximately one-third of our employees are engisefocused on building, maintaining and operatingtechnology platform.

Client relationships

We are a reliable source of measurably effectivekatiang results for our clients. We endeavor to kvoollaboratively and in a data-
driven way with clients to improve our results tbem. We believe our successful client relationslaige due to:

» our close, often direct, relationships with mosbaof large clients
* our ability to deliver measurable and attractivieime on investment, or ROI, on clie’ marketing spendinc

» our ownership of, or access to large amounts ajetad media inventory and associated Interneiovssin the client verticals on
which we focus; an

» our ability to consistently and reliably deliverde quantities of qualified leads, inquiries, clickalls, applications, or custome

As our high client retention rates, combined witht depth and breadth of online media in our prin@ignt verticals indicate, we are an
important marketing channel partner for our clients

Client-driven online marketing approach

We focus on providing measurable Internet markedind media services to our clients in a way thekséo protect and enhance their
brands and their relationships with prospectiveamsgrs. The Internet marketing programs we exeangelesigned to adhere to strict client
branding and regulatory guidelines, and are intdnidematch our clients’ brands and offers with e@gsed customer interest. We have
contractual arrangements with third-party publisiterensure that they follow our clients’ branddglines, and we utilize our proprietary
technologies and trained personnel to help ensampkance. In addition, we believe that providiegewant, helpful content and client offers
that match an Internet visitor's salélected interest in a product or service, sudle@sesting information about a financial producéducatio
program, makes that visitor more likely to conuett a customer for our clients. We do not engageniine marketing practices such as
spyware or deceptive promotions, as we believettieste do not provide value to Internet visitord ean undermine our clients’ brands.
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Acquisition strategy and success

We have successfully acquired vertical online miémigeand media companies, including vertical webbitsinesses, marketing services
companies, and technologies. Our scale, breadthpzbilities and common technology platform hawtdnically enabled us to integrate and
generate value from acquisitions through our:

» ability to monetize Internet media, coupled witlent demand for our services, providing us withagtipular advantage in acquiril
targeted online media properties in the clientigals on which we focu

» capabilities in online media allowing us to generaigreater volume of qualified leads, inquiridigks, calls, applications, or
customers, and therefore create more value, thear otvners of marketing services companies tha¢ hggregated client budgets
or relationships; an

» application of technologies across our businessmelto create more value than previous ownerseofethnology

Scale

We are one of the largest Internet performance atigudk companies in the world. Our scale allowsousdtter meet the needs of large
clients for reliability, volume and quality of séce. It allows us to invest more in technologieat improve media yield, client results and our
operating efficiency. We are also able to investarip other forms of research and developmentudinl determining and developing new
types of vertical media, new approaches to engagetugite visitors, and new segments of Internétorss and client budgets, all of which can
lead to advantages in media costs, and effectigenegelivering client results.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to continue to be one of the largedtmost successful performance marketing compamékseinternet, and eventually in
other digitized media forms. We believe that weiarthe early stages of a very large and long-teranket opportunity. Our strategy for
pursuing this opportunity includes the followingykeomponents:

» focus on generating sustainable revenues by pruyicieasurable value to our clier

e build QuinStreet and our industry sustainably blgayéng ethically in all we do and by providing dtyakcontent and website
experiences to Internet visitol

« remain vertically focused, choosing to grow throualgipth, expertise and coverage in our currenttclierticals; enter new client
verticals selectively over time, organically andotingh acquisitions

» build a world class organization, with best-in-slaapabilities for delivering measurable marketiegplts to clients and high yields
or returns on media cos!

« develop and evolve the best technologies and piatfor managing vertical marketing and media onlttternet; focus on
technologies that enhance media yield, improventliesults and achieve scale efficienc

» build, buy and partner with vertical content websithat provide the most relevant and highest tyuaBitor experiences in the
client and media verticals we serve;

» be a clier-driven organization; develop a broad set of mediaces and capabilities to reliably meet clientdse

Clients

In fiscal years 2015, 2014 and 2013, no client casepd more than 10% of net revenue, and our togi2fts accounted for 45%, 52%
and 52% of net revenue. Since our service wasdffeted in 2001, we have
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developed a broad client base with many multi-yeltionships. We enter into Internet marketingtcaets with our clients, most of which are
cancelable with little or no prior notice. In addit, these contracts do not contain penalty prowisifor cancellation before the end of the
contract term.

Sales and Marketing

We have an internal sales team that consists ofogegs focused on signing new clients and accoamagers who maintain and seek to
increase our business with existing clients. Olesspeople and account managers are each focuseganticular client vertical so that they
develop an expertise in the marketing needs otlemts in that particular vertical.

Our marketing programs include advertising, atteicdaat trade shows and conferences.

Technology and Infrastructure

We have developed a suite of technologies to marnageove and measure the results of the markgtingrams we offer our clients. v
use a combination of proprietary and third-partitveare as well as hardware from established tedgylendors. We use specialized softwar
for client management, building and managing weksi#cquiring and managing media, managing ow-frarty publishers, and the matching
of Internet visitors to our marketing clients. Wavk invested significantly in these technologies plian to continue to do so to meet the
demands of our clients and Internet visitors, tweéase the scalability of our operations, and ecdamanagement information systems and
analytics in our operations. Our development teaark closely with our marketing and operating tedamdevelop applications and systems
that can be used across our business. In fiscad @845, 2014 and 2013, we spent $17.9 million,%h8@llion and $19.0 million on product
development.

Our primary data center is at a third-party co-tmsacenter in San Francisco, California. All oétbritical components of the system are
redundant, and we have a backup data center iWégas, Nevada. We have implemented these backtgnsysind redundancies to minimize
the risk associated with earthquakes, fire, powss,ltelecommunications failure, and other eveeysid our control.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trade secratlemark and copyright laws in the United Statebather jurisdictions together with
confidentiality agreements and technical measurgsdtect the confidentiality of our proprietarghis. To protect our trade secrets, we contrc
access to our proprietary systems and technolodeater into confidentiality and invention assigmiagreements with our employees and
consultants and confidentiality agreements witteothird parties. QuinStreet is a registered traatérin the United States and other
jurisdictions. We also have registered and unreggst trademarks for the names of many of our wefsiind we own the domain registrati
for our many website domains.

Our Competitors

Our primary competition falls into two categoriesivertising and direct marketing services ageneied,online marketing and media
companies. We compete for business on the basisiofmber of factors including return on marketirgenditures, price, access to targeted
media, ability to deliver large volumes or predigees of customer prospects, and reliability.

Advertising and direct marketing services agencies

Online and offline advertising and direct marketsggvices agencies control the majority of thedastient marketing spending for which
we primarily compete. So, while they are sometim@scompetitors, agencies are
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also often our clients. We compete with agenciestttact marketing budget or spending from offfioems to the Internet or, once designate
be spent online, to be spent with us versus the@ger by the agency with others. When spendinghenhgencies spend with QuinStreet and
with portals, other websites and ad networks.

Online marketing and media companies

We compete with other Internet marketing and medrapanies, in many forms, for online marketing letdgMost of these competitors
compete with us in one vertical. Examples inclu@miBRate in the financial services client vertiaadl &ducation Dynamics in the education
client vertical. Some of our competition also corfresn agencies or clients spending directly wittyéx websites or portals, including Google,
Yahoo! and Microsoft.

Government Regulation

We provide services through a number of differeriine and offline channels. As a result, we argesttio many federal and state laws
and regulations, including restrictions on the ofensolicited commercial email, such as the CAMBIPAct and state email marketing laws,
and restrictions on the use of marketing activitiesducted by telephone, including the Telemarke8ales Rule (the “TSR”) and the
Telephone Consumer Protection Act (the “TCPA”). ®usiness is also subject to federal and state damgegulations regarding unsolicited
commercial email, telemarketing, user privacy, seangines, Internet tracking technologies, dineatketing, data security, data privacy,
pricing, sweepstakes, promotions, intellectual progpownership and infringement, trade secretspebqf encryption technology, acceptable
content and quality of goods, and taxation, amadhgrs.

In addition, we provide services to a number of dignts that operate in highly regulated industrigarticularly in our financial services
and education verticals. In our financial servigegtical, our websites and marketing services abjest to various federal, state and local le
including state licensing laws, federal and statesl prohibiting unfair acts and practices, and f@ldend state advertising laws. In addition, we
are a licensed insurance agent in all fifty stafé& costs of compliance with these and new lawgimaease in the future and any failure on
our part to comply with such laws may subject usigmificant liabilities. To date, we have genedagelarge portion of our revenue from our
education client vertical, and nearly all of thatenue was generated from post-secondary educhitistitutions. Post-secondary educational
institutions are subject to extensive federal aatesegulations, including the Higher Educatior, Aepartment of Education regulations and
individual state higher education regulations. Tdégulations govern many aspects of these cliepstations, including marketing and
recruiting activities, as well as the school’s #lility to participate in Title IV federal studefihancial aid programs, which is the principal
source of funding for many of our education cliefiisere have been significant changes to thesdatggyus in the recent past, and a high level
of regulatory activity and heightened legislatieeusiny is expected to continue in the post-secondducation sector.

Employees

As of June 30, 2015, we had 638 employees, whiokisted of 185 employees in product developmenin 8ales and marketing, 45 in
general and administration and 341 in operatiomsie\bf our employees are represented by a labonpakcept for our employees in Brazil
who are represented by a union as required by [Brazaw.

Available Information

We file reports with the Securities and Exchangen@ission (“SEC”"), including annual reports on FatiK, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on FornkK8nd other filings required by the SEC. We maleasthreports and filings available free of chargewr
website via the investor relations page on www.gfii@et.com as soon as reasonably practicablesaftér material is electronically filed with
furnished
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to the SEC. We also webcast our earnings callsartdin events we host with members of the investemmunity on our investor relations
page at http://investor.quinstreet.com. The coméour website is not intended to be incorpordtgdeference into this report or in any other
report or document we file, and any reference i®wlebsite and others included in this report isrided to be an inactive textual reference
only.

The public may read and copy any materials weafita the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Roofi0atF Street, NE, Washington,
DC 20549. The public may obtain information on tiperation of the Public Reference Room by calllmg $EC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC
maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov} tentains reports, proxy and information statemesmd other information regarding issuers
that file electronically with the SEC.

Item 1A . Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. You should carefully consider the ridkscribed below and the other
information in this periodic report. The risks andcertainties described below are not the only omeg$ace. Additional risks and uncertainties
that we are unaware of, or that we currently bedi@ve not material, may also become important fiactioat adversely affect our business. If
any of the following risks actually occur, our nesss, financial condition or results of operatimusld be adversely affected. In those cases,
the trading price of our common stock could decéind you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We operate in an industry that is still developiagd have a relatively new business model that istawially evolving, which makes it
difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.

We derive nearly all of our revenue from the sdlerdine marketing and media services, which isladeveloping industry that has
undergone rapid and dramatic changes in its relgtshort history and which is characterized byidigpchanging Internet media and
advertising technology, evolving industry standardgulatory uncertainty, and changing user arehtllemands. As a result, we face risks
uncertainties such as but not limited to:

« our still developing industry and relatively newsiness mode

» changes in the economic condition, market dynaméggjlatory enforcement or legislative environmaifiecting our, our third-
party publisher, and our clienf’ businesses

» our dependence on the availability and affordabdit quality media from thir-party publishers

» our dependence on Internet search companies éutltternet visitors

» our ability to accurately forecast our results pémtions and appropriately plan our expen

e our ability to compete in our industr

* our ability to manage cyber security risks and €associated with maintaining a robust securitsastfucture
» our ability to develop our websites to allow Interrisitors to access our websites through molsigags;

* our ability to develop new services, enhancememtisf@atures to meet new demands from our client$

* our ability to successfully challenge regulatorgita investigations, or allegations of noncompdiamvith laws.

If we are unable to address these risks, our bssjmesults of operations and prospects couldrsuffe
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Negative changes in the market conditions or thguéatory environment have had in the past, and maythe future have, a material an
adverse impact on our revenue, business, and growth

Adverse macroeconomic conditions could cause dsesear delays in spending by our clients and cbaid our ability to generate
revenue and our results of operations. Moreovedate, we have generated a large majority of owermee from clients in our financial services
and education client verticals. We expect that goritg of our revenue, at least in the near terrifl, @ontinue to be generated from clients in
our financial services and education client velsic@hanges in the market conditions or the regayagnvironment in these two highly-
regulated client verticals in particular have nagdy impacted, and may continue to negatively iotpaur clients’ businesses, marketing
practices and budgets and, therefore, our finanegallts.

Our, our third-party publishers’, and our clientsisinesses operate in highly regulated industiggject to many laws and regulatory
requirements, including federal, state, and lomaisl and regulations regarding unsolicited commkbecrail, telemarketing, user privacy, sec
engines, Internet tracking technologies, directketing, data security, data privacy, pricing, swaeakes, promotions, intellectual property
ownership and infringement, trade secrets, exgaghoryption technology, acceptable content andityuaf goods, and taxation, among otht
Each of our financial services, education and otfient verticals is also subject to various lawsd segulations, and our marketing activities or
behalf of our clients are regulated. Many of thiases are frequently changing, and keeping our @assin compliance with or bringing our
business into compliance with new laws may be gpaffect our revenue and harm our financial resiiolations or alleged violations of la
by us, our third-party publishers or clients corgdult in damages, fines, criminal prosecutionauafable publicity, and restrictions on our
ability to operate, any of which could have a matexrdverse effect on our business, financial diomlj and results of operations. In addition,
new laws or regulations or changes in enforcemgexisting laws or regulations applicable to ouewts could affect the activities or strateg
of our clients and, therefore, lead to reductiantheir level of business with us.

For example, the Federal Communications Commissmanded the Telephone Consumer Protection ActT®B@A”) that affects
telemarketing calls. Certain provisions of the fatjans became effective in July 2012, and add#ioagulations requiring prior express
written consent for certain types of telemarketiatjs became effective in October 2013. Our effotsomply with the TCPA has not had a
material impact on traffic conversion rates. Howedepending on future traffic and product mixgauld potentially have a material effect on
our revenue and profitability, including increasimgr and our clients’ exposure to enforcement astand litigation. Additionally, we generate
leads from which users provide a wireless numba,ia turn a significant amount of revenue comesficalls made by our internal call
centers as well as, in some cases, by third-pattyenters. We also purchase a portion of our tdd from third-party publishers and cannot
guarantee that these third-parties will comply wfité regulations. Any failure by us or the thirddggublishers on which we rely for
telemarketing, email marketing, and other lead gien activities to adhere to or successfully iempént appropriate processes and procet
in response to existing regulations and changigglagory requirements could result in legal and atary liability, significant fines and
penalties, or damage to our reputation in the nipkkee, any of which could have a material adveffect on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations. Furthermore, our cliemay make business decisions based on their owariexiges with the TCPA regardless of
products and the changes we implemented to comigiiytiie new regulations. These decisions may negigtaffect our revenue or
profitability.

In connection with our and our third-party publistiemail campaigns to generate traffic for ouewts, we are subject to various state
and Federal laws regulating commercial email compations, including the federal CAN-SPAM Act. Forample, in 2012, several of our
clients were named defendants in a California Apam lawsuit relating to commercial emails whidagedly originated from us and our third
party publishers. While the matter was ultimategalved in our clientfavor, we were nonetheless obligated to indemrgfgain of our client
for the fees incurred in the defense of such maftere or any of our third-party publishers fail tomply with any provisions of these laws or
regulations, we could be subject to regulatory stigation, enforcement actions, and litigationwad as indemnification obligations with
respect to our clients. Any negative outcomes fsoich regulatory actions or litigation, including metary penalties or damages, could
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have a material adverse effect on our financiablidam, results of operation, and reputation. Frtimre to time, we are subject to audits,
inquiries, investigations, claims of non-compliaraeel lawsuits by federal and state governmentai@gs, regulatory agencies, attorneys
general, and other governmental or regulatory Isdiry of whom may allege violations of legal regoients. For example, in June 2012, we
entered into an Assurance of Voluntary Compliargre@ment following a civil investigation into cartaf our marketing practices related to
our education client vertical that was conductedhgyattorneys general of a number of stateselféisults of any future investigations, audits,
inquiries, claims or litigation are unfavorableus, we may be required to pay monetary fines oalties or have restrictions placed on our
business, which could materially adversely affegtltusiness, financial condition, results of operst, and cash flows.

Federal and state regulations governing clientsanr education vertical have negatively affected,camay continue to negatively affect,
our clients’ businesses, marketing practices, anatigets, any or all of which could reduce our cliehievel of business with us and
thereby have a material adverse effect on our firéad results.

To date, we have generated a large portion of@tgrue from our education client vertical, and lyealt of that revenue was generated
from post-secondary educational institutions. Restendary educational institutions are subjecktersive federal and state regulations,
including the Higher Education Act, Department duEation regulations and individual state higharoadion regulations. The regulations
govern many aspects of these clients’ operationfyding marketing and recruiting activities, adlas the school’s eligibility to participate in
Title IV federal student financial aid programs,igthis the principal source of funding for manyoafr education clients. There have been
significant changes to these regulations in themepast, and a high level of regulatory activitg dieightened legislative scrutiny are expecte
to continue in the post-secondary education sector.

For example, in January 2014, the Department ot&ilon initiated an investigation of a publiclydead for-profit education client with
respect to its enrollment activities and job plaeatmamong other things, and in July 2014, the Bepnt of Education signed an agreement
with the client requiring it to wind down or seificampuses. In addition, in October 2014, the Bepnt of Education announced final
regulations on gainful employment which went infi@et on July 1, 2015. The regulation requires eamollege programs to prepare students
for gainful employment in a recognized occupatidricl requires the programs’ graduates’ annual fgmments to be less than a defined
percentage of earnings. Programs that do not paggst could lose access to federal financialvaliich typically constitutes an important
source of funding for these programs. As a resulth programs may be modified, curtailed, or elatéd. Similar regulatory and enforcement
activities have affected and are expected to coatto affect our clients’ businesses and markginagtices, which may result in a decrease in
these clients’ spending with us, and fluctuationthie volume and mix of our business with thesentsi. Changes in, or new interpretations of,
applicable laws, regulations, standards or poliajgdicable to these clients could have a matadakrse effect on their accreditation,
authorization to operate in various states, oriptad funds under Title IV programs, any of whiéh turn, may harm our ability to generate
revenue from these clients and our financial result

We depend on third-party publishers for a significiportion of our visitors. Any decline in the suppof media available through these
websites or increase in the price of this media lwboause our revenue to decline or our cost to reagsitors to increase.

A significant portion of our revenue is attributaltd visitor traffic originating from third-partyublishers. In many instances, third-party
publishers can change the media inventory they rag#able to us at any time and, therefore, impactresults of operations. In addition,
third-party publishers may place significant redtons on our offerings. These restrictions mayhfib advertisements from specific clients or
specific industries, or restrict the use of ceramative content or formats. If a third-party psbér decides not to make media inventory
available to us, or decides to demand a highemeyshare or places significant restrictions orugeeof such inventory, we may not be able t
find media inventory from other websites that $gataur
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requirements in a timely and casffective manner. In addition, the number of corimgebnline marketing service providers and advertisha
acquire inventory from websites continues to insee&onsolidation of Internet advertising netwahs third-party publishers could
eventually lead to a concentration of desirableimiory on websites or networks owned by a smalllvemof individuals or entities, which
could limit the supply or impact the pricing of emtory available to us. In the past, we have egpegd declines in our financial services clien
vertical primarily due to volume declines causeddsses of available media from third-party puldishacquired by competitors, changes in
search engine algorithms which reduced or elimohatffic from some third-party publishers and e&sed competition for quality media. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to acquigdieninventory that meets our clients’ performame&e, and quality requirements, in which
case our revenue could decline or our operatints @mild increase.

We depend upon Internet search providers to diradignificant portion of the visitors to our and auhird-party publishers’ websites.
Changes in search engine algorithms have in the {aarmed, and may in the future, harm the websitgéacements in both paid and
organic search result listings, which may cause thember of visitors to our and our third-party puishers’ websites and as a result,
cause our revenue to decline.

Our success depends on our ability to attract enligitors to our and our third-party publisherghsgites and convert them into prospect
for our clients in a cost-effective manner. We depen Internet search providers to direct a sutisfashare of visitors to our websites. Searct
providers offer two types of search results: orgamd paid listings. Organic listings are displapeded solely on formulas designed by the
search companies. Paid listings are displayed basedcombination of the advertiser’s bid pricegarticular keywords and the search
engines’ assessment of the website’s relevancejaality.

Our ability to maintain or grow the number of vigi to our websites from search providers is ntitayn within our control. Search
providers frequently revise their algorithms andrades in their algorithms have in the past caumedicould in the future, cause our websites
to receive less favorable placements. We have epexd fluctuations in organic rankings for a numiifeour websites and some of our paid
listing campaigns have also been harmed by seagihealgorithmic changes. Search providers coatdrdhine that our or our third-party
publishers’ websites’ content is either not releéwaris of poor quality.

In addition, we may fail to optimally manage ouidlistings, or our proprietary bid management tebgies may fail. To attract and
retain visitors, we use search engine optimizafi&fEO") which involves developing content to optiairanking in search engine results. Our
ability to successfully manage SEO efforts acrassosvned and operated websites and our and oukplairty publishers’ websites depends on
our timely and effective modification of SEO praeis implemented in response to periodic changssarch engine algorithms and
methodologies and changes in search query treiwis. flail to successfully manage our SEO strategy,websites may receive less favorable
placement in organic or paid listings, which wordduce the number of visitors to our sites, deereasiversion rates and repeat business an
have a detrimental effect on our ability to generatvenue. If visits to our websites decrease, &g meed to use more costly sources to replac
lost visitors, and such increased expense couldradly affect our business and profitability. E¥fene succeed in driving traffic to our owned
and operated websites and to our cliemsbsites, we may not be able to effectively mometiiis traffic or otherwise retain users. Our fiagltc
do so could result in lower advertising revenuenfrmur owned and operated websites as well as garty publishers’ websites, which would
have an adverse effect on our business, finaneiaition, and results of operations.

Our results of operations have fluctuated in thegiaand may do so in the future, which makes ourukts of operations difficult to predic
and could cause our results of operations to fatist of analysts’ and investors’ expectations.

Historically, quarterly and annual results of opieras have fluctuated due to changes in our busjrms industry, and the general
economic climate. We expect our future resultsparations to vary significantly from
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quarter to quarter due to a variety of factors, ynafnwhich are beyond our control. Our fluctuatiegults of operations could cause our
performance and outlook to be below the expectatadrsecurities analysts and investors, causingtiite of our common stock to decline. (
business is changing and evolving, and, as a resulhistorical results of operations may not beful to you in predicting our future results
operations. Factors that may increase the volatfitour results of operations include, but arelmited to, the following:

e changes in client volum

* loss of or reduced demand by existing clie

» the availability and price of quality med

» consolidation of media source

» changes in search engine algorithms that affecandrour publishe’ websites; an
» regulatory and legislative chang

As a result of changes in our business model, imsed investments, increased expenditures for cartaisinesses, products, services, .
technologies, we anticipate fluctuations in our Adjted EBITDA margin.

We have invested and expect to continue to inveseiv businesses, products, markets, serviceseahddlogies, including more
expensive forms of media. For example, we expesdguficant resources in developing new products tachnologies and made strategic
outlays in, among other things, partnerships, winicthe short term will have the effect of reducog Adjusted EBITDA margin. If we are
unsuccessful in our monetization efforts with respe new products and investments, we may faéintgage and retain users and clients. We
may have insufficient revenue to fully offset lidiés and expenses in connection with these imuests and may experience inadequate,
unpredictable return of capital on our investmeAtsa result of these investments, we expect fatains in our Adjusted EBITDA margin.

If we fail to compete effectively against other am marketing and media companies and other comymesi, we could lose clients and our
revenue may decline.

The market for online marketing is intensely contpat, and we expect this competition to continaéncrease in the future both from
existing competitors and, given the relatively lbarriers to entry into the market, from new conmpesi. We compete both for clients and for
limited high-quality media. We compete for clieonts the basis of a number of factors, includingmetin investment of client’s marketing
spending, price, and client service.

We compete with Internet and traditional media canigs for a share of clients’ overall marketing dets, including:

» online marketing or media services providers sucBankRate in the financial services client vettizad Education Dynamics in
the education client vertice

» offline and online advertising agenci
* major Internet portals and search engine compavitesadvertising networks

» other online marketing service providers, includamiine affiliate advertising networks and indusspecific portals or lead
generation companie

» third-party publishers with their own sales forces tledittheir online marketing services directly toeclts;
* in-house marketing groups and activities at curremodential clients
» offline direct marketing agencie
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* mobile and social media; ai
» television, radio, and print companis

Competition for web traffic among websites and sleangines, as well as competition with traditiama&dia companies, has resulted anc
may continue to result in significant increasemidia pricing, declining margins, reductions inenrewre, and loss of market share. In additic
we expand the scope of our services, we may comyi#tiea greater number of websites, clients, aaditional media companies across an
increasing range of different services, includingértical markets where competitors may have atdegs in expertise, brand recognition, anc
other areas. Internet search companies with brecafnition, such as Google, Yahoo! and Microsdatehsignificant numbers of direct sales
personnel and substantial proprietary advertigiwgmtory and web traffic that provide a significanmpetitive advantage and have a
significant impact on pricing for Internet adveirig and web traffic. Some of these companies mégr of develop more vertically targeted
products that match users with products and sedod, thus, compete with us more directly. Formgla, Google’s search engine provides
comparison shopping for insurance and other firnqeibducts, which could in the future compete atlyewith our comparison platforms,
divert our users and ultimately our clients, arglihein a significant loss of revenue for our fical services vertical. The trend toward
consolidation in online marketing may also affegtipg and availability of media inventory and wiehffic. Many of our current and potential
competitors also enjoy other competitive advantayes us, such as longer operating histories, grdmand recognition, larger client bases,
greater access to advertising inventory on higfiitrevebsites, and significantly greater financigchnical, and marketing resources. As a
result, we may not be able to compete successfdtiynpetition from other marketing service providerdine and offline offerings has
affected and may continue to affect both volume ek, and, thus, revenue, profit margins, andiatuility. If we fail to deliver results that
are superior to those that other online marketergise providers deliver to clients, we could lafients and market share, and our revenue
decline.

We are exposed to online security risks and segubiteaches particularly given that we gather, trang and store personally identifiable
information. Unauthorized access to or accidentasdosure of confidential or proprietary data mayuase us to incur significant
expenses and may negatively affect our reputatior dusiness.

We gather, transmit, and store information aboutusers and marketing and media partners, inclupémgonally identifiable
information. This information may include sociatadty numbers, credit scores, credit card infoiorgtand financial and health information,
some of which is held or managed by our third-paemdors. As a result, we are subject to certaimraotual terms, including third-party
security reviews, as well as federal, state aneidorlaws and regulations designed to protect paitBoidentifiable information. Despite our
implementation of security measures and contralsjrdormation technology and infrastructure arscaptible to electronic or physical
computer break-ins, cyber attacks, malware, virusasd, employee error, and other disruptions sewlirity breaches that could result in third
parties gaining unauthorized access to our systemiglata. In addition, the increased use of malgiléces increases the risk of unintentional
disclosure of data including personally identifeabiformation. We may be unable to anticipate ailvulnerabilities and implement adequate
preventative measures and, in some cases, we n@g radble to immediately detect a security incidenthe past, we have experienced
security incidents involving access to our databaséhough to our knowledge no sensitive finanoiapersonal information has been
compromised, any future security incidents cousdliliein the compromise of such data and subjetd liability or result in cancellation of
client contracts. Any security incident may alssulein a misappropriation of our proprietary infation or that of our users, clients, and third
party publishers, which could result in legal aimdficial liability, as well as harm to our repudti

Privacy concerns relating to our data collectioactices and any perceived or actual unauthorizedatiure of personally identifiable
information, whether through breach of our netwioykan unauthorized party, employee theft, misusermr could harm our reputation,
impair our ability to attract website visitors atodattract and retain our clients, result in a loksonfidence in the security of our products and
services, or
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subject us to claims or litigation arising from dages suffered by consumers, and thereby harm aiméss and results of operations. In
addition, we could incur significant costs for winigur insurance policies may not adequately coseand expend significant resources in
protecting against security breaches and complyitiy the multitude of state, federal and foreigwdaregarding data privacy and data breach
notification obligations.

More people are using mobile devices to accesdikernet. If we fail to develop our websites to kepace with this shift in user devices,
we may not remain competitive and could lose clgnot advertising inventory.

The number of people who access the Internet tirougpile devices such as smart phones and taldstsbreased dramatically in the
past few years, and we expect the trend to conti@ue online marketing services and content weigirally designed for desktop or laptop
computers. The shift from desktop or laptop comsute mobile devices could potentially deteriottiie user experience for visitors to our
websites and may make it more difficult for visgdo respond to our offerings. It also requiresoudevelop new offerings specifically desig
for mobile devices, such as social media advedisipportunities. Additionally, the monetizationair online marketing services and content
on these mobile devices might not be as lucrativei$ compared to those on desktop and laptop cargouf we fail to develop our websites
cost effectively and improve the monetization cajtas of our mobile marketing services, we may r@main competitive, which may
negatively affect our business and results of djmars.

A reduction in online marketing spend by our clies)ta loss of clients or lower advertising yields yreeriously harm our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. laddition, a substantial portion of our revenue iggerated from a limited number of
clients and, if we lose a major client, our revenuall decrease and our business and prospects mapérmed.

We rely on clients’ marketing spend on our owned a@perated websites and on our network of thirdygamblisher websites. We have
historically derived, and we expect to continuel¢oive, the majority of our revenue through thevéey of qualified leads, inquiries, clicks,
calls, applications, and customers. One comporfemfiroplatform that we use to generate client iegeis our system of monetization tools,
which is designed to match content with client offgs in a manner that optimizes revenue yield emdluser experience. Clients will stop
spending marketing funds on our owned and operagdxbites or our third-party publisher websitesidit investments do not generate leads
and ultimately users or if we do not deliver adigernents in an appropriate and effective manneg.faiure of our yield-optimized
monetization technology to effectively match adisernents or client offerings with our content imanner that results in increased revenu
our clients would have an adverse impact on odityhbd maintain or increase our revenue from dierarketing spend.

Even if our content is effectively matched with adisements or client offerings, our current clgemtay not fulfill their obligations under
their existing contracts with us and they may rmitiue to place marketing spend or advertisemamisur websites beyond the terms of their
existing contracts. If any of our clients decided to continue marketing spend or advertising onawwned and operated websites or on our
third-party publisher websites, we could experieacapid decline in our revenue over a relativélgrsperiod of time. Any factors that limit
the amount our clients are willing to and do spendnarketing or advertising with us, or to purchi@sels from us, could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

Furthermore, a substantial portion of our revesugeinerated from a limited number of clients. Noheur clients account for 10% or
more of our net revenue. However, we have a feantdithat account for a large portion of our neeneie. Our clients can generally terminate
their contracts with us at any time and they dohraate minimum purchase requirements. Clients msy falil to renew their contracts or redi
their level of business with us, leading to lowevenue.

In addition, reductions in business by one or nsigeificant clients may trigger price reductions éar other clients whose prices for
certain products are determined in whole or in pgrtlient bidding or

18



Table of Contents

competition. Any such price reduction could reguliower revenue. We expect that a limited numbedlients will continue to account for a
significant percentage of our revenue, and theddssy one of these clients, or material reductiotheir marketing spending with us, could
decrease our revenue and harm our business.

We rely on our management team and other key emeésy and the loss of one or more key employeesdclatm our business.

Our success and future growth depend upon there@diservices of our management team, includingg@swalenti, Chief Executive
Officer, and other key employees in all areas afaganization. From time to time, there may bengfes in our key employees resulting from
the hiring or departure of executives and employebgch could disrupt our business. We have expegdd declines in our business and a
depressed stock price, making our equity and casintive compensation programs less attractivetent and potential key employees. If we
lose the services of key employees or if we ardlen® attract and retain additional qualified eoygles, our business and growth could suffer

Third-party publishers or vendors may engage in wihorized or unlawful acts that could subject us stgnificant liability or cause us to
lose clients.

We generate a significant portion of our web vistisom online media that we purchase from thirdyppublishers. We also rely on
third-party call centers and email marketers. Sofrteese third-parties are authorized to use dantd’ brands, subject to contractual
restrictions. Any activity by third-party publistseor vendors that clients view as potentially daimgdp their brands, whether or not permitted
by our contracts with our clients, could harm alationship with the client and cause the cliertetoninate its relationship with us, resulting
a loss of revenue. In addition, we may also faaieility for any failure of our third-party publisteor vendors to comply with regulatory
requirements, as further described in the riskofalseginning, ‘Negative changes in the market conditions or tlyileory environment have
had in the past, and may in the future have, a risdtend adverse impact on our revenue, businesd,growth.”

The law is unsettled on the extent of liabilityttha advertiser in our position has for the agtsitof third-party publishers or vendors.
Department of Education regulations impose liapiih our education clients for misrepresentatioaslenby their marketing service providers.
In addition, certain of our contracts impose lighibn us, including indemnification obligationsyrfthe acts of our third-party publishers or
vendors. We could be subject to costly litigatiowl aif we are unsuccessful in defending ourselwescould incur damages for the
unauthorized or unlawful acts of third-party pubéss or vendors.

If we fail to continually enhance and adapt our pdaoicts and services to keep pace with rapidly chaggiechnologies and industry
standards, we may not remain competitive and cdoksk clients or advertising inventory.

The online media and marketing industry is charasd by rapidly changing standards, changing telduies, frequent new product and
service introductions, and changing user and ciemiands. The introduction of new technologiessardices embodying new technologies
and the emergence of new industry standards amtiges could render our existing technologies amdises obsolete and unmarketable or
require unanticipated investments in technology.dsainually make enhancements and other modifinatto our proprietary technologies,
and these changes may contain design or perforntieets that are not readily apparent. If our gespry technologies fail to achieve their
intended purpose or are less effective than tecigied used by our competitors, our business coailtaibmed.

Our future success will depend in part on our gbith successfully adapt to these rapidly changinigne media formats and other
technologies. If we fail to adapt successfully,aeild lose clients or advertising inventory.
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We rely on certain advertising agencies for the phase of various advertising and marketing serviegsbehalf of their clients. Such
agencies may have or develop high-risk credit piedi which may result in credit risk to us.

A portion of our client business is sourced throagdhertising agencies and, in many cases, we ainith these agencies and not
directly with the underlying client. Contractingttvithese agencies subjects us to greater creklittias where we contract with clients directly.
In many cases, agencies are not required to paplass and until they are paid by the underlyingnt! In addition, many agencies are thinly
capitalized and have or may develop high-risk ¢netifiles. This credit risk may vary dependingtha nature of an agensyaggregated clie
base. If an agency became insolvent, or if an uyidgrclient did not pay the agency, we may be negilito write off account receivables as
bad debt. Any such write-offs could have a mathriagative effect on our results of operationstfa periods in which the write-offs occur.

Damage to our reputation could harm our businessdncial condition and results of operations.

Our business is dependent on attracting a largébauof visitors to our and our third-party publistiavebsites and providing leads,
inquiries, clicks, calls, applications, and custosrte our clients, which depends in part on ouutafon within the industry and with our
clients. Certain other companies within our indységularly engage in activities that others magwas unlawful or inappropriate. These
activities by third-parties, such as spyware oregéige promotions, may be seen as characterispaxticipants in our industry and may
therefore harm the reputation of all participantsur industry, including us.

Our ability to attract potential users and, therathignts, also depends in part on users receisamgpetitive levels of customer service,
responsiveness and prices from our clients. Ifotients do not provide competitive levels of seevio users, our reputation and therefore our
ability to attract additional clients and userslddee harmed.

In addition, from time to time, we may be subjecirtvestigations, inquiries or litigation by var®tegulators, which may harm our
reputation regardless of the outcome of any sutibrad-or example, in 2012 we responded to a aiviéstigation conducted by the attorneys
general of a number of states into certain of oarketing and business practices resulting in usrimf into an Assurance of Voluntary
Compliance agreement. Negative perceptions of osinkess may result in additional regulation, erdarent actions by the government and
increased litigation, any of which may affect ousimess and result in lower revenue.

We also believe that building brand awareness jntant to achieving increased demand for certbauo products and services.
Accordingly, we have dedicated, and expect to ometito dedicate, significant operating capital segburces to building brand awareness,
which may not be successful. Our failure to buildridl awareness may adversely affect our abilipttact and retain clients in a cost-effective
manner and as a result, our business, financialiton and results of operations.

Any damage to our reputation, including from puityiérom legal proceedings against us or compattiaswork within our industry,
governmental proceedings, consumer class actigatiion, or the disclosure of information secubitgaches or private information misuse,
could adversely affect our business, financial o and results of operations.

If we do not effectively manage any future growth ibwe are not able to scale our products quicldpough to meet our clients’ needs,
our operating performance will suffer and we maysie clients.

We have historically experienced growth in our apiens and operating locations. This growth hasgaaand any future growth will
continue to place, significant demands on our mamet and our operational and financial infrastrreetGrowth, if any, may make it more
difficult for us to accomplish the following:

» successfully scaling our technology to accommoddégger business and integrate acquisiti
e maintaining our standing with key vendors, inclydinternet search companies and t-party publishers
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* maintaining our client service standards;

» developing and improving our operational, finaneiatl management controls and maintaining adeqepteting systems and
procedures

Our future success depends in part on the effigierformance of our software and technology infedtire. As the numbers of websites
and Internet users increase, our technology infresstre may not be able to meet the increased deéntlrexpected constraints on our
technology infrastructure could lead to slower vitehiesponse times or system failures and advesedtdgt the availability of websites and the
level of user responses received, which could tésihe loss of clients or revenue or harm to lusiness and results of operations.

In addition, our personnel, systems, procedures cantrols may be inadequate to support our fubperations. The improvements
required to manage growth may require us to makefgiant expenditures, expand, train and manageoyloyee base, and reallocate
valuable management resources. We may spend stitlstanounts to purchase or lease data centers@uigment, upgrade our technology
and network infrastructure to handle increaseditrah our owned and operated websites and rolheut products and services. This
expansion could be expensive and complex and gesldt in inefficiencies or operational failurebwle do not implement this expansion
successfully, or if we experience inefficiencies @perational failures during its implementatidrg fuality of our products and services and
our users’ experience could decline. This could ag@nour reputation and cause us to lose currenpatieditial users and clients. The costs
associated with these adjustments to our archiecitould harm our operating results. Accordindiyyé fail to effectively manage growth, our
operating performance will suffer, and we may lolsents, key vendors and key personnel.

Interruption or failure of our information technolayy and communications systems could impair our &pito effectively deliver our
services, which could cause us to lose clients &adn our results of operations.

Our delivery of marketing and media services depamdthe continuing operation of our technologyasfructure and systems. Any
damage to or failure of our systems could resuithi@rruptions in our ability to deliver offeringgiickly and accurately or process visitors’
responses emanating from our various web preseimtesuptions in our service could reduce our rexeand profits, and our reputation coulc
be damaged if users or clients perceive our systerns unreliable. Our systems and operations @reerable to damage or interruption from
earthquakes, terrorist attacks, floods, fires, pdags, break-ins, hardware or software failuredommunications failures, cyber attacks,
computer viruses or other attempts to harm ouesystand similar events. If we or third-party dzgaters that we utilize were to experience a
major power outage, we would have to rely on baekienerators. These back-up generators may naategeoperly through a major power
outage and their fuel supply could also be inadegdaring a major power outage or disruptive evEatthermore, we do not currently have
backup generators at our Foster City, Californiadggiarters. Information systems such as ours malsbepted by even brief power outages,
or by the fluctuations in power resulting from sshiés to and from back-up generators. This could gse to obligations to certain of our
clients which could have an adverse effect on esuwlts of operations for the period of time in whamny disruption of utility services to us
occurs.

Our primary data center is at a third-party co-tasacenter in San Francisco, California. All oétbritical components of the system are
redundant and we have a backup data center in kgad/ Nevada. We have implemented these backwgnsysind redundancies to minimize
the risk associated with earthquakes, fire, powass,ltelecommunications failure, and other eveeysibd our control; however, these backup
systems may fail or may not be adequate to prdesaés.

Any unscheduled interruption in our service wowddult in an immediate loss of revenue. If we exgeré frequent or persistent system
failures, the attractiveness of our technologies services to clients and third-party
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publishers could be permanently harmed. The stepisave taken to increase the reliability and reduny of our systems are expensive,
reduce our operating margin and may not be suaddssfeducing the frequency or duration of unsahed interruptions.

Acquisitions and investments could complicate op@ras, or could result in dilution and other harmfuconsequences that may adversely
impact our business and results of operations.

Acquisitions have historically been an importamneént of our overall corporate strategy and usmpital. Any possible future
acquisitions or investments could be material tofmancial condition and results of operations. kivay evaluate and enter into discussions
regarding a wide array of potential strategic teantions. The process of integrating an acquiredpamy, business or technology has created,
and will continue to create, unforeseen operatiffecdlties and expenditures. Our failure to addrésese risks or other problems encountered
in connection with our past or future acquisitiamsl investments could cause us to fail to realieeanticipated benefits of such acquisitions o
investments, incur unanticipated liabilities andnhaur business generally.

Future acquisitions could also result in dilutigeuiances of our equity securities, the incurreckelot, contingent liabilities, amortizati
expenses, impairment of goodwill or restructurihgrges, any of which could harm our financial ctindior results. Also, the anticipated
benefit of many of our acquisitions may not malexéa

We rely on call centers, Internet and data centeopiders, and other third-parties for key aspecfstioe process of providing services to
our clients, and any failure or interruption in theservices and products provided by these third-farcould harm our business.

We rely on internal and third-party call centersvadl as thirdparty vendors, data centers and Internet providésgyithstanding disastt
recovery and business continuity plans and premasiinstituted to protect our clients and us frarargs that could interrupt delivery of
services, there is no guarantee that such intéongptvould not result in a prolonged interruptiarour ability to provide services to our clients.
Any temporary or permanent interruption in the s&rs provided by our call centers or third-partgviders could significantly harm our
business.

In addition, any financial or other difficulties othird-party providers face may have negativeafen our business, the nature and
extent of which we cannot predict. We exercisélitbntrol over our thirgearty vendors, which increases our vulnerabilitpitoblems with th
services they provide. We license technology atatad databases from third-parties to facilitatalgsis and storage of data and delivery of
offerings. We have experienced interruptions ardydein service and availability for data centéandwidth and other technologies in the |
Any errors, failures, interruptions or delays exg@eced in connection with these thipasty technologies and services could adversegcatiui
business and could expose us to liabilities taltparties.

We may need additional capital in the future to ni@air financial obligations and to pursue our buséss objectives. Additional capital
may not be available or may not be available ondeable terms and our business and financial conditi could therefore be adversely
affected.

While we anticipate that our existing cash and @aghivalents, together with availability under oewolving loan facility and cash from
operations, will be sufficient to fund our operasdor at least the next 12 months, we may needise additional capital, including debt
capital, to fund operations in the future or taafice acquisitions. If we seek to raise additioagital in order to meet various objectives,
including developing future technologies and sersjéncreasing working capital, acquiring businesaad responding to competitive
pressures, capital may not be available on favert#sms or may not be available at all. In addjtmur revolving loan facility limits the
incurrence of additional indebtedness and is sedoyesubstantially all of
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our assets, leaving us with limited collateralddditional financing. Lack of sufficient capitaliirces could significantly limit our ability to

take advantage of business and strategic oppddsininy additional capital raised through the sdlequity or debt securities with an equity
component would dilute our stock ownership. If agegq additional funds are not available, we mayebeired to delay, reduce the scope o

eliminate material parts of our business stratewyuding potential additional acquisitions or de@mnent of new technologies.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operations miyyctuate significantly from quarter to quarter deito fluctuations in advertising
spending, including seasonal and cyclical effects.

In addition to other factors that cause our resaflisperations to fluctuate, results are also suthifesignificant seasonal fluctuation. In
particular, our quarters ending December 31 (ocorsé fiscal quarter) are typically characterizedsbgsonal weakness. During that quarter,
there is generally lower availability of lead supffom some forms of media during the holiday perim a cost effective basis and some of oL
clients have lower budgets. In our quarters eniagch 31 (our third fiscal quarter), this trend gaally reverses with better lead availability
and often new budgets at the beginning of the farasur clients with fiscal years ending Decembgr 3

Furthermore, advertising spend on the Internetilairto traditional media, tends to be cyclical atiscretionary as a result of factors
beyond our control, including budgetary constraaitd buying patterns of clients, as well as ecooaronditions affecting the Internet and
media industry. Poor macroeconomic conditions cdelcrease our clients’ advertising spending ancbyehave a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and operatirsyhts.

If the market for online marketing services fail® tcontinue to develop, our success may be limigat] our revenue may decrease.

The online marketing services market is relativedyv and rapidly evolving, and it uses different smaments from traditional media to
gauge its effectiveness. Some of our current cemial clients have little or no experience using Internet for advertising and marketing
purposes and have allocated only limited portidth@ir advertising and marketing budgets to thermet. The adoption of online marketing,
particularly by those companies that have histdlyicalied upon traditional media for advertisimgquires the acceptance of a new way of
conducting business, exchanging information anduetiag new advertising and marketing technologied services.

In particular, we are dependent on our clients’pdiddm of new metrics to measure the success ofiemliarketing campaigns. Certain of
our metrics are subject to inherent challengeseasurement, and real or perceived inaccuraciascimmetrics may harm our reputation and
negatively affect our business. We present keyinsesuch as cost-per-click, cost-per-lead and pesiacquisition, some of which are
calculated using internal data. We periodicallyieavand refine some of our methodologies for maiitp gathering, and calculating these
metrics. While our metrics are based on what webelto be reasonable measurements and methodsltiggee are inherent challenges in
deriving our metrics. In addition, our user metmeay differ from estimates published by third-pestor from similar metrics of our
competitors due to differences in methodologyliffris or publishers do not perceive our metriced@ccurate, or if we discover material
inaccuracies in our metrics, it could negativelfgeff our business model and current or potentiahtd’ willingness to adopt our metrics.

We may also experience resistance from traditiadakrtising agencies who may be advising our diéie cannot assure you that the
market for online marketing services will contirteegrow. If the market for online marketing senddails to continue to develop or develops
more slowly than we anticipate, the success oboginess may be limited, and our revenue may deerea
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If we do not adequately protect our intellectualqperty rights, our competitive position and busisesay suffer.

Our ability to compete effectively depends upon puaprietary systems and technology. We rely oemiatrade secret, trademark and
copyright law, confidentiality agreements, and tgchl measures to protect our proprietary rights. &dter into confidentiality agreements v
our employees, consultants, independent contra@dussors, client vendors, and publishers. Thgseeaments may not effectively prevent
unauthorized disclosure of confidential informatmrunauthorized parties from copying aspects ofsewvices or obtaining and using our
proprietary information. Further, these agreemerdg not provide an adequate remedy in the evembafithorized disclosures or uses, and w
cannot assure you that our rights under such agnetsmwill be enforceable. Effective patent, traéerst, copyright, and trademark protection
may not be available in all countries where we ently operate or in which we may operate in tharit Some of our systems and technola
are not covered by any copyright, patent or paapptication. We cannot guarantee that: (i) ourli@ttual property rights will provide
competitive advantages to us; (ii) our ability &sert our intellectual property rights against ptéd competitors or to settle current or future
disputes will be effective; (iii) our intellectupfoperty rights will be enforced in jurisdictiond@re competition may be intense or where legal
protection may be weak; (iv) any of the patentléraark, copyright, trade secret or other intellakcproperty rights that we presently emplo
our business will not lapse or be invalidated,wingented, challenged, or abandoned; (v) competitidrsot design around our protected
systems and technology; or (vi) that we will natddhe ability to assert our intellectual propeigits against others.

We have from time to time become aware of thirdipawho we believe may have infringed our intellet property rights. Such
infringement or infringement of which we are not gevare could reduce our competitive advantagesansge us to lose clients, third-party
publishers or could otherwise harm our busineskciRg unauthorized use of our proprietary righés de difficult and costly. Litigation, while
it may be necessary to enforce or protect ourlaatlal property rights, could result in substdrt@sts and diversion of resources and
management attention and could adversely affecbosiness, even if we are successful on the mariteddition, others may independently
discover trade secrets and proprietary informa@ma, in such cases we could not assert any tradetsghts against such parties.

Third-parties may sue us for intellectual properiyfringement, which, even if unsuccessful, couldqeire us to expend significant costs
to defend or settle.

We cannot be certain that our internally developedcquired systems and technologies do not adahatiinfringe the intellectual
property rights of others. In addition, we licemsatent, software and other intellectual propeigits from third-parties and may be subject to
claims of infringement if such parties do not passthe necessary intellectual property rights égptoducts they license to us.

In addition, we have in the past, and may in thiart) be subject to legal proceedings and claimsvite have infringed the patents or
other intellectual property rights of third-parti@hese claims sometimes involve patent holdingpanmes or other adverse patent owners whe
have no relevant product revenue and against whormwen intellectual property rights, if any, magthfore provide little or no deterrence.
example, in December 2012, Internet Patents Cotiparé!IPC”) filed a patent infringement lawsuit @gst us in the Northern District of
California alleging that some of our websites imfjé a patent held by IPC. IPC is a non-practicingyethat relies on asserting its patents as it
primary source of revenue. In addition, third-pesthave asserted and may in the future asseterttel property infringement claims against
our clients, and we have agreed in certain circantsts to indemnify and defend against such cladmg.intellectual property-related
infringement claims, whether or not meritorious aegardless of the outcome of the litigation, caalsult in costly litigation and could divert
management resources and attention. Should weube f@able for infringement, we may be requirectider into licensing agreements, if
available on acceptable terms or at all, pay sakistadamages, or limit or curtail our systems gthnologies. Moreover, we may need to
redesign some of our systems and technologiesdid fnture infringement liability. Any of the foreigng could prevent us from competing
effectively and increase our costs.
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Additionally, the laws relating to use of tradensda the Internet are unsettled, particularly ay #pply to search engine functionality.
For example, other Internet marketing and searafpamies have been sued for trademark infringenmahbther intellectual property-related
claims for displaying ads or search results in ®esp to user queries that include trademarked térhesoutcomes of these lawsuits have
differed from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. We mde subject to trademark infringement, unfair corntioet, misappropriation or other
intellectual property-related claims which coulddwestly to defend and result in substantial damagesgherwise limit or curtail our activities,
and therefore adversely affect our business ompeads.

Limitations on our ability to collect and use datierived from user activities, as well as new teclogies that block our ability to deliver
Internet-based advertising, could significantly dinish the value of our services and have an advee§iect on our ability to generate
revenue.

When a user visits our websites, we use techndpgieluding “cookies,” to collect information sueh the user’s IP address and the
user’s past responses to our offerings. We alse halationships with data partners that collect praide us with user data. We access and
analyze this information in order to determine efffectiveness of a marketing campaign and to detertmow to modify the campaign. The use
of cookies is the subject of litigation, regulatagrutiny and industry self-regulatory activities;luding the discussion of “do-not-track”
technologies and guidelines.

Additionally, users are able to block or deletekies from their browser. Periodically, certain oir @lients and publishers seek to
prohibit or limit our collection or use of data dexd from the use of cookies. Technologies, tostdtware and applications (including new and
enhanced web browsers) have been developed, alikedydo continue to be developed, that can bloclllow users to opt out of display,
search, and Internet-based advertising and corttelgte or block the cookies used to deliver subkedising, or shift the location in which
advertising appears on pages so that our advesrisisndo not show up in the most monetizable planesur pages or are obscured. As a re
the adoption of such technologies, tools, softwang, applications could reduce the number of dysptad search advertisements that we are
able to deliver and/or our ability to deliver Imet-based advertising and this, in turn, could cedour results of operations.

Interruptions, failures or defects in our dataedtlon systems, as well as privacy concerns andatgy changes or enforcement actions
affecting our or our data partners’ ability to eall user data, could also limit our ability to a1zl data from, and thereby optimize, our clients’
marketing campaigns. If our access to data isdichih the future, we may be unable to provide éffedechnologies and services to clients
we may lose clients and revenue.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective interdaontrols, our ability to produce accurate finargi statements on a timely basis or
effectively prevent fraud could be impaired, whigrould adversely affect our ability to operate oundiness.

In order to comply with the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002, our management is responsibteeftablishing and maintaining adequate inte
control over financial reporting to provide reasoleaassurance regarding the reliability of our ficial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with U.S. generally accepted accounting jpies. We may in the future discover ar
of our internal financial and accounting contratsl @rocedures that need improvement. Our intermatrol over financial reporting will not
prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A cohstystem, no matter how well designed and operataa provide only reasonable, not absolute.
assurance that the control system’s objectivesbgilinet. All control systems have inherent limiias, and, accordingly, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that resseants due to error or fraud will not occur orttldcontrol issues and instances of fraud
will be detected. If we are unable to maintain @rognd effective internal controls, we may not bke @& produce accurate financial statement
on a timely basis, which could adversely affect alitity to operate our business and could resutegulatory action.
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As a creator and a distributor of Internet contentie face potential liability and expenses for legddims based on the nature and conte
of the materials that we create or distribute. lfevare required to pay damages or expenses in cotineavith these legal claims, our
results of operations and business may be harmed.

We display original content and third-party contentour websites and in our marketing messages. r&sult, we face potential liability
based on a variety of theories, including defanmati®gligence, deceptive advertising (including &é&pent of Education regulations regarc
misrepresentation in education marketing), copyraghtrademark infringement. We are also exposetskothat content provided by third-
parties is inaccurate or misleading, and for mat@osted to our websites by users and other ffarties. These claims, whether brought in the
United States or abroad, could divert managemard &nd attention away from our business and rasslgnificant costs to investigate and
defend, regardless of the merit of these claimaduition, if we become subject to these typedaifits and are not successful in our defense,
we may be forced to pay substantial damages.

We face additional risks in conducting businessiimernational markets.

We have entered into certain international markatsmay enter into additional international markethe future, including through
acquisitions. We have limited experience in marigtselling and supporting our services outsidefUnited States, and we may not be
successful in introducing or marketing our servigbsad. For example, in fiscal year 2015, we aegua company specializing in online
marketing to financial services clients in Bra¥ilhile we already have a foothold in the Brazili@mlueation market, our expansion into the
financial services market in Brazil is new and ashs we cannot guarantee that we will achieve émeessuccess as we have with the Braziliar
education market.

There are risks and challenges inherent in contlgittiisiness in international markets, such as:

» adapting our technologies and services to foreligmts’ preferences and custon

» successfully navigating foreign laws and regulatjancluding marketing, privacy regulations, empt@nt and labor regulation

» changes in foreign political and economic condii

» tariffs and other trade barriers, fluctuationsumrency exchange rates and potentially adversedagequence:

» language barriers or cultural differenc

» reduced or limited protection for intellectual pesty rights in foreign jurisdiction:

« difficulties and costs in staffing, managing or maeing foreign operation

» education of potential clients who may not be faanilith online marketing

» challenges in collecting accounts receivables;

» successfully interpreting and complying with th&SUFForeign Corrupt Practices Act and similar woilttivanti-bribery laws,
particularly when operating in countries with vamyidegrees of governmental corrupti

If we are unable to successfully expand and markeservices abroad, our business and future grovathbe harmed, and we may incur
costs that may not lead to future revenue.

In the past, we have recognized impairments in tarying value of goodwill. Additional such charges the future could negatively
affect our financial condition and results of opet@ns.

We continue to have a substantial amount of god@dwnid purchased intangible assets on our consetidadlance sheet as a result of
historical acquisitions. The carrying value of gadtrepresents the fair value of an
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acquired business in excess of identifiable asseddiabilities as of the acquisition date. Theyiag value of intangible assets with identifia
useful lives represents the fair value of relatiops, content, domain names, acquired technolagpng others, as of the acquisition date, anc
are amortized based on their economic lives. Gobdwpected to contribute indefinitely to our cdkiws is not amortized, but must be
evaluated for impairment at least annually. If ¢herying value exceeds current fair value as deterdhbased on the discounted future cash
flows of the related business, the goodwill or mgfible asset is considered impaired and is redtaéalr value via a non-cash charge to
earnings. Events and conditions that could reautpairment include adverse changes in the regylanvironment, a reduced market
capitalization or other factors leading to reductio expected long-term growth or profitability.

Goodwill impairment analysis and measurement isoagss that requires significant judgment. Ourlsféce and any estimated control
premium are factors affecting the assessment daihealue of our underlying reporting units farrposes of performing any goodwiill
impairment assessment. For example, our public edadpitalization sustained a decline after DeceBhe2012 and June 30, 2014 to a value
below the net book carrying value of our equitiggering the need for a goodwill impairment anaysis a result of our goodwill impairment
analysis, we recorded a goodwill impairment changdose periods.

It is possible that another material change coulripin the future. We will continue to conduct iamment analyses of our goodwill on
an annual basis, unless indicators of possibleinmast arise that would cause a triggering evamd,\ae would be required to take additional
impairment charges in the future if any recovergbdssessments reflect estimated fair valuesateatess than our recorded values. Further
impairment charges with respect to our goodwilllddwave a material adverse effect on our finanmiadition and results of operations.

We could lose clients if we fail to detect clickrttugh or other fraud on advertisements in a manniat is acceptable to our clients.

We are exposed to the risk of fraudulent clickaaions on our websites or our third-party publisheebsites, which could lead our
clients to become dissatisfied with our campaignsl in turn, lead to loss of clients and relategneie. Click-through fraud occurs when an
individual clicks on an ad displayed on a websitean automated system is used to create suclsciiéth the intent of generating the revenue
share payment to the publisher rather than viewhegunderlying content. Action fraud occurs whetirenlead forms are completed with false
or fictitious information in an effort to increaagublisher’s compensable actions. From time te tiwe have experienced fraudulent clicks or
actions. We do not charge our clients for fraudutdicks or actions when they are detected, ant iazidulent activities could negatively
affect our profitability or harm our reputation.fthudulent clicks or actions are not detected attfeected clients may experience a reduced
return on their investment in our marketing progsamhich could lead the clients to become dissatiskith our campaigns, and in turn, lead
to loss of clients and related revenue. Additionalle have, from time to time, had to, and in thiife may have to, terminate relationships
with publishers who we believed to have engagddamd. Termination of such relationships entailess of revenue associated with the
legitimate actions or clicks generated by suchighbts.

As a public company, we are subject to complianagiatives that will require substantial time frorour management and result in
significantly increased costs that may adverselfeaf our operating results and financial condition.

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Sarbanes-Qxétyf 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform &whsumer Protection Act of
2010, and other rules implemented by the SEC an8DIQ, impose various requirements on public comgmrincluding requiring changes
corporate governance practices. These and propospdrate governance laws and regulations undesideration may further increase our
compliance costs. If compliance with these variegsl and regulatory requirements diverts our mansnt’'s attention from other business
concerns, it could have a material adverse effedw business, financial condition and
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results of operations. We also expect that thegss &nd regulations may make it more difficult anokenexpensive for us to obtain director anc
officer liability insurance, and we may be requitediccept reduced policy limits and coverage ouiirsubstantially higher costs to obtain the
same or similar coverage than used to be availéisla result, it may be more difficult for us tdratt and retain qualified individuals to serve
on our board of directors, on committees of ourbad directors, or as executive officers.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock
Our stock price has been volatile, and you may hetable to resell shares of our common stock atbove the price you paid.

The trading price of our common stock has beenti¥®lsince our initial public offering and may comte to be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to various factors, somghich are beyond our control. These factors idelthose discussed in this “Risk Factors”
section of this periodic report and others such as:

e our ability to grow our revenues and Adjusted EBA Bargin and to manage any such growth effectiv

e changes in earnings estimates or recommendatioasdwyities analyst:

e announcements about our revenue, earnings or fitlaeicial results that are not in line with analgspectations
« our ability to find, develop or retain high qualigrgeted media on a cost effective be

« relatively low trading volume in our stock, whicteates inherent volatility regardless of factofatesl to our business performance
or prospects

» the sale of, or indication of the intent to sellbstantial amounts of our common stock by our dimsg officers or substantial
shareholders

e announcements by us or our competitors of new @esysignificant contracts, commercial relationshgzquisitions or capital
commitments

e our commencement of, involvement in, or a percetheeat of litigation or regulatory enforcementiact and
e negative publicity about us, our industry, our migeor our clienf’ industries,

In recent years, the stock market in general, hadrarket for technology and Internet-based conggaini particular, has experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that haverofieen unrelated or disproportionate to the ojperaerformance of those companies.
Broad market and industry factors may seriouslgafthe market price of our common stock, regasdidour actual operating performance
addition, in the past, following periods of volailin the overall market and the market price giaaticular company’s securities, securities
class action litigation has often been institutgdiast these companies. Such litigation, if ingtagainst us, could result in substantial costs
and a diversion of our management’s attention asdurces.

If securities or industry analysts do not publislesearch or reports about our business, or if thegue an adverse opinion regarding our
stock, our stock price and trading volume could tire.

The trading market for our common stock is influethdy the research and reports that industry argexs analysts publish about us, |
business or the industries or businesses of cemtsli If any of the analysts issue an adverse apirggarding our stock or if our actual results
do not meet analyst estimates, our stock price avitkély decline. If one or more of these analystases coverage of our company or fails to
publish reports on us regularly, we could losebiigy in the financial markets, which in turn cautause our stock price or trading volume to
decline.
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Our directors and executive officers and their resgive affiliates have substantial influence oves and could delay or prevent a change
in corporate control.

As of June 30, 2015, our directors and executifieast, together with their affiliates, beneficiabwned approximately 24% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, these stidklns, acting together, have substantial influences the outcome of matters submitted to
our stockholders for approval, including the electof directors and any merger, consolidation & efall or substantially all of our assets. In
addition, these stockholders, acting together, Isay@ficant influence over the management andraffaf our company. Accordingly, this
concentration of ownership may have the effect of:

delaying, deferring or preventing a change in coafcontrol;
impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or othesiness combination involving us;
discouraging a potential acquirer from making al&roffer or otherwise attempting to obtain contus.

Provisions in our charter documents under Delawdsesv and in contractual obligations could discouragetakeover that stockholders
may consider favorable and may lead to entrenchmehtmanagement.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamadind bylaws contain provisions that could haeegtfiect of delaying or preventing
changes in control or changes in our managemehbuiithe consent of our board of directors. Thesgigions include:

a classified board of directors with threear staggered terms, which may delay the abifistackholders to change the member
of a majority of our board of director

no cumulative voting in the election of directasdich limits the ability of minority stockholders tlect director candidate

the exclusive right of our board of directors teatla director to fill a vacancy created by theamgion of the board of directors or
the resignation, death or removal of a directoriciiprevents stockholders from being able to fitancies on our board of
directors;

the ability of our board of directors to issue ssanf preferred stock and to determine the prickadiner terms of those shares,
including preferences and voting rights, withowatc&holder approval, which could be used to sigaifity dilute the ownership of a
hostile acquirer

a prohibition on stockholder action by written cent which forces stockholder action to be takesmaannual or special meeting of
our stockholders

the requirement that a special meeting of stocldrslchay be called only by the chairman of the bo&rirectors, the chief
executive officer or the board of directors, whinhy delay the ability of our stockholders to focomsideration of a proposal or to
take action, including the removal of directorsgl.

advance notice procedures that stockholders muasplyowith in order to nominate candidates to ouardloof directors or to propa
matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meetihigh may discourage or deter a potential acqdifoon conducting a
solicitation of proxies to elect the acqu’s own slate of directors or otherwise attemptingkitain control of us

We are also subject to certain anti-takeover piongsunder Delaware law. Under Delaware law, a@@fion may not, in general,
engage in a business combination with any holdé5é6 or more of its capital stock unless the holdes held the stock for three years or,
among other things, the board of directors hasemul the transaction.
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We do not currently intend to pay dividends on aaommon stock and, consequently, your ability to aale a return on your investment
will depend on appreciation in the price of our canon stock.

We have not declared or paid dividends on our comstock and we do not intend to do so in the reman.tWe currently intend to invest
our future earnings, if any, to fund our growth.ditibnally, the terms of our revolving loan fagjlitestrict our ability to pay dividends.
Therefore, you are not likely to receive any divids on your common stock in the near term.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located inaslked facility in Foster City, California, consigfiof approximately 63,998 square feet of
office space under a lease that expires in Octdd&8 with the option to extend the lease term ptlzar two years. This facility accommode
our principal engineering, sales, marketing, openat finance and administrative activities. Weodesase additional facilities to accommodate
sales, marketing, and operations throughout théedr$tates. Outside of the United States, we abssel facilities to accommodate engineering
sales, marketing, and operations in Brazil andadndi

We may add new facilities and expand our existaxglities as we add employees and expand our ngr&etl we believe that suitable
additional or substitute space will be availabl@i@esded to accommodate any such expansion of euatins.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In December 2012, Internet Patents CorporationG”)Riled a patent infringement lawsuit againstamsl several other named defendant:
in the United States District Court for the Norti@istrict of California, alleging that we had iimfged a patent held by IPC. In September
2013, the court dismissed a related case becafmeni that the patent is invalid, and on the sdate, the court issued IPC an Order to Show
Cause that the lawsuit against us should not bmeissgd. In October 2013, IPC filed a responsedatider and the court subsequently
dismissed the case against us. In October 201 3filEits appeal in the United States Court of Agls for the Federal Circuit. On June 23,
2015, the United States Court of Appeals for thedfal Circuit affirmed the decision of the distrocturt dismissing IPG' claim against us. IF
has determined that it will not appeal the Fed€iaduit court’s decision, and we therefore beligéivat the case has been fully resolved.

In addition, from time to time we are a party taigas legal matters incidental to the conduct aflmusiness. Certain of our outstanding
legal matters include claims for indeterminate antswf damages. We record a liability when we lvelithat it is probable that a loss has beel
incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimB#sg:d on our current knowledge, we do not belieakthere is a reasonable possibility
that the final outcome of the pending or threatdegdl proceedings to which we are a party, eith@ividually or in the aggregate, will have a
material adverse effect on our future financialiiss However, the outcome of such legal mattessiiect to significant uncertainties.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not Applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Sktwmlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ dbiBblect Market under the symbol “QNST” since initial public offering on
February 11, 2010. Prior to this time, there wapulolic market for our common stock. The followitadple shows the high and low sale prices
per share of our common stock as reported on th8Q Global Select Market for the periods indicated

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 201 High Low
First quarter ended September 30, 2013 $9.71 $8.4C
Second quarter ended December 31, - $9.62 $8.0C
Third quarter ended March 31, 20 $9.0¢ $6.0Z
Fourth quarter ended June 30, 2I $6.72 $5.1C

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 201 High Low
First quarter ended September 30, 2014 $6.0¢ $4.1(
Second quarter ended December 31, - $6.0¢ $3.7¢
Third quarter ended March 31, 20 $6.85 $5.01
Fourth quarter ended June 30, 2I $6.6€ $5.0¢€

On August 14, 2015, the closing price as reportethe NASDAQ Global Select Market of our commorcktwas $4.99 per share and
we had approximately 93 stockholders of recordusfammmon stock.

We have never declared or paid, and do not anteigeclaring or paying, any dividends on our comstoick. Any future determination
as to the declaration and payment of dividendsnyf, will be at the discretion of our board of digrs and will depend on then existing
conditions, including our financial condition, opéng results, contractual restrictions, capitguieements, business prospects and other fe
our board of directors may deem relevant. Our rguglloan facility also restricts our ability toydividends.

For equity compensation plan information refertear 12 in Part IIl of this Annual Report on FormHKO
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph shall not be deefseticiting material” or to be “filed” with the Smirities and Exchange Commission
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgkaict of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Adittarwise subject to the liabilities unc
that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incatpad by reference into any filing of QuinStreat;.lunder the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Exchange Act.

The following performance graph shows a comparfsmm June 30, 2010 through June 30, 2015 of curvelébtal return for our
common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index and th&sRBternet Composite Index. Such returns are basdustorical results and are not
intended to suggest future performance. Data ®NASDAQ Composite Index and the RDG Internet Cositpdndex assume reinvestmen
dividends.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"

Among QuinSireet, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index and the RDG Inernet Composite
Index
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100 invested on G300 in stock or indew, including resmvestment of dividends,
Fiscal yaar ending June 30.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
There were no unregistered sales of our equityrgasuduring the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.
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ltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read together with “Management’s Disaursand Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operatioresid with the consolidated financial statementsagmmpanying notes appearing elsewhere in thigtre
The selected consolidated financial data in thiti@e is not intended to replace our consolidatedricial statements and the accompanying
notes. The results of acquired businesses haveiheeded in our consolidated financial statemesiise their respective dates of acquisition.
Our historical results are not necessarily indi@bf our future results and any interim resultsraot necessarily indicative of the results for a
full fiscal year.

We derived the consolidated statements of operadatea for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015B4,2(hd 2013 and the consolidated
balance sheets data as of June 30, 2015 and 2itibfir audited consolidated financial statemenpeapng elsewhere in this report. The
consolidated statements of operations data fofigshal year ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 and timotidated balance sheets data as of
June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are derived from wdited consolidated financial statements, whichratencluded in this report.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands, except per share date
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Net revenue $282,14(  $282,54¢ $305,10: $370,46¢ $403,02:
Cost of revenu® 252,00: 241,90° 251,59: 283,46t 291,99:
Gross profit 30,13¢ 40,64: 53,51( 87,00: 111,03(
Operating expense®
Product developmel 17,94¢ 19,54¢ 19,04¢ 21,05!; 24,16:
Sales and marketir 14,54« 16,38¢ 14,70¢ 14,07 17,38:
General and administrati 16,82: 17,04¢ 16,22¢ 23,37t 20,39¢
Impairment of goodwil — 95,64 92,35( — —
Total operating expens 49,31¢ 148,62( 142,32¢ 58,50( 61,94
Operating (loss) incom (29,177 (107,979 (88,819 28,50: 49,08¢
Interest incom 72 11F 11F 134 16¢€
Interest expens (3,81¢) (3,82 (5,200 (4,462) (4,217)
Other income (expense), r 2,671 1,49 (69) (42 56
Interest and other expense, (2,07%) (2,217%) (5,159 (4,370 (3,98¢)
(Loss) income before income tax (20,257) (110,199 (93,979 24,13: 45,10:
Benefit from (provision for) taxe 244 (36,209 26,60: (11,13) (17,88
Net (loss) incom $(20,00¢) $(146,409) $(67,37) $ 13,000 $ 27,21«
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhid— Basic and
diluted $(20,00¢) $(146,409 $(67,37) $ 13,000 $ 27,21
Net (loss) income per share attributable to comstookholders@
Basic $ (04 $ (336 $ (15Hn $ 028 $ 0.5¢
Diluted $ (04 $ (336 $ (157 $ 028 $ 0.5t
Weighted average shares used in computing nej (lessme per share
attributable to common stockholde
Basic 44,45: 43,52¢ 42,81¢ 45,84¢ 46,22:
Diluted 44,45¢ 43,52¢ 42,81¢ 46,85¢ 49,13(
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@ Cost of revenue and operating expenses includé&-based compensation expense as follc

Cost of revenu $3,12( $2,767 $3,93( $4,29: $4,50¢
Product developmel 2,39t 2,42¢ 2,76 2,57( 2,70
Sales and marketir 2,144 2,937 3,264 3,09¢ 3,747
General and administrati 2,19¢ 2,29¢ 2,057 3,037 2,997

@ See Note 3, Net Loss per Share, to our consolidatadcial statements for an explanation of thehoétused to calculate basic and
diluted net (loss) income per share of common st

June 30,
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Cash and cash equivale $ 60,46¢ $ 84,17, $ 90,11° $ 68,53: $132,29(
Working capital 69,54¢ 110,41: 111,04 103,22. 162,36:
Total asset 205,15: 276,84 429,54 507,16( 524,92.
Total liabilities 69,56¢ 131,69: 150,65: 168,80: 169,53!
Total debt 15,04¢ 77,26 92,67, 107,59¢ 106,04¢
Total stockholder equity 135,58! 145,15: 278,89! 338,35 355,38¢

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 6,13: $ 18,37% $ 50,66 $ 46,37 $ 78,17:
Depreciation and amortizatic 18,861 26,09 32,32t 31,15( 27,27:
Capital expenditure 3,34¢ 5,45¢ 1,341 2,26¢ 5,36:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Other Financial Data:
Adjusted EBITDA®W $ 9,98¢ $ 24,18¢ $ 47,87 $ 72,64¢ $ 90,31:

@ We define adjusted EBITDA as net (loss) income kesgefit from (provision for) taxes, depreciatiopense, amortization expense,
stock-based compensation expense, interest andethense, net, impairment of goodwill and restrting. Please see the “adjusted
EBITDA” section within “Management’s Discussion aAdalysis of Financial Condition and Results of @i®ns” for more
information.

The following table presents a reconciliation ofusted EBITDA to net (loss) income calculated is@dance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), the most comparabdeAB measure, for each of the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Net (loss) incomi $(20,009)  $(146,409  $(67,37)  $13,00: $27,21¢
Interest and other expense, 1,07t 2,215 5,15¢ 4,37( 3,98¢
(Benefit from) provision for taxe (244) 36,20¢ (26,607) 11,13 17,881
Depreciation and amortizatic 18,861 26,09° 32,32t 31,15( 27,27
Stocl-based compensation expel 9,85¢ 10,42¢ 12,01¢ 12,99¢ 13,95(
Impairment of goodwil — 95,64 92,35(
Restructuring 43¢ — — — —
Adjusted EBITDA $ 9,98/ $ 24,18¢ $ 47,87 $72,64¢ $90,31:
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of ouarficial condition and results of operations in camgtion with the consolidated financ
statements and the notes thereto included elsevihéiné report. The following discussion contafosvard-looking statements that reflect our
plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual resultdadiffer materially from those discussed in tberard-looking statements. Factors that
could cause or contribute to these differenceaitelthose discussed below and elsewhere in thistrgparticularly in the sections titled
“Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemergadl “Risk Factors.”

Management Overview

QuinStreet is a leader in performance marketingnenWe have built a strong set of capabilitiesntigage Internet visitors in targeted
media and to connect our marketing clients witlirthetential customers online. We focus on sendlignts in large, information-intensive
industry verticals where relevant, targeted medi @fferings help visitors make informed choic@sd the products that match their needs,
thus become qualified customer prospects for aant.

We deliver cost-effective marketing results to clients most typically in the form of a qualifiegldd, inquiry, click, call, application, or
customer. Leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, and @ppibns can then convert into a customer or salelfents at a rate that results in an acceptab
marketing cost to them. We are typically paid bgrls when we deliver qualified leads, inquiridigks, calls, applications, or customers as
defined by our agreements with them. Referencésetalelivery of customers means a sale or complistbmer transaction (e.g., bound
insurance policies or customer appointments witints). Because we bear the costs of media, ogrgnmms must deliver value to our clients
and provide for a media yield, or generation ohaceptable margin on our media costs, that pro\adesund financial outcome for us. To
deliver leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applicaspand customers to our clients, generally we:

* own or access targeted media through businessgamaents (e.g., revenue sharing agreements) orriopasing media (e.g., clicks
from major search engine:

e run advertisements or other forms of marketing mgss and programs in that media to create viggpanses in the form most
typically of leads or inquiries (contact informatiand intent or requests), clicks (to further diadtion or matching steps, or to
online client applications or offerings), calls {tor owned and operated call centers or that othemts or their agents),
applications (e.g., for enrollment or a financiedguct), or customers (e.g., bound insurance )¢

* match these leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, apgiins, or customers to client offerings or bratidg we believe can meet visitor
interests or needs and client targets and requiresnanc

« optimize client matches and media yield such theehieve desired results for clients and a soimath¢ial outcome for u:

Our primary financial objective has been and remaneating revenue growth from sustainable soustdayget levels of profitability.
Our primary financial objective is not to maximigeofits, but rather to achieve target levels offipability while investing in various growth
initiatives, as we continue to believe we are mdlarly stages of a large, long-term market oppéytu

Our Direct Marketing Services (“DMS”) business aaoted for substantially all of our net revenueigtdl years 2015, 2014 and 2013.
Our DMS business derives its net revenue from éaesed through the delivery of qualified leadsyings, clicks, calls, applications, or
customers and, to a lesser extent, display adearésts, or impressions. Through a vertical foargieted media presence and our technolog)
platform, we are able to deliver targeted, meadanaiarketing results to our clients.

Our two largest client verticals within our DMS Iness are financial services and education. Oanfifal services client vertical
represented 42%, 39% and 40% of net revenue ial fygars 2015, 2014 and 2013. Our
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education client vertical represented 38%, 43%44% of net revenue in fiscal years 2015, 2014 @1820ther DMS client verticals,
consisting primarily of business-to-business tetbgy home services and medical, represented 28%, dnd 16% of net revenue in fiscal
years 2015, 2014 and 20:

We generated the majority of our revenue from saedients in the United States.

Trends Affecting our Business
Client Verticals

To date, our financial services and education thenticals have generated the majority of our nexee We expect that a majority of our
revenue in fiscal year 2016 will also be generditech clients in these client verticals.

Our financial services client vertical has beewretffd by a number of factors, including the limigeghilability of high quality media at
acceptable margins caused by changes in searafeegigiorithms, acquisition of media sources by catitgrs and increased competition for
quality media. These effects may continue to impactbusiness in the near future. To offset thigdnt, we have broadened our product set
with enhanced click, lead, call and policy produetiere we expect better monetization to providgtar access to high quality media source:

Our education client vertical has been significaaffected by regulations and enforcement actiaffecting for-profit educational
institutions over the past several years. For exanip January 2014, the Department of Educatidiated an investigation of a publicly traded
for-profit education client with respect to its eliment activities and job placement, among othéergs, and in July 2014, the Department of
Education signed an agreement with the client reguit to wind down or sell its campuses. In afdlit in October 2014, the Department of
Education announced final regulations on gainfuplxyyment which went into effect on July 1, 2015eTregulation requires career college
programs to prepare students for gainful employrireatrecognized occupation which requires the og’ graduates’ annual loan payments
to be less than a defined percentage of earnimggrdms that do not pass the test could lose atadsderal financial aid, which typically
constitutes an important source of funding for ¢heograms. As a result, such programs may be mddifurtailed, or eliminated. Similar
regulatory and enforcement activities have affeeted are expected to continue to affect our clidntsinesses and marketing practices, whicl
may result in a decrease in these clients’ spenditigus, and fluctuations in the volume and mioaf business with these clients. To offset
the impact these activities have had on the fofipeducational clients, we have broadened our pcodet from our traditional lead business
with the addition of better qualified and matchedds or inquiries, clicks and calls to our produpt; we believe these new enhanced product
better match for-profit education client needshia tegulatory environment. We have also broadenedarkets in education to include not-
for-profit schools and international markets in Brand India.

Development, Acquisition and Retention of Targetdedia

One of the primary challenges of our businessagiging or creating media that is high quality dacheted enough to attract prospects
for our clients at costs that work for our businesxiel. In order to grow our business, we musttide & develop or acquire and retain quality
targeted media on a cost-effective basis. Cond@idaf media sources, changes in search engimgitds and increased competition on
available media has, during some periods, limitediray continue to limit our ability to generatgenue.

Seasonality

Our results are subject to significant fluctuatama result of seasonality. In particular, our tgrarending December 31 (our second fi
guarter) are typically characterized by seasonakwess. In our second fiscal
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guarters, there is lower availability of lead sypjpbm some forms of media during the holiday périm a cost effective basis and some of ou
clients have lower budgets. In our quarters eniagch 31 (our third fiscal quarter), this trend gaally reverses with better lead availability
and often new budgets at the beginning of the farasur clients with fiscal years ending Decembgr 3

Regulations

Our revenue has fluctuated as a result of recawnlihpted or amended regulations and the increagectement of existing regulations.
Our business is affected directly because we opevabsites and conduct telemarketing and email etiagk and indirectly as clients adjust
their operations as a result of regulatory chamgesenforcement activity that affect their induestri

One example of a regulatory change that may affecbusiness is the Telephone Consumer Proteciibitide “TCPA”), which the
Federal Communications Commission amended to, arotirag things, impose heightened consent and dpteguirements that companies
conducting telemarketing must follow. Certain psdons of the regulations became effective in JOIY¥2 and additional regulations requiring
prior express written consent for certain typetetdmarketing calls became effective in October@ur efforts to comply with the TCPA t
not had a material impact on traffic conversiorsaOur clients may make business decisions bas#dted own experiences with the TCPA
regardless of our products, and the changes wesimgatted to comply with the regulations. Those datésmay negatively affect our revenue
or profitability.

Clients in our financial services vertical havergasingly been affected by laws and regulatiores r@sult of the adoption of new
regulations under The Dodd—-Frank Wall Street Refanth Consumer Protection Act and the increased@sftent of new and pre-existing
laws and regulations. In addition, our educatioentlvertical has been significantly affected bg #doption of regulations affecting for-profit
educational institutions over the past severalgjeand a higher level of governmental scrutinyxjgeeted to continue. The effect of these
regulations, or any future regulations, may corgitmresult in fluctuations in the volume and mioar business with these clients.

Basis of Presentation
General

We operate in one reportable segment: DMS. Theiretaaof our business is classified as “All Othe3te Note 13, Segment
Information, to our consolidated financial statemseor further discussion and financial informati@garding our reportable segment.

Net Revenue

Our DMS business generates revenue from fees etrrmgyh the delivery of qualified leads, inquiriekcks, calls, applications,
customers and, to a lesser extent, display adeeréats, or impressions. We deliver targeted andgunahle results through a vertical focus
we classify into the following client verticalsnfincial services, education, and “other” (whicHudes business-to-business technology, hom
services and medical).

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of media cqsssonnel costs, amortization of intangible asskfgreciation expense and amortiza
of internal software development costs relatect@nue-producing technologies. Media costs copsisiarily of fees paid to third-party
publishers that are directly related to a revenereegating event and pay-per-click (PPC) ad purchfieen Internet search companies. We pay
these third-party publishers and Internet searchpamies on a revenue-share, cost-per-lead (CP&fpaw-click, (CPC), or cost-per-thousand-
impressions (CPM) basis. Personnel costs inclu@eiss, stock-based
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compensation expense, bonuses and employee beostfit Personnel costs are primarily related tividdals associated with maintaining our
servers and websites, our call center operatianseditorial staff, client management, creativerteaontent, compliance group and media
purchasing analysts. Costs associated with softimatered in the development phase or obtainedhternal use are capitalized and amortizec
in cost of revenue over the software’s estimateduldife. We anticipate that our cost of revenu#l increase more than our revenue for the
near term as we invest in new media partnershipsite long-term growth as well as a greater groasgin over time.

Operating Expenses

We classify our operating expenses into three caieg; product development, sales and marketingjgemeral and administrative. Our
operating expenses consist primarily of personasiscand, to a lesser extent, professional serféess rent and other costs. Personnel cos
each category of operating expenses generallydectalaries, stock-based compensation expensesdmmommissions and employee benefi
costs.

Product DevelopmenBroduct development expenses consist primarilyeesgnnel costs and professional services feesiasswaevith
the development and maintenance of our technoltajopms, development and launching of our websjesductbased quality assurance ¢
testing. We are constraining expenses generatlyg@xtent practicable; however we expect prodadtdevelopment expenses to increase in
absolute dollars in the future.

Sales and Marketingsales and marketing expenses consist primarihefqmnel costs, advertising, professional senfises, and travel
costs. We are constraining expenses generallyetextent practicable; however we expect sales aarlleting expenses to increase in absoluts
dollars in the future.

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses consist pifint personnel costs of our executive, finariegal,
employee benefits and compliance, technical sugpuattother administrative personnel, as well asatiing and legal professional services
fees, and insurance. We are constraining expersesaly to the extent practicable; however we ekgeneral and administrative expenses t
increase in absolute dollars in the future.

Interest and Other Expense, Net

Interest and other expense, net, consists primafillyterest income, interest expense, and otleamie and expense. Interest income
represents interest earned on our cash, cash éeptvand marketable securities, which may increaskecrease depending on market interes
rates and the amounts invested. Interest expemskatsd to our term loan facility, revolving lotatility, the related interest rate swap,
promissory notes issued in connection with our &ifijons, and imputed interest on non-interest inganotes. Borrowings under our revolving
loan facility, the aggregate principal amount ofstanding promissory notes and related interestresg could increase if, among other things,
we make additional acquisitions through debt filagcOther income and expense includes gains as$oon foreign currency exchange,
gains and losses on sales of websites and domaiasthat were not considered to be strategicalboimant to our business, and other non-
operating items.

Income Tax Benefit from (Provision for)

We are subject to tax in the United States as agetither tax jurisdictions or countries in which @amduct business. Earnings from our
limited non-U.S. activities are subject to localintry income tax and may be subject to U.S. inctare
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our consolidatedestzent of operations for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended

2015 2014 2013
(In thousands)

Net revenu $282,14( 100.%  $ 282,54¢ 100.(%  $305,10: 100.(%
Cost of revenu® 252,00: 89.2 241,90° 85.€ 251,59: 82.t
Gross profit 30,13¢ 10.7 40,64: 14.4 53,51( 17.5
Operating expense®

Product developmel 17,94¢ 6.4 19,54¢ 6.S 19,04¢ 6.2

Sales and marketir 14,544 5.1 16,38¢ 5.8 14,70¢ 4.8

General and administrati 16,82: 6.C 17,04¢ 6.C 16,22¢ 5.8

Impairment of goodwil — 95,64 33.t 92,35( 30.:2
Operating los: (29,177 (6.8) (207,979  (38.)) (88,819  (29.))
Interest incom 72 — 11& — 11& —
Interest expens (3,819 1.3 (3,825 (1.4 (5,200 .7
Other income (expense), r 2,671 0.¢ 1,49: 0.5 (69) —
Loss before income tax (20,257 (7.2 (110,19H  (39.0 (93,979  (30.9)
Benefit from (provision for) taxe 244 0.1 (36,209  (12.§) 26,60 8.7
Net loss $(20,009) (7.1)% $(146,409 (51.9% $(67,37) (22.1%

@ Cost of revenue and operating expenses includ&-based compensation expense as follc

Cost of revenu $3,12( 1.1% $2,76i 1.C% $3,93( 1.2%
Product developmel 2,39t 0.€ 2,42¢ 0.€ 2,76 0.€
Sales and marketir 2,14¢ 0.6 2,937 1.C 3,26¢ 1.1
General and administrati 2,19¢ 0.6 2,29¢ 0.8 2,057 0.7

Net Revenue

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 2015- 201« 2014- 201%
2015 2014 2013 % Change % Change
(In thousands)
Net revenus $282,14( $282,54¢ $305,10: (0%) (7%)
Cost of revenu 252,00: 241,90 251,59; 4% (4%)
Gross profit $ 30,13¢ $ 40,64 $ 53,51( (26%) (24%)

Net revenue was approximately flat in fiscal ye@i2 compared to fiscal year 2014. Our financiavises client vertical revenue
increased $7.3 million, or 6%, primarily due to @emhanced click, lead, call and policy productschtenabled us to access higher quality
media for our clients and has led to increaseahchedgets. Our education client vertical reveneerelased $14.1 million, or 12%, as a rest
our education clients’ lower budgets, largely du@rncertainty surrounding regulations and enforggraetivity affecting for-profit educational
institutions and their operational adjustment is #ctivity. Revenue from other client verticalsrigased $6.4 million, or 13%, primarily due to
increased client demand in our business-to-busiteebsiology and home services client verticalsigifyrtoffset by decreased client demand in
our medical client vertical.

Net revenue decreased $22.6 million, or 7%, irefiyear 2014 compared to fiscal year 2013. Oumiired services client vertical rever
decreased $8.2 million, or 7%, primarily due to mability to cost effectively
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access sufficient high quality media during thetfthree quarters of the year, as well as due¢olaction in mortgage inquiry traffic caused by
an increase in interest rates. Our education cliertical revenue decreased $15.0 million, or 1fifinarily as a result of our education clients’
lower budgets, largely due to uncertainty surrongdegulations and enforcement activity affectioggrofit educational institutions and their
operational adjustment to this activity. Revenwarfrother client verticals increased $0.6 million1&6, primarily due to increased client
demand in our business-to-business technology amiservices client verticals partially offset lacbased client demand in our medical
client vertical.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased $10.1 million, or 4%iscal year 2015 compared to fiscal year 2014, alrilsy increased media costs of $11.1
million, increased personnel costs of $3.2 millaord increased other expenses of $2.5 million, bifgalecreased amortization of intangible
assets of $7.1 million. The increased media costg wttributable to increased costs for high quatiedia. The increased personnel costs wer
attributable to an increase in average headcolnet.dEcreased amortization of intangible assets attibutable to assets from historical
acquisitions becoming fully amortized and a redumgihber of acquisitions in recent periods. Grosggmavas 11% in fiscal year 2015
compared to 14% in fiscal year 2014. The decreagedass margin was attributable to increased meulits associated with our investments in
optimizing high quality media in our financial semes vertical.

Cost of revenue decreased $9.7 million, or 4%isicedl year 2014 compared to fiscal year 2013, driwedecreased media costs of $6.7
million, decreased amortization of intangible assetd depreciation of $6.4 million, and decreasecksbased compensation expense of $1.2
million, partially offset by increased personnesitsoof $2.6 million and other increases of $2.0ianl The decreased media costs were
primarily attributable to lower revenue levels effdy a lower mix of traffic from owned and operhteebsites. The decreased amortization of
intangible assets were attributable to an amontimatharge associated with certain licensed patarfiscal year 2013, assets from historical
acquisitions becoming fully amortized and a redumghber of acquisitions in recent periods. Thedgased personnel costs were attributab
an increase in average headcount. Gross margiii4®adn fiscal year 2014 compared to 18% in fisery2013. The decrease in gross margi
is attributable to lower revenue levels and a lomex of traffic from owned and operated websites.

Operating Expenses

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 2015- 201¢ 2014- 2013
2015 2014 2013 % Change % Change
(In thousands)

Product developmel $17,94¢ $ 19,54¢ $ 19,04¢ (8%) 3%
Sales and marketir 14,54« 16,38t 14,70¢ (11%) 11%
General and administrati 16,82: 17,04¢ 16,22¢ (1%) 5%
Impairment of goodwil — 95,64 92,35( (10C%) 4%
Operating expense¢ $49,31! $148,62! $142,32! (67%) 4%

Product Development Expenses

Product development expenses decreased $1.6 milid?o, in fiscal year 2015 compared to fiscalry2@l4, primarily due to decreased
personnel costs of $1.1 million due to a decreaseérage salaries.

Product development expenses increased $0.5 mitioB%, in fiscal year 2014 compared to fiscaln@@l3, primarily due to increased
personnel costs of $0.8 million, offset by a desegia stock-based compensation expense of $0.@mill
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Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses decreased $1.8 mdlidi%, in fiscal year 2015 compared to fiscary2014, primarily due to decreas
stock-based compensation expense of $0.8 milliecredsed advertising costs of $0.5 million andekesd personnel costs of $0.4 million.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $1.7 mitlidhil%, in fiscal year 2014 compared to fiscalry2013, primarily due to increased
advertising expenses for our current product affggiof $1.0 million and increased personnel cos$)d million.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses decreasedrllich, or 1%, in fiscal year 2015 compared tacfisyear 2014.
General and administrative expenses increased®illi8n, or 5%, in fiscal year 2014 compared taébyear 2013. This was primarily
due to an additional business tax assessment ®ingilion, an increase in software license fees maihtenance contracts of $0.4 million, an

increase in bad debt expense of $0.3 million anshemrease in stock-based compensation expensedhdilion offset by a decrease in
personnel costs of $1.0 million.

Impairment of Goodwill

As discussed under “Critical Accounting Policiesl &stimates,” there was no goodwill impairment gearecognized for the year ended
June 30, 2015. We recognized a goodwill impairnohiarge of $95.6 million for the year ended June2Bd4 and $92.4 million for the year
ended June 30, 2013 due to declines sustained jpulalic market capitalization.

Interest and Other Expense, Net

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 2015- 201« 2014- 201:
2015 2014 2013 % Change % Change
(In thousands)
Interest incom $ 72 $ 11t $ 11f (37%) 0%
Interest expens (3,819 (3,825 (5,200 (0%) (26%)
Other income (expense), r 2,671 1,49: (69) (79%) (2262%)
Interest and other expense, $(1,075) $(2,217) $(5,159) (52%) (57%)

Interest and other expense, net decreased $1ibmmiblr 52%, in fiscal year 2015 compared to fisedr 2014, primarily due to an
increase in other income of $1.2 million. This e@se can be attributed to an increase in gainseosale of domain names that were not
considered to be strategically important to ouritesss of $2.8 million, offset by a gain of $0.9 linih recognized in fiscal year 2014 related to
the sale of our shares of preferred stock in oun&@&lBase investment and an expense of $0.3 mdlieto the termination of the interest rate
swap in connection with our repayment in full of tlerm loan facility.

Interest and other expense, net decreased $2i8mitlr 57%, in fiscal year 2014 compared to figedr 2013, primarily due to an
increase in other income of $1.6 million and a dase in interest expense of $1.4 million. The iasedn other income is due to the gain of
$0.9 million on the sale of our shares of prefestxtk in our DemandBase investment and the salerofin names that were not considered
to be strategically important to our business fgam of $0.5 million. The decrease in interestenge is due to the accelerated amortization o
approximately $0.7 million of unamortized deferrgafront costs incurred in connection with the ammadt of our term loan facility in fiscal
year 2013 and decreased debt obligati
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Benefit from (Provision for) Taxes

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
(In thousands)
Benefit from (provision for) taxe $244 $(36,209) $26,60:
Effective tax rate 1.2% (32.8%) 28.2%

We recorded a benefit from taxes of $0.2 milliorfigtal year 2015 primarily due to the carrybaclpdbr year tax losses. We recorded a
provision for taxes of $36.2 million in fiscal ye2014 primarily due to a one-time noash charge to establish a valuation allowancenatyie
majority of our deferred tax assets.

The increase in our effective tax rate for thedigear 2015 compared to fiscal year 2014 was piiyndue to a one-time, non-cash
charge recognized in fiscal year 2014 to estalaslishluation allowance for a specific portion of deferred tax assets.

The decrease in our effective tax rate for theafiyear 2014 compared to fiscal year 2013 was pifyndue to a one-time, non-cash
charge to establish a valuation allowance for @ifipgortion of our deferred tax assets in 2014.

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

The following table sets forth our unaudited qudyteondensed consolidated statements of operatiatesfor the eight quarters ended
June 30, 2015. We have prepared the statemenfreddtions for each of these quarters on the sasis s the audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this report anthe opinion of management, each statement oftipas includes all adjustments, consis
solely of normal recurring adjustments, necessarytfe fair statement of the results of operationghese periods. This information should be
read in conjunction with the audited consolidatedricial statements and related notes includedvikse in this report. These quarterly
operating results are not necessarily indicativeusfoperating results for any future period.

Three Months Ended

June 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sept 30, June 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sept 30,
2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013
(In thousands, except per share date
(unaudited)
Net revenue $70,91: $75,34:! $66,69: $69,18¢ $ 67,55! $71,88¢ $66,14¢ $76,96:
Costs of revenu 63,006 65,19 60,39t 63,40¢ 60,55 61,64¢ 56,11¢ 63,59.
Gross profi 7,90¢ 10,15 6,29¢ 5,78( 7,002 10,24 10,02¢ 13,36¢
Operating expense
Product developmel 4,09t 4,65: 4,24¢ 4,95¢ 4,75¢ 4,85¢ 4,77¢ 5,15¢
Sales and marketir 3,63¢ 3,881 3,351 3,661 4,68¢ 3,881 3,65¢ 4,15¢
General and administrati 3,82¢ 4,30( 4,07¢ 4,61°F 4,217 4,28¢ 4,411 4,13¢
Impairment of goodwil — — — — 95,64 — — —
Operating los: (3,657 (2,68]) (5,38)) (7,45¢) (102,299 (2,782 (2,817) (80)
Interest incomt 11 7 28 26 31 3C 27 27
Interest expens (1,092) (760 (78€) (1,180 (912) (911 (976¢) (1,026
Other (expense) income, r (330 40 63€ 2,32¢ 1,54¢ 3 (29 (19
Loss before income tax (5,068 (3,399 (5,509 (6,287 (101,63() (3,66¢€) (3,795 (1,099
Benefit from (provision for) taxe 40 17¢ 26 — 2,87: 99: (40,239 15¢

Net loss

$(5,026 $(3.216 $(5477) $(6,28) $ (98,769 $(2,679) $(44,029 $ (939
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Three Months Ended

June 30 Sept 30 June 30
Mar 31, Dec 31, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sept 30
2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013
(In thousands, except per share date
(unaudited)
Net loss per shar@
Basic $(0.17) $(0.07) $(0.12 $0.14 $(2.25 $(0.06 $(1.0) $(0.09)
Diluted $(0.17) $(0.07) $(0.12 $0.149 $(2.25 $(0.06 $(1.0) $(0.09)
Other Financial Data:
Adjusted EBITDA $2,90f $4,27C $2,131 $ 67 $1,80z $6,27¢ $6,477 $9,63!

(1) Netloss per share for the four quarters of easttafiyear may not sum to the total for the fisenbecause of the different numbe
shares outstanding during each per

Adjusted EBITDA

We include adjusted EBITDA in this report becauy&é seek to manage our business to a level afstetj] EBITDA as a percentage of
net revenue, (i) it is a key basis upon which manmagement assesses our operating performangd,igiione of the primary metrics investors
use in evaluating Internet marketing companie$,i(ii a factor in the evaluation of the perforroarof our management in determining
compensation, and (v) it is an element of certaiarfcial covenants under our revolving loan fagiliWe define adjusted EBITDA as net loss
less benefit from (provision for) taxes, deprecatexpense, amortization expense, stock-based cwmati@en expense, interest and other
expense, net, impairment of goodwill and restraotur

We use adjusted EBITDA as a key performance medmaause we believe it facilitates operating pertorce comparisons from period
to period by excluding potential differences caulsgdariations in capital structures (affectingeirgist expense), tax positions (such as the
impact on periods or companies of changes in éffetax rates or fluctuations in permanent diffeenor discrete quarterly items), non-
recurring charges and the non-cash impact of degiee, amortization, stock-based compensation es@eand impairment of goodwill. Since
adjusted EBITDA facilitates internal comparisonsaf historical operating performance on a moresigtent basis, we also use adjusted
EBITDA for business planning purposes, to incermgvand compensate our management personnel andlirang acquisition opportunities.

In addition, we believe adjusted EBITDA and similaeasures are widely used by investors, secuatiafysts, ratings agencies and o
interested parties in our industry as a measufimaficial performance and debt-service capabilitids use of adjusted EBITDA has
limitations as an analytical tool, and it should he considered in isolation or as a substitutefalysis of our results as reported under GA
Some of these limitations are:

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expeme#dor capital equipment or other contractual caments;

» although depreciation and amortization are non-casinges, the assets being depreciated and antomtiag have to be replaced in
the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not refleshceapital expenditure requirements for such replents

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, ohaasgjuirements for, our working capital nee

» adjusted EBITDA does not consider the potentiailytive impact of issuing stock-based compensatioour management team
and employees

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest exgeor the cash requirements necessary to serv@eshor principal payments
our indebtednes:
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» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect certain tax paytaeéhat may represent a reduction in cash avaitahles; anc

» other companies, including companies in our ingustray calculate adjusted EBITDA measures diffdyemthich reduces their
usefulness as a comparative meas

Due to these limitations, adjusted EBITDA should lbe considered as a measure of discretionaryasastable to us to invest in the
growth of our business. When evaluating our pertoroe, adjusted EBITDA should be considered alomegsiller financial performance
measures, including various cash flow metrics|aogt and our other GAAP results.

The following table presents a reconciliation ofusted EBITDA to net loss, the most comparable GAAEasure, for each of the peric
indicated:

Three Months Ended

June 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sept 30, June 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sept 30

2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013

(In thousands)
(unaudited)

Net loss $(5,028) $(3,21¢) $(5,477) $(6,287) $(98,767) $(2,67) $(44,029 $ (939
Interest and other income (expense), 1,411 71z 12z (1,179 (663) 884 97¢ 1,01¢
(Benefit from) provision for taxe (40 a7¢) (26) — (2,877) (999 40,23¢ (159
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,08¢ 4,37( 4,98¢ 5,422 6,142 6,611 6,66¢ 6,67¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel 2,47: 2,581 2,52¢ 2,27¢ 2,31¢ 2,45( 2,62¢ 3,03¢

Impairment of goodwil — — — — 95,64 — — —

Restructuring — — — 43¢ — — — —
Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,90¢ $4,27( $2,131 $ 67¢ $ 1,807 $6,27¢ $ 6,471 $9,631

Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of net
revenue 4% 6% 3% 1% 3% 9% 10% 13%

We seek to manage our business to a level of & SBITDA as a percentage of net revenue. We dmsofiscal year basis by varying
our operations to balance revenue growth and tlosiaghout the fiscal year. We do not seek to marmag business to a level of adjusted
EBITDA on a quarterly basis and we expect our adpiEBITDA margins to vary from quarter to quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2015, our principal sources of tigyiconsisted of cash and cash equivalents ofgbéllion, cash we expect to generate
from operations, and our $25.0 million revolvinguofacility, which is committed until June 2017 damder which we have drawn $15.0
million. Our cash and cash equivalents are maiathin highly liquid investments with remaining meties of 90 days or less at the time of
purchase. We believe our cash equivalents aralligmd accessible.

Our short-term and long-term liquidity requiremepisnarily arise from our working capital requirentg, debt service on our $25.0
million revolving loan facility, and acquisitionsofim time to time. Our primary operating cash regumients include the payment of media costs
personnel costs, costs of information technologtesyps and office facilities. Our ability to fundete requirements will depend on our future
cash flows, which are determined, in part, by fetoperating performance and are, therefore, sutgjguevailing global macroeconomic
conditions and financial, business and other factmsme of which are beyond our control, and alsability to access our revolving loan
facility. Even though we may not need additionalds, we may still elect to obtain additional désgue additional equity securities, or draw
down on or increase our borrowing capacity undercourent revolving loan facility for other reasons
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We believe that our existing cash, cash equivaleatsh generated from operations and our avaitadi®wings under the revolving loan
facility will be sufficient to satisfy our currentianticipated cash requirements through at leashéxt 12 months.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
(In thousands)
Cash flows provided by operating activit $ 6,13¢ $ 18,371 $ 50,66¢
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing actas 33,27( (20,73) (7,469
Cash flows used in financing activiti (63,119 (13,539 (21,616

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities are primathg result of our net loss adjusted for depreaiadiod amortization, stock-based
compensation expense, impairment of goodwill arahgles in working capital components.

Cash flows provided by operating activities werel$8@illion for fiscal year 2015 compared to $18.4lion for fiscal year 2014 and
$50.7 million for fiscal year 2013.

Cash flows provided by operating activities in éisgear 2015 consisted of a net loss of $20.0 omijlivhich included a restructuring
charge of $0.4 million, offset by non-cash adjusitaef $26.6 million. In addition, there was a detrease in cash from changes in working
capital of $0.4 million. The non-cash adjustmemssisted of depreciation and amortization of $18illon, stock-based compensation net of
tax benefits of $9.9 million, and gain on the saflédomain names that were not considered to beegitally important to our business of $3.3
million. The changes in working capital accountsaverimarily due to an increase in accounts redsé/af $4.4 million, offset by an increase
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $2ilion and a decrease in net deferred taxes & #iillion. The increase in accounts
receivable as well as the increase in accountshp@gand accrued liabilities were primarily duehie timing of payments.

Cash flows provided by operating activities in fisgear 2014 consisted of a net loss of $146.4anilloffset by non-cash adjustments of
$130.4 million and changes in working capital o ®Bmillion. The non-cash adjustments primarily sisted of depreciation and amortization
of $26.1 million, stock-based compensation expertef tax benefits of $9.9 million, and impairmefigoodwill of $95.6 million, offset by
other adjustments, net of $1.1 million. The charigegorking capital accounts were primarily dueatdecrease in net deferred taxes of $45.1
million and an increase in accounts payable anduaddiabilities of $0.4 million partially offsetytan increase in prepaid expenses and other
current assets of $6.3 million, an increase in aotoreceivable of $3.5 million, and a decreasdeiierred revenue and other noncurrent
liabilities of $1.3 million. The decrease in defmirtaxes was due to a one-time charge to establistuation allowance. The increase in
accounts receivable was due to timing of collection

Cash flows provided by operating activities in éisgear 2013 consisted of a net loss of $67.4 oni)loffset by non-cash adjustments of
$136.6 million. In addition, there was a net ineg@a cash from changes in working capital of $18ilion. The non-cash adjustments
consisted primarily of depreciation and amortizatid $32.3 million, stock-based compensation experet of tax benefits of $11.9 million,
and impairment of goodwill of $92.4 million. Thearfges in working capital accounts were primarilg ttuan increase in deferred taxes of
$30.8 million resulting from tax deductible goodwilrite-off, a decrease in accounts receivableld.$ million, a net decrease in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities of $6.0 milliondamdecrease in prepaid expenses and other ag$&2 anillion. The decrease in accounts
receivable were primarily due to better collectiofise net decrease in accounts payable and acantedrepaid expenses and other assets
primarily due to timing of payments.
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Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities include capéa&penditures, capitalized internal developmerstgcand purchases, sales and
maturities of marketable securities.

Cash flows provided by investing activities werg$3million for fiscal year 2015, compared to caskd in investing activities of $10.7
million for fiscal year 2014 and $7.5 million fas€al year 2013.

Cash provided by investing activities in fiscal y2815 was primarily due to net sales and matsritiemarketable securities of $38.7
million and proceeds from the sale of domain nathaswere not considered to be strategically ingrdrto our business of $3.4 million, offset
by capital expenditures and internal software dgwalent costs of $5.7 million and a purchase ohaestment of $2.5 million.

Cash used in investing activities in fiscal yeat2@as primarily due to capital expenditures arterimal software development costs of
$7.9 million, licenses of intangible assets of $iBion and acquisition costs of $0.9 million oftsby proceeds from a sale of an investment c
$1.4 million and other investing activities of $@rfilion. Net investments in marketable securitetsled $1.0 million.

Cash used in investing activities in fiscal yeat2Was primarily due to capital expenditures artdrimal software development costs of
$3.9 million and licenses of intangible assets2b$nillion. Net investments in marketable secesitiotaled $1.1 million.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Cash flows from financing activities include prodsdrom the exercise of stock options, withholdiages related to restricted stock net
of share settlement, excess tax benefits from dbasled compensation, proceeds from revolving laaititfy, and principal payments on bank
debt and acquisition-related notes payable.

Cash flows used by financing activities were $68illion for fiscal year 2015 compared to $13.5 ioifl for fiscal year 2014 and $21.6
million for fiscal year 2013.

Cash used in financing activities in fiscal yeal2@vas primarily due to principal payments on @unt loan facility and acquisition-
related notes payable of $78.0 million and withimaddtaxes related to restricted stock net shattesstnt of $1.2 million, offset by proceeds
from the revolving loan facility of $15.0 milliomd exercises of stock options of $1.3 million.

Cash used in financing activities in fiscal yeat2@vas primarily due to principal payments on astjoin-related notes payable and our
term loan facility and related fees of $15.5 milliand withholding taxes related to restricted stoekof share settlement of $1.9 million offset
by proceeds received from exercises of stock optadr$3.3 million and excess tax benefits from eisars of stock options of $0.5 million.

Cash used in financing activities in fiscal yeat 2@vas primarily due to principal payments on astjioin-related notes payable and our
term loan facility and related fees of $15.8 miiliand repurchases of our common stock of $6.2anillinder our stock repurchase program
partially offset by proceeds received from exereigkstock options of $0.5 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not have alationships with unconsolidated entities or finahpartnerships, such as entities o
referred to as structured finance or special pwemugities, which would have been establishediferpurpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or Behipurposes. We have variable interest entitiase b which we are the primary benefici
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Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations relate primarily to tmwings under our revolving loan facility, acquisit-related note payable, and opera
leases.

The following table sets forth payments due underomntractual obligations as of June 30, 2015:

Less thar More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Revolving Loan Facility $15,00( $ — $15,00( $ — $ —
Operating Lease 11,57 3,64¢ 6,56¢ 1,36( —
Promissory Nott 50 50 — — —
Total $26,62! $ 3,69¢ $21,56¢ $ 1,36( $ —

The above table does not include approximately 88llion of long-term income tax liabilities for gprtainty in income taxes due to the
fact that we are unable to reasonably estimatérnfieg of these potential future payments.

Loan Facility

As of June 30, 2014, we were party to a creditagent (the “Credit Agreement”) with Comerica Batiie(“Bank”), the administrative
agent and lead arranger, which consisted of a $Ifidlion five-year term loan facility and a $501@llion five-year revolving loan facility
maturing on November 4, 2016.

On June 11, 2015, we entered into the Third AmemdrweCredit Agreement (“Third Amendment”) with tBank to, among other
things, pay off in full and terminate the term Idanility, reduce the revolving loan facility fro850.0 million to $25.0 million, and extend the
expiration date of the Credit Agreement from Novend, 2016 to June 11, 2017. Borrowings under¢lielving loan facility bear interest at a
rate of the Eurodollar rate plus 3.00%, and arersetby substantially all of our assets. Pursuatti¢ Third Amendment, the revolving loan
facility is subject to a borrowing base consistirigligible receivables and certain other custontamyditions. We must pay an annual facility
fee of $62,500 and an annual unused fee of 0.25%teafindrawn revolving loan facility credit comménts. The Company has the right to
prepay the revolving loan facility or permanentiyguce the revolving loan facility credit commitmemtithout premium or penalty, in whole or
in part at any time.

The Credit Agreement, as amended, contains liroitaton the Company’s ability to sell assets, makgiiaitions, pay dividends, incur
capital expenditures and requires us to comply e&tttain additional covenants. We must also comyjitly certain financial covenants only
when there are amounts outstanding under the rengplean facility or to draw down amounts under theolving loan facility. We were in
compliance with all covenants under the Credit &gnent as of June 30, 2015 and 2014.

As of June 30, 2015, there were no amounts outistgneohder the term loan facility, as the term Iéacility had been terminated on
June 11, 2015. As of June 30, 2014, there was $#illibn outstanding under the term loan faciliys of June 30, 2015, $15.0 million was
outstanding under the revolving loan facility. The@rere no amounts outstanding under the revolaag facility as of June 30, 2014.

Interest Rate Swap

As of June 30, 2014, we held an interest rate svapduce our exposure to the financial impacthainging interest rates under our term
loan facility. In June 2015, in connection with @apayment in full of the
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term loan facility, we also terminated the intemesé swap agreement. Upon settlement, we recagjaizexpense of $0.3 million to other
income (expense), net in the consolidated statenfeoyierations.

Headquarters Lease

We entered into a lease agreement in February 20 Hpproximately 63,998 square feet of office splacated at 950 Tower Lane,
Foster City, California. The term of the lease lmega November 1, 2010 and expires on October 318.Z0he monthly base rent was abated
for the first 12 calendar months under the leasd,ramained at $0.1 million through the 24th caterdonth of the term of the lease. After this
24 month period, monthly base rent increased t& 80llion for the subsequent 12 months and noweases approximately 3% after each 12-
month anniversary during the remaining term, intigcany extensions under our options to extend héle two options to extend the term of
the lease for one additional year for each optadlodving the expiration date of the lease or reneesan, as applicable.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have prepared our consolidated financial statésria conformity with accounting principles gerigraccepted in the United States
of America (“GAAP”). In doing so, we are requiramirhake estimates and assumptions that affect pugtesl amounts of assets and liabilities,
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and reponteoluats of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period.

Some of the estimates and assumptions we are eelcwimake relate to matters that are inherentteuain as they pertain to future
events. We base these estimates and assumptidnistamcal experience or on various other factbet tve believe to be reasonable and
appropriate under the circumstances. On an ondmBi, we reconsider and evaluate our estimateassuinptions. Actual results may differ
significantly from these estimates.

We believe that the critical accounting policiesdd below involve our more significant judgmesetgimates and assumptions and,
therefore, could have the greatest potential impaaiur consolidated financial statements. In @alditwve believe that a discussion of these
policies is necessary to understand and evaluatedahsolidated financial statements containedigréport.

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Hyles, of our consolidated financial statementsffiother information on our critical
and other significant accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

More than 99% of total revenue is derived fromEiS business. DMS revenue is derived primarily fi@®s which are earned through
the delivery of qualified leads, inquiries, clicksls, applications, customers and, to a lessenéxdisplay advertisements, or impressions. W
recognize revenue when persuasive evidence ofrangament exists, delivery has occurred, the féigad or determinable and collectability
is reasonably assured. Delivery is deemed to hewerced at the time a qualified lead or click isiviered to the client provided that no
significant obligations remain.

Under our revenue recognition policies, we allocateenue in an arrangement using the estimatedgeltice (“ESP”) of deliverables if
vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE") of g price based on historical stand-alone saldkiai-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling
price does not exist. Due to the unique naturenfesof our multiple deliverable revenue arrangesiemé may not be able to establish selling
prices based on historical stand-alone sales ai-fiarty evidence, therefore we may use our béghate to establish selling prices for these
arrangements under the standard. We establistesi@states within a range of selling prices congmdemultiple factors including, but not
limited to, factors such as class of client, sit&ansaction,
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available media inventory, pricing strategies aradkat conditions. We believe the use of the bd#hase of selling price allows revenue
recognition in a manner consistent with the undedyconomics of the transaction.

From time to time, we may agree to credit a clfentertain leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, apgtions, or customers if they fail to meet
the contractual or other guidelines of a particel@nt. We have established a sales reserve lmshibtorical experience. To date, such credit
have been within our expectations.

For a portion of our revenue, we have agreemeritspvoviders of online media or third-party pubbssiused in the generation of
qualified leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applioas, or customers. We receive a fee from our tdiand pay a fee to publishers either on a
revenue-share, cost-per-lead, cost-per-click or-pesthousand-impressions basis. We are the pyimigligor in the transaction. As a result,
the fees paid by our clients are recognized aswevand the fees paid to our publishers are indlinieost of revenue.

All other revenue is comprised of (i) set-up andfessional services fees and (ii) usage fees. and professional service fees that do
not provide stand-alone value to a client are reizegl over the contractual term of the agreemetti@mexpected client relationship period,
whichever is longer, effective when the applicatieaches the “go-live” date. We define the “go-lidate as the date when the application
enters into a production environment or all essg¢fitinctionalities have been delivered. Usage &egecognized on a monthly basis as eal

Deferred revenue is comprised of contractual lgim excess of recognized revenue and paymerds/egcin advance of revenue
recognition.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and record the expense related to Based transactions based on the fair values a@faeds as determined on the date of
grant. For stock options, we selected and haveritsily used the Blaclscholes option pricing model to estimate the faiue. In applying th
Black-Scholes option pricing model, our determioatof fair value is affected by assumptions regaydi number of highly complex and
subjective variables. These variables include dbeitnot limited to, the expected stock price vbtatover the term of the stock options and the
employees’ actual and projected stock option eserand preresting employment termination behaviors. We edéntlae expected volatility
our common stock based on our historical volatibitaer the stock option’s expected term. We havhistory or expectation of paying
dividends on our common stock. The ris&e interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasaid yor a term consistent with the expected terrthe
stock options. The fair value of restricted stooksiis determined based on the closing price ofcommon stock on the date of grant.

We recognize stock-based compensation expensdlmvegquisite service period using the straigha-timethod, based on awards
ultimately expected to vest. We estimate futuréeftures at the date of grant and revise the estisnif necessary, in subsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Goodwill

We conduct a test for the impairment of goodwiliteg reporting unit level on at least an annuaisbaisd whenever there are events or
changes in circumstances that would more likely that reduce the estimated fair value of a repgrtinit below its carrying value. Applicati
of the goodwill impairment test requires judgmémtjuding the identification of reporting units,ségning assets and liabilities to reporting
units, assigning goodwill to reporting units, arededmining the fair value of each reporting unigriificant judgments required to estimate the
fair value of reporting units include estimatingute cash flows and determining appropriate distoates, growth rates, an appropriate contrc
premium and other assumptions. Changes in theiseatss and assumptions could materially affectgtermination of fair value for each
reporting unit which could trigger impairment.

49



Table of Contents

We have two reporting units for purposes of allmzpaind testing goodwill, DMS and DSS, which isliried in the “All Other”
reportable segment. We performed our annual gobawglairment test on April 30, 2015 for fiscal ye415. We conducted a qualitative
assessment to determine whether it was necesspeyftrm a two-step quantitative goodwill impairrhéest. In assessing the qualitative
factors, we considered the impact of key factochsas changes in industry and competitive envirarirstock price, actual revenue
performance compared to previous years, forecasteash flow generation. Based on the resultsefjthalitative assessment, there were no
indicators of impairment.

We performed our annual goodwill impairment tesiqmil 30, 2014 for fiscal year 2014. While we wegrermitted to conduct a
gualitative assessment to determine whether itneasssary to perform a two-step quantitative golbdwpairment test, for our annual
goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter @fchl 2014, we performed a quantitative test fahlod our reporting units.

In the first step of the annual impairment test,compared the fair value of each reporting unitd@arrying value. We estimated the fair
value of the DSS reporting unit using only the imeoapproach as market comparables were not meahiligé concluded that the carrying
value of the DSS reporting unit exceeded its egtohair value. Therefore we performed a Step 2yais as required, and recorded a gooc
impairment charge of $1.2 million for the entireogavill of our DSS reporting unit. We estimated fag value of our DMS reporting unit
based on our market capitalization and determihatithere were no instances of impairment in ourdporting unit.

Our public market capitalization sustained a decéfter June 30, 2014 primarily due to our opegatésults in the fourth quarter of fis
year 2014, to a value below the net book carrymlger of our equity. As a result, we determined thesttriggered the necessity to conduc
interim goodwill impairment test as of June 30, 200/e first tested the long-lived assets relatetth¢odDMS reporting unit as of June 30, 2014
and, based on the undiscounted cash flows, detechtirat these assets were not impaired.

A two-step process was then required to test gdbaapairment. The first step was to determinenéite was an indication of impairment
by comparing the estimated fair value to its cagyvalue including goodwill. Goodwill is considergdpaired if the carrying value exceeds
estimated fair value. Upon indication of impairmemnsecond step is performed to determine the ahufuhe impairment by comparing the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’'s goodwiliith its carrying value.

We estimated the fair value of our DMS reporting using a weighting of fair values derived mogprsficantly from the market
approach which approximated our market capitalimatind to a lesser extent the income approach.dhdenarket approach, we utilize
publicly-traded comparable company information ébedmine revenue and earnings multiples that weee to value our reporting units
adjusted for an estimated control premium. As tiSDreporting unit represented substantially thé&rei@ompany, the market approach was
reconciled to our market capitalization. Underittmome approach, we estimated the fair value epanting unit based on the present value o
estimated future cash flows. Cash flow projectimese based on managemearg'stimates of revenue growth rates and operatargins, takin
into consideration industry and market conditiofse discount rate used was based on the weigh&@@e cost of capital adjusted for the
relevant risk associated with business-specificaittaristics and the uncertainty related to themapg unit’s ability to execute on the projec
cash flows.

The second step of the goodwill impairment tesuiregl us to fair value all assets and liabilitié®or DMS reporting unit to determine
the implied fair value of goodwill. We compared iheplied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodintib its carrying value. This test resulted in
a noneash goodwill impairment charge in aggregate of&9illion for the year ended June 30, 2014. Thiis used to measure the estim
fair value of goodwill are classified as a Levéh8 value measurement due to the significancenobgervable inputs in income approach u
company-specific information.
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Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate long-lived assets, such as propertyegnghment and purchased intangible assets witte fimes, for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdtrying value of an asset may not be recoversdeapply judgment when estimating the
fair value of the assets based on the undiscodutaerke cash flows the assets are expected to geremd recognize an impairment loss if
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expectedsult from the use of the asset plus net pracerpected from disposition of the asset, if
any, are less than the carrying value of the assetentioned in the Goodwill section above, ouslfjumarket capitalization sustained a
decline after June 30, 2014 and, based on the coudised cash flows, determined that these assetsnoe impaired as of June 30, 2014. We
re-evaluated our long-lived assets as of AprilZIL5 and determined that these assets were notredpa

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset aniitijadpproach to record deferred taxes. Our defgéincome tax assets represent
temporary differences between the financial statgroarrying amount and the tax basis of existirgptssand liabilities that will result in
deductible amounts in future years, including rperating loss carry forwards. A valuation allowarcescorded against our deferred tax as
which are not expected to be realized. Our judgmegedrding future profitability may change dueutufe market conditions, changes in
U.S. or international tax laws and other factore Mfcorded a valuation allowance against the mgjofiour deferred tax assets at the end of
fiscal year 2014 due to the significant negativielence that the near term realization of certagetswere deemed unlikely. As of June 30,
2015, we believe it is not more likely than nottttree net deferred tax assets will be fully redleaand therefore, we continue to maintain the
valuation allowance.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Reficto our consolidated financial statementsririmation with respect to recent
accounting pronouncements and the impact of thesepncements on our consolidated financial statésne

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary smof our business. These risks include primaaitgifjn currency exchange and
interest rate risks.

Interest Rate Risk

We invest our cash equivalents primarily in monegrket funds. Unrestricted cash and cash equivateatheld for working capital
purposes and acquisition financing. We do not einterinvestments for trading or speculative pugsodVe believe that we do not have
material exposure to changes in the fair valude$¢ investments as a result of changes in intextest due to the short-term nature of our
investments. Declines in interest rates may refiutcee investment income. However, a hypothetieallide of 1% in the interest rate on our
investments would not have a material effect oncomsolidated financial statements.

As of June 30, 2015, our revolving loan facilitydren outstanding balance of $15.0 million. Intemsborrowings under the revolving
loan facility is payable quarterly at the EurodoHate plus 3.00%. Our exposure to interest rateunder the revolving loan facility will depe
on the extent to which we utilize such facility hipothetical change of 1% from prevailing intenedés as of June 30, 2015 would not have a
material effect on our interest rate expense.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

To date, our client agreements have been predoehjrd¢nominated in U.S. dollars, and accordinglg,have limited exposure to forei
currency exchange rate fluctuations related tontbgreements, and do not currently engage ingoreurrency hedging transactions. As the
local accounts for some of our foreign operatioresraaintained in the local currency of the respectiountry, we are subject to foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations associatedtwéhiemeasurement to U.S. dollars. A hypothethahge of 10% in foreign currency
exchange rates would not have a material effectiumrconsolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Quie&, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{g)(tsent fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of QuinStreet, Inc. and its sdizies at June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, antk8ults of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghdune 30, 2015 in conformity with accounting giples generally accepted in the United
States of America. In addition, in our opinion, flrancial statement schedule listed in the indgxearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly,
in all material respects, the information set fdthéarein when read in conjunction with the relatedsolidated financial statements. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialexcts, effective internal control over financgporting as of June 30, 2015, based on
criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framewo(R013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgiuns of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management ionssiple for these financial statements and findrsteement schedule, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effeciss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying ManagenseR€port on Internal Control over Financial RepaytiOur responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements, on thenfirzd statement schedule and on the Company’sniateontrol over financial reporting based
on our integrated audits. We conducted our audigecordance with the standards of the Public Compacounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrp the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmat alhether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial reporting was ntained in all material respects. Our audits
of the financial statements included examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the amounts iantbslures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &igntfestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control oveaficial reporting included obtaining an understagdif internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weskexists, and testing and evaluating the desidmoperating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audits also irtjueléorming such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable lasisur opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fppeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioazations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readwaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
August 19, 2015
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QUINSTREET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014
Assets
Current assel
Cash and cash equivale $ 60,46¢ $ 84,17"
Marketable securitie — 38,63(
Accounts receivable, n 46,24( 41,97¢
Deferred tax asse 16€ 222
Prepaid expenses and other as 11,50 11,647
Total current asse 118,37 176,65t
Property and equipment, r 8,56¢ 11,12¢
Goodwill 56,11¢ 55,45
Other intangible assets, r 19,03( 31,44:
Deferred tax assets, noncurr 2 1,712
Other assets, noncurre 3,061 457
Total asset $ 205,15: $276,84.
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 20,42t $ 19,517
Accrued liabilities 27,14¢ 27,85«
Deferred revenu 1,20¢ 1,17t
Debt 49 17,69¢
Total current liabilities 48,82¢ 66,24+
Debt, noncurrer 15,00( 59,56
Other liabilities, noncurrer 5,74( 5,88:
Total liabilities 69,56¢ 131,69.
Commitments and contingencies (See Not
Stockholder equity
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 startwrized; 44,617,850 and 44,025,908 shares is
and outstanding at June 30, 2015 and June 30, Bedpkctively 45 44
Additional paic-in capital 249,35¢ 239,55¢
Accumulated other comprehensive i (413) (1,059
Accumulated defici (113,409 (93,397
Total stockholder equity 135,58! 145,15:
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 205,15: $276,84.

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Net revenue¢

Cost of revenu®

Gross profit

Operating expense®
Product developmel
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
Impairment of goodwil

Operating los!

Interest incom

Interest expens

Other income (expense), r

Loss before income tax

Benefit from (provision for) taxe

Net loss

Net loss per shar
Basic

Diluted

QUINSTREET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Weighted average shares used in computing nep&rsshare

Basic
Diluted

@ Cost of revenue and operating expenses includ&-based compensation expense as follc

Cost of revenu

Product developmel
Sales and marketir
General and administrati

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
$282,14( $28254¢ $305,10:
252,00; 241,900 251 59:
30,13¢ 40,64 53,51(
17,94¢ 19,54¢ 19,04¢
14,54: 16,38t 14,70¢
16,82: 17,04¢ 16,22¢
— 95,64 92,35(
(19,17) (107,979 (88,819
72 115 11F
(3,819 (3,825) (5,200
2,671 1,49: (69)
(20,25)  (110,19) (93,979
244 (36,209  26,60:
$(20,009 $(146,40) $(67,37:)
$ (045 $ (336 $ (157
$ (045 $ (336 $ (L5
44, 45: 43,52 42 81¢
44.45: 43,52 42 81¢
$3,12( $2,767 $3,93(
2,39¢ 2,42¢ 2,76¢
2,14¢ 2,937 3,26¢
2,19¢ 2,29¢ 2,057
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QUINSTREET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (lo
Investments
Change in unrealized gain (lo¢

(In thousands)

Less: reclassification adjustment related to redlibss, net of tax of $

Net change
Foreign currency translation adjustm:
Interest rate swa

Change in unrealized ga

Less: reclassification adjustment related to redlipss (gain), net of tax of ¢

Net change¢
Other comprehensive income (lo
Comprehensive los

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013

$(20,000  $(146,40)  $(67,37%)
13 (17) (16)

16 — —
29 (17) (16)
(18) (49) (32
22F 24 482
40E — (8)
63C 24 47E
641 (42) 427
$(19,367)  $(146,44)  $(66,94%)
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QUINSTREET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at June 30, 201

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmg

Release of restricted sto

Stocl-based compensatic

Withholding taxes related to restricted stock tetre
settlemen

Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic

Repurchase of common sta

Retirement of treasury stor

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balance at June 30, 201

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmg

Release of restricted sto

Stocl-based compensatic

Withholding taxes related to restricted stock tetre
settlemen

Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic

Net loss

Other comprehensive lo

Balance at June 30, 201

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmg

Release of restricted sto

Stocl-based compensatic

Withholding taxes related to restricted stock tetre
settlemen

Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balance at June 30, 201

(In thousands, except share data)

Accumulated Retained
Common Stock Treasury Stock . Other Earnings Total
Additional Comprehensive  (Accumulated  Shareholders’
Paid-in
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss Deficit) Equity

43,350,83 $ 43 (128,800 $(1,17¢) $ 220,55: $ (1,439 $ 120,37¢  $ 338,35
120,50¢ — — — 457 — — 457
53,91( — — — — — — —

— — — — 12,10¢ — — 12,10¢
— — — — (249 — — (244)

— — — — 14C — — 14C
— — (509,56)) (4,979 — — — (4,979
(638,36)) — 638,36! 6,157 (6,157 — — —
— — — — — — (67,377) (67,377)

— — — — — 421 — 421
42,886,888 $ 43 — $ — $ 22685 $ (1,017 $ 53,000 $ 278,89!
731,93t 1 — — 3,652 — — 3,65¢

407,08t — — — — — — —
— — — — 10,56: — — 10,56:
— — — — (1,95¢) — — (1,95%)

— — — — 44k — — 44t
— — — — — — (146,40¢) (146,40.)
— — — — — (42) — (42)
44,02590 $ 44 — $ — $ 239,55¢ $ (1,059 $ (93,39) $ 145,15:
211,87¢ 1 — — 974 — — 97t

380,06« — — — — — — —
— — — — 9,98¢ — — 9,98¢
— — — — (1,16%) — — (1,167)
— — — — — — (20,009 (20,009)

— — — — — 641 — 641
4461785 $ 45 — $ — $ 249,35¢ $ (419 $ (113,409 $ 135,58!

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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QUINSTREET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of goodwil
Write-off of bank loan upfront fee
Provision for sales returns and doubtful accouetgivable
Stoclk-based compensatic
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Gains on sale of investment and domain na
Other adjustments, n
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effeEcquisitions:
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Deferred taxe
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities, noncurrer
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Capital expenditure
Business acquisitior
Other intangible:
Internal software development co
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from maturities of marketable secur
Proceeds from sales of marketable secut
Purchase of investme
Proceeds from sale of investm
Proceeds from sale of domain nar
Other investing activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from exercise of common stock opt
Proceeds from revolving loan facili
Principal payments on term loan facil
Payment of bank loan upfront fe
Principal payments on acquisit-related notes payab
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Withholding taxes related to restricted stock metre settlemer
Repurchases of common stc
Net cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaéts
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for intere:

Cash paid for income tax

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and incing Activities
Retirement of treasury sto

Short term payable

Purchases of property and equipir

See notes to consolidated financial statements

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
$(20,009 $(146,40) $(67,37%)
18,86 26,09 32,32
— 95,64 92,35(
80¢ — 68C
142 (104) (781)
9,85¢ 10,42¢ 12,01¢
— (549) (15€)
(3,33)) (1,419) —
247 29€ 14€
(4,409) (3,48) 15,30
(186) (6,337) 3,34¢
1,78¢ 45,078 (30,759
2,03( 53¢ (4,587)
494 (161) (1,38
33 (702) (725)
(202) (55¢) 251
6,13: 18,37; 50,66
(3,346) (545 (1,34
(500) (87%) —
— (2,816 (2,51
(2,342) (2,499  (2,51)
(16,600 (50,770 (51,030
26,84 49,76 49,91
28,42 — —
(2,500) — —
— 1,437 —
3,371 47€ —
(89) 2 17
33,27( (10,73) (7,469
1,30( 3,32¢ 457
15,00( — —
(77,500 (12,500 (7,500
(272) — (200)
(484) (2,959 (8,129
— 54z 15€
(1,169 (1,959) (244)
— — (6,157)
(63,119 (13,539 (21,616
7 (47) 6
(23,709 (5,940 21,58
84,17 90,11 68,53
$60,46¢ $ 8417: $90,11]
3,05: 3,76: 4,33:
237 1,56¢ 2,16:
— — 6,15
— — 2,50(
1,83: — 2,041
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QUINSTREET, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The Company

QuinStreet, Inc. (the “Company”) is a leader infpenance marketing online. The Company was incafeat in California on April 16,
1999 and reincorporated in Delaware on Decembe2@19. The Company provides customer acquisitiograms for clients in various
industry verticals such as financial services athatation. The corporate headquarters are locatEdster City, California, with additional
offices in the United States, Brazil and India.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tuwants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Thag2my also evaluates its owners
in entities to determine if they are variable iettrentities (“VIES”)jf the Company has a variable interest in thos#&iestand if the nature a
extent of those interests result in consolidat®efer to Note 4 for more information on VIES. Then@pany applies the cost method of
accounting for investments in entities if the Comypdo not have the ability to exercise significenfiluence over the entities. The interests hel
at cost are periodically evaluated for other-themytorary declines in value. Intercompany balanoéstt@nsactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. Certain amounts have been reclasgisifi conform to current year presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimatesamsgimptions that affect the reported amounts eftassd liabilities, disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effitiancial statements and reported amounts ohieyand expenses during the reporting perio
These estimates are based on information avaitshtd the date of the financial statements; theeefactual results could differ from those
estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Direct Marketing Services (“DMS”) revenue, whichnstituted more than 99% in fiscal year 2015, 2@, 2013, is derived from fees
which are earned through the delivery of qualifiesds, clicks, calls, customers and, to a lessengxdisplay advertisements, or impressions.
The Company recognizes revenue when persuasivermgdf an arrangement exists, delivery has oatutine fee is fixed or determinable i
collectability is reasonably assured. Deliveryégnhed to have occurred at the time a qualified, lieadiry, click, call, application, customer
impression is delivered to the client provided thatsignificant obligations remain.

The Company allocates revenue in an arrangemeny tis¢ estimated selling price (“ESP”) of delivdeahif it does not have vendor-
specific objective evidence (“WSOE”") of selling geibased on historical stand-alone sales or thartdsvidence (“TPE”) of selling price. Due
to the unique nature of some of its multiple deflde revenue arrangements, the Company may refblbdo establish selling prices based or
historical stand-alone sales or third-party eviderticerefore the Company may use its best estitoatstablish selling prices for these
arrangements under the standard. The Company ishbbest estimates within a range of sellingegrizonsidering multiple factors includir
but not limited to, class of client, size of tractéan, available media inventory, pricing strategad market conditions. The Company believe
the use of the best estimate of selling price aloswvenue recognition in a manner consistent vaghunderlying economics of the transaction.
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From time to time, the Company may agree to ci@ditent for certain leads, inquiries, clicks, salpplications, customers or
impressions if they fail to meet the contractuabthrer guidelines of a particular client. The Comphas established a sales reserve based or
historical experience. To date, such credits haenlwithin management’s expectations.

For a portion of its revenue, the Company has agee¢s with providers of online media or traffic btighers, used in the generation of
qualified leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applioas, and customers. The Company receives a feeifsoclients and pays a fee to publishers as
portion of revenue generated or on a cost per lazat,per click or cost per thousand impressiosissbdahe Company is the primary obligor in
the transaction. As a result, the fees paid byChmpany’s clients are recognized as revenue aniéésepaid to its publishers are included in
cost of revenue.

All other revenue, which constituted less than b%idcal year 2015, 2014, and 2013, comprise®(fup and professional services fees
and (ii) usage fees. Set-up and professional sefeies that do not provide stand-alone value {@eatare recognized over the contractual tern
of the agreement or the expected client relatignpbriod, whichever is longer, effective when tpplecation reaches the “go-live” date. The
Company defines the “go-live” date as the date wherapplication enters into a production environtrar all essential functionalities have
been delivered. Usage fees are recognized on ahiydrasis as earned.

Deferred revenue is comprised of contractual lgim excess of recognized revenue and paymerds/egcin advance of revenue
recognition.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to significant concentrations of credik kensist principally of cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivable. The Compamyéstment portfolio consists of money market fur@ash is deposited with financial
institutions that management believes are credttwoiTo date, the Company has not experienceda@sses on its investment portfolio.

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived frigents located principally in the United StateeeTCompany performs ongoing
credit evaluation of its clients, does not requinélateral, and maintains allowances for potertialit losses on client accounts when deemed
necessary. No client accounted for 10% or moresbfcounts receivable or net revenue for fiscatyy2015, 2014 or 2013.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments consist priatlipof cash equivalents, accounts receivable, @aisopayable, an acquisition-related
promissory note and a revolving loan facility. Tae value of the Company’s cash equivalents igiheined based on quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets for its money marlkatdé. The recorded values of the Company’s accaantivable and accounts payable
approximate their current fair values due to thatieely short-term nature of these accounts. Hievialue of the acquisition-related
promissory note approximates its recorded amowntlainterest rates on similar financing arrangemavailable to the Company at June 30,
2015 approximate the interest rates implied wherattguisition-related promissory note was originefued and recorded. The Company
believes that the fair value of the revolving Idaaility approximates its recorded amount at Jube2B15 as the interest rate on the revolving
loan facility is variable and is based on marké&triest rates and after consideration of defaultaadit risk.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with maturities of e months or less at the date of purchase arsifddsas cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents consist of money market funds at Jin@@15.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization, and areedggied on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of the assets, as fallow

Computer equipmet 3 years

Software 3 years

Furniture and fixture 3to 5 year:

Leasehold improvements the shorter of the lease term or the estimatediLbeds of the
improvements

Internal Software Development Costs

The Company incurs costs to develop software fierital use. The Company expenses all costs traere the planning and post-
implementation phases of development as produaldement expense. Costs incurred in the developpteade are capitalized and amortized
over the product’s estimated useful life if thedot is expected to have a useful life beyond sixtms. Costs associated with repair or
maintenance of existing sites or the developmeitgebsite content are included in cost of revemuthé accompanying statements of
operations. The Company’s policy is to amortizeitediped internal software development costs omaalpct-by-product basis using the
straight-line method over the estimated econorfecdf the application, which is generally two yearee Company capitalized $2.5 million,
$2.5 million, and $2.5 million in fiscal years 202914 and 2013. Amortization of internal softwdexvelopment costs is reflected in cost of
revenue.

Goodwill

The Company conducts a test for the impairmenbofwill at the reporting unit level on at leastaamual basis and whenever there are
events or changes in circumstances that would fil@lg than not reduce the estimated fair valua oéporting unit below its carrying value.
Application of the goodwill impairment test requereidgment, including the identification of repagiunits, assigning assets and liabilities to
reporting units, assigning goodwill to reportingtanand determining the fair value of each repgrtinit. Significant judgments required to
estimate the fair value of reporting units inclid#imating future cash flows and determining appad@ discount rates, growth rates, an
appropriate control premium and other assumptiGhanges in these estimates and assumptions cotédiafig affect the determination of fi
value for each reporting unit which could triggepiairment.

The Company has two reporting units for purposealotating and testing goodwill, DMS and DSS. Twmpany performed its annual
goodwill impairment test on April 30, 2015 for fadgyear 2015. The Company conducted a qualitaggessment to determine whether it is
necessary to perform a two-step quantitative golbdwpairment test. In assessing the qualitativetdes, the Company considered the impact
of key factors such as changes in industry and etitiye environment, stock price, actual revenudqumance compared to previous years,
forecasts and cash flow generation. Based on thatseof the qualitative assessment, there weliadioators of impairment.

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairirtest on April 30, 2014 for fiscal year 2014. \Whihe Company was permitted to
conduct a qualitative assessment to determine whéttvas necessary to perform a two-step quaivitaoodwill impairment test, for its
annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth geanf fiscal 2014, the Company performed a quantégest for both of its reporting units.

In the first step of the annual impairment test, @ompany compared the fair value of each repottimgto its carrying value. The
Company estimated the fair value of the DSS reponinit using only the income approach as marketparables were not meaningful. The
Company concluded that the carrying value of the
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DSS reporting unit exceeded its estimated fairealiherefore it performed a Step 2 analysis, asired, and recorded a goodwill impairment
charge of $1.2 million for the entire goodwill ¢ IDSS reporting unit. The Company estimated tiresédue of its DMS reporting unit based
on the Company’s market capitalization and deteechithat there were no instances of impairmensibMS reporting unit.

The Company’s public market capitalization sustdiaelecline after June 30, 2014 primarily due to@empany’s operating results in
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, to a vadletow the net book carrying value of the Compaegjgity. As a result, the Company
determined that this triggered the necessity taloohan interim goodwill impairment test as of J80e 2014. The Company first tested the
long-lived assets related to the DMS reporting asibf June 30, 2014 and, based on the undiscouastdflows, determined that these assets
were not impaired.

A two-step process was then required to test gdbahapairment. The first step was to determinehiéite is an indication of impairment
by comparing the estimated fair value to its cagyvalue including goodwill. Goodwill is considergdpaired if the carrying value exceeds
estimated fair value. Upon indication of impairmemsecond step is performed to determine the ahafuhe impairment by comparing the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’'s goodwiliith its carrying value.

The Company estimated the fair value of its DMSrépg unit using a weighting of fair values dedveost significantly from the
market approach which approximated the Companyiket@&apitalization and to a lesser extent thenme@pproach. Under the market
approach, the Company utilized publicly-traded camaple company information to determine revenueemmdings multiples that are used to
value its reporting units adjusted for an estimai@atrol premium. As the DMS reporting unit reprgsel substantially the entire Company, the
market approach was reconciled to the Company’&enhaapitalization. Under the income approachGbepany estimated the fair value of a
reporting unit based on the present value of estichtuture cash flows. Cash flow projections wegisddl on management’s estimates of
revenue growth rates and operating margins, takitogconsideration industry and market conditioFtse discount rate used was based on the
weighted-average cost of capital adjusted for éhevant risk associated with business-specificaittaristics and the uncertainty related to the
reporting unit’s ability to execute on the projettash flows.

The second step of the goodwill impairment tesuiregl the Company to fair value all assets andliiggs of its DMS reporting unit to
determine the implied fair value of goodwill. Ther@pany compared the implied fair value of the répgrunit’s goodwill to its carrying
value. This test resulted in a non-cash goodwiflaimment charge in aggregate of $95.6 million far year ended June 30, 2014. The inputs
used to measure the estimated fair value of gobdvélclassified as a Level 3 fair value measurdrdea to the significance of unobservable
inputs in income approach using company specifarimation.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates lotiged assets, such as property and equipment arth@sed intangible assets with finite lives, fopairmen:
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying value of an asset may not beverable. The Company applies
judgment when assessing the fair value of the sitbseted on the undiscounted future cash flowssbetsiare expected to generate
recognizes an impairment loss if estimated undistamlifuture cash flows expected to result fromube of the asset plus net proceeds exp
from disposition of the asset, if any, are lessitthee carrying value of the asset. When the Comdantifies an impairment, it reduces the
carrying amount of the asset to its estimatedviaime based on a discounted cash flow approachtam available and appropriate, to
comparable market values. As mentioned in the Gdbsl&ction above, our public market capitalizatsrstained a decline after June 30, 201
and, based on the undiscounted cash flows, detedhtitat these assets were not impaired as of Jyr0324. The Company re-evaluated its
long-lived assets as of April 30, 2015 and deteedithat these assets were not impaired.
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Intangible asset are amortized on a straight-la@sbover the estimated useful lives of the as$és weighted average useful life of intangible
assets was 8 years as of June 30, 2015 and 7aseafsune 30, 2014.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs the fing the advertising takes place. The Company’s &dirgg costs were $0.7 million and
$1.1 million in fiscal years 2015 and 2014. The @amy did not incur any advertising costs for fispedr 2013.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using arn asddiability approach to record deferred taxdse Company’s deferred income
tax assets represent temporary differences betthedinancial statement carrying amount and thebtesis of existing assets and liabilities tha
will result in deductible amounts in future yea@ssed on estimates, the carrying value of the Cogipaet deferred tax assets assumes that
is more likely than not that the Company will bdeato generate sufficient future taxable incoméhim respective tax jurisdictions. The
Company’s judgments regarding future profitabilitgy change due to future market conditions, chamgesS. or international tax laws and
other factors.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s foreign operations are subject thvaxge rate fluctuations. The majority of the Conyp@sales and expenses are
denominated in U.S. dollars. The functional curgefor the majority of the Company’s foreign subaiis is the U.S. dollar. For these
subsidiaries, assets and liabilities denominatddrigign currency are remeasured into U.S. dob&usurrent exchange rates for monetary asse
and liabilities and historical exchange rates fmnmonetary assets and liabilities. Net revenug, @afagvenue and expenses are generally
remeasured at average exchange rates in effecigdeaich period. Gains and losses from foreign nayreemeasurement are included in other
income (expense), net in the consolidated statenfesyierations. Certain foreign subsidiaries destigithe local currency as their functional
currency. For those subsidiaries, the assets ahiiities are translated into U.S. dollars at exgerates in effect at the balance sheet date.
Income and expense items are translated at avexapange rates for the period. The foreign curréranyslation adjustments are included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss as a semaraonent of stockholders’ equity. Foreign curretrapsaction gains and losses are
recorded in other income (expense), net and wereaterial for any period presented.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of two componentdpagtand other comprehensive income (loss). Othrpeehensive income (loss)
refers to revenue, expenses, gains, and lossesrttlat GAAP are recorded as an element of stockhgldquity but are excluded from net
loss. The Company’s comprehensive loss and accteaduteher comprehensive loss consists of foreigreagy translation adjustments from
those subsidiaries not using the U.S. dollar ais thectional currency, unrealized gains and lossesnarketable securities categorized as
available-for-sale and unrealized gains and losedbe interest rate swap. Total accumulated abeprehensive loss is displayed as a
separate component of stockholders’ equity.

Derivative Instrument

During the third quarter of fiscal year 2012, then@bany entered into an interest rate swap agreciméwidge the interest rate exposure
relating to its borrowing under its term loan figil The Company does not speculate using derigatistruments. The Company entered into
this derivative instrument arrangement solely far purpose of risk management.
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The current and noncurrent portion of the interatd swap was recorded in accrued liabilities ahdrdiabilities, noncurrent,
respectively, on the consolidated balance shedéératalue based upon quoted market prices at 30n2014. Changes in the fair value of this
interest rate swap are recorded in other comprére(isss) income because the Company has desiyjttedeswap as a cash flow hedge. Gain:
or losses on the interest rate swap as reportethér comprehensive income (loss) are classifigdtevest expense in the period the hedged
item affects earnings. In June 2015, in conjunctidth the termination of the term loan facility etiCompany terminated its interest rate swap.
Refer to Note 8, Debt, for additional informati@ygarding the Company’s interest rate swap.

Loss Contingencies

The Company is subject to the possibility of vasidmss contingencies arising in the ordinary coofdeusiness. Management considers
the likelihood of loss or impairment of an assethar incurrence of a liability, as well as its &hito reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in
determining loss contingencies. An estimated lasgisgency is accrued when it is probable thatsaethas been impaired or a liability has
been incurred and the amount of loss can be reboestimated. The Company regularly evaluatesetiiinformation available to its
management to determine whether such accrualsasbhewdjusted and whether new accruals are required

From time to time, the Company is involved in diggsy litigation and other legal actions. The Comypatords a charge equal to at least
the minimum estimated liability for a loss contingg only when both of the following conditions anet: (i) information available prior to
issuance of the financial statements indicatesitlimprobable that an asset had been impairedliability had been incurred at the date of the
financial statements, and (ii) the range of logsloareasonably estimated. The actual liabilitgrig such matters may be materially different
from the Company'’s estimates, which could resuthanneed to adjust the liability and record addil expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and records the expensalriatck-based transactions based on the faiesaf stock-based payment
awards, as determined on the date of grant. Tmatithe fair value of stock options, the Compagigated the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. In applying the Black-Scholes option pricngdel, the Company’s determination of the faiueabf the stock option is affected by
assumptions regarding a number of highly compleksarjective variables. These variables includéabel not limited to, the Company’s
expected stock price volatility over the term o #tock options and the employees’ actual and giexjestock option exercise and pre-vesting
employment termination behaviors. The fair valueestricted stock units is determined based orlibeing price of the Company’s common
stock on the date of grant.

For awards with graded vesting the Company recegrstock-based compensation expense over theiteqgsvice period using the
straight-line method, based on awards ultimatepyeeted to vest. The Company estimates future tarés at the date of grant and revises the
estimates, if necessary, in subsequent perioadutbforfeitures differ from those estimates. ReéfeNote 10, Stock Benefit Plans, for
additional information regarding stock-based congadon.

401(k) Savings Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribytlan covering all U.S. employees. There were noleyep contributions under this
plan for fiscal years 2015, 2014 or 2013.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the FASB issued a new accountingdstechupdate on the financial presentation of urgeized tax benefits. The new
guidance provides that a liability related to amewognized tax benefit would be presented as reduof a deferred tax asset for a net
operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss.¢ax credit carryforward if such settlement isuieed or expected in the event the uncertair
position is disallowed. The new guidance becomfes®de for fiscal years beginning after Decembgr 2014, and it should be applied
prospectively to unrecognized tax benefits thastexti the effective date, although retrospectiy@iegtion is permitted. The adoption of this
standard is not expected to have a material efiethe Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued a new accounting stahdpdate on revenue from contracts with cliéfit® new guidance provides that
an entity should recognize revenue to depict thestier of promised goods or services to customeas iamount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exagefor those goods or services. The new guidaecerhes effective for fiscal years beginn
after December 15, 2017, and interim periods withose years with early adoption permitted. The Gamy is currently assessing the impact
of this new guidance.

In June 2014, the FASB issued a new accountinglatdrupdate on accounting for share-based paymém@s the terms of an award
provide that a performance target could be achievel the requisite service period, which amen8€A'18, “Compensation — Stock
Compensation.” The amendment provides guidancéeiréatment of shared-based payment awards sjplecific performance target,
requiring that a performance target that affectting and that could be achieved after the recussitvice period be treated as a performance
condition. The new guidance becomes effectiveifmal years, and interim periods within those yelaeginning after December 15, 2015 with
early adoption permitted. The Company is curreetigluating the impact of this guidance.

In August 2014, the FASB issued new guidance rélaighe disclosures around going concern. Thestandard provides guidance
around management’s responsibility to evaluate drahere is substantial doubt about an entityiktybo continue as a going concern and to
provide related footnote disclosures. The new quidédbecomes effective for fiscal years beginnitgrabecember 15, 2016, and interim
periods within those years, with early adoptiompéted. The adoption of this standard is not expet¢d have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued a new accountingidtad update on the presentation of debt issuarsts.cThe new guidance provides
that debt issuance costs related to a recogniZetdidbility be presented as a direct reductiomfrits carrying value. The new guidance
becomes effective for fiscal years beginning ditecember 15, 2015, and interim periods within thasars, with early adoption permitted. ~
adoption of this standard is not expected to havaterial impact on the Company’s consolidatedrfoia statements.

3. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividirtdoss by the weighted average number of sharesrmafon stock outstanding during
the period. Diluted net loss per share is comphbiedsing the weighted-average number of sharesrohwon stock outstanding, including
potential dilutive shares of common stock assuntiegdilutive effect of outstanding stock optionsl aastricted stock units using the treasury
stock method.
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The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted net loss per share:

Fiscal Year Ended
2015 2014 2013
(In thousands, excep
per share data)

Numerator:
Basic and Diluted
Net loss $(20,009) $(146,40) $(67,377)
Denominator
Basic and Diluted
Weighted average shares of common stock used ipwiimy basic and diluted net loss per

share 44,45¢ 43,52¢ 42,81¢
Net loss per shar
Basic and Dilute(® $ (045 $ (336 $ (1.5
Securities excluded from weighted average shams inscomputing diluted net loss per share bece
the effect would have been &dilutive: @ 8,19¢ 8,84: 9,417

@ Diluted EPS does not reflect any potential comntonlsrelating to stock options or restricted staclits due to net loss incurred for fis

years 2015, 2014 and 2013. The assumed issuamaecy @fdditional shares would be «dilutive.

These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutive stiations and restricted stock units as calculagdguthe treasury stock method and
could be dilutive in the future

@

4. Fair Value Measurements, Marketable Securitiesrad Variable Interest Entities
Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would lmeireed on sale of an asset or paid to transfextdity (“exit price”) in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the ureasent date. The FASB has established a fair \rd@krarchy that distinguishes between
(1) market participant assumptions developed basadarket data obtained from independent sourdese(@able inputs) and (2) an entity’s
own assumptions about market participant assunptieneloped based on the best information availatitee circumstances (unobservable
inputs). The fair value hierarchy consists of thoeaad levels, which gives the highest priorityuttadjusted quoted prices in active markets fol
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and thevést priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy urttierguidance for fair value measurement are desitielow:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices fivaenarkets for identical assets or liabilitiesicirg inputs are based upon
quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities that the reporting entity has #islity to access at the measurement date.
The valuations are based on quoted prices of terlying security that are readily and regularlgiéable in an active market, and
accordingly, a significant degree of judgment is iegjuired. As of June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Compaed Level 1 assumptions for
money market funds.

Level 2 —Pricing inputs are based upon quoted prices follairimstruments in active markets, quoted priee@sdentical or simils
instruments in markets that are not active, andahbdsed valuation techniques for which all sigmifit assumptions are observable in
the market or can be corroborated by observabl&ehdata for substantially the full term of theeatssor liabilities. As of June 30, 2015
and
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2014, the Company used Level 2 assumptions fdt.Bs municipal securities, certificates of depaaijuisitionrelated promissory note
revolving loan facility, term loan facility, andtarest rate swap.

Level 3 — Pricing inputs are generally unobservdbighe assets or liabilities and include situasiavhere there is little, if any,
market activity for the investment. The inputs itlte determination of fair value require managefsgntigment or estimation of
assumptions that market participants would useiging the assets or liabilities. The fair values therefore determined using model-
based techniques that include option pricing modi¢sounted cash flow models, and similar techesgés of June 30, 2015 and 2014,
the Company did not have any Level 3 financial &sseliabilities.

The Company'’s financial assets and liabilities fa3ume 30, 2015 and 2014 were categorized as fellnvthe fair value hierarchy (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2015 Usi

Quoted Prices in Significant Other
Active Markets
for Identical Assets Observable
Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
Assets:
Money market fund $ 20,15¢ $ — $ 20,15¢
Liabilities:
Acquisitior-related promissory no® $ — $ 49 $ 49
Revolving loan facility® — 15,00( 15,00(
$ — $ 15,04¢ $ 15,04¢
Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2014 Usi
Quoted Prices in Significant Other
Active Markets
for Identical Assets Observable
Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
Assets:
U.S. municipal securitie $ — $ 12,81¢ $ 12,81¢
Certificates of depos — 26,29: 26,29
Money market fund 38,64 — 38,64
$ 3864 $_ 39,10¢ $ 77,75
Liabilities:
Acquisitior-related promissory not«® $ — $ 603 $ 602
Term loan facility® — 76,66( 76,66(
Interest rate swa — 63C 63C
$ — $ 77,89: $ 77,89

@ These liabilities are carried at historical costiom Comparn's consolidated balance she:

Marketable Securities

All liquid investments with maturities of three ntha or less at the date of purchase are classifiaxhsh equivalents. Investments with
maturities greater than three months at the dapeiathase are classified as marketable secufitres Company’s marketable securities have
been classified and accounted for as availablesdite: Management determines the appropriate dtzggin of its investments at the time of
purchase and reevaluates the available-for-salgra®®on as of each balance sheet date. Availablsdle securities are carried
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at fair value, with unrealized gains and lossesph&ax, reported in accumulated comprehensive &ssa component of stockholders’ equity
and are presented as current assets as they debbke/Bor current operations.

The following table summarizes unrealized gainslasdes related to cash equivalents and availalisdie securities held by the
Company as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands)

As of June 30 201!

Gross Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealizec Unrealizec
Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Money market funds $20,15¢ $  — $ — $20,15¢
As of June 30, 201«
Gross Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. municipal securities $12,81: $ 4 $ — $12,81¢
Certificates of depos 26,33( — 37 26,29:
Money market fund 38,64 — — 38,64
$77,78: $ 4 $ 37 $77,75(

The Company realized losses of an immaterial amfant sales of its securities for the year endete R0, 2015. The Company did not
realize any gains or losses from sales of its siesifor the year ended June 30, 2014. As of Bh&015 and 2014, the Company did not hol
securities that had maturity dates greater tharyeae

Variable Interest Entities

In April 2015, the Company purchased an interest jimivately held entity that is a VIE. A VIE ismsolidated by its primary beneficiary.
The primary beneficiary has both the power to ditkee activities that most significantly impact thetity’'s economic performance and the
obligation to absorb losses or the right to recéierefits from the entity that could potentiallydignificant to the VIE. The assessment of
whether the Company is the primary beneficiaryhef VIE require significant assumptions and judgmeinicluding the identification of
significant activities and an assessment of oditalid direct those activities. Based on the resof the assessment performed, the Company
has concluded that it is not the primary beneficas it does not have the ability to exert sigaificinfluence over the VIE's operations.
Accordingly, the interest of $2.5 million as of &80, 2015 is recognized at cost in other assets;uirent on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet. The Company’s interest was eval@@atétpairment as of June 30, 2015 which did mstit in any indications of impairment.
The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a rektite unconsolidated VIE was $2.5 million at J8@¢ 2015, which represents the value
of the Company’s investment in the VIE.

5. Balance Sheet Components
Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable, net is comprised of the folfay(in thousands):

June 30
2015 2014
Accounts receivable $48,30¢ $43,90
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour (440 (364
Less: Allowance for sales retur (1,629 (1,559
$46,24( $41,97¢
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Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net is comprised of thewehg (in thousands):

June 30,

2015 2014
Computer equipment $ 13,65¢ $ 15,111
Software 11,07¢ 10,50¢
Furniture and fixture 3,12« 3,024
Leasehold improvemen 1,80¢ 1,79¢
Internal software development co 26,05¢ 23,60:
55,72: 54,04:
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (47,156 (42,910
$ 8,56t $11,12¢

Depreciation expense was $4.0 million, $3.9 millgord $3.3 million for fiscal years 2015, 2014 ad2 Amortization expense related
to internal software development costs was $2.4anjl$2.6 million and $2.2 million for fiscal yeaR015, 2014 and 2013.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Prepaid expenses and other assets are comprisiegl following (in thousands):

June 30,
2015 2014
Income tax receivable $ 9,71¢ $ 9,33¢
Prepaid expenst 1,571 1,64¢
Other asset 213 665
Total prepaid expenses and other as $11,50: $11,64:
Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities are comprised of the followifig thousands):
June 30
2015 2014
Accrued media costs $14,72¢ $14,40"
Accrued compensation and related expenses andpayeble 8,001 7,10z
Accrued professional service and other businessresqs 4,411 6,34
Total accrued liabilitie: $27,14¢ $27,85¢
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6. Intangible Assets, Net and Gooduwiill
Intangible assets, net consisted of the followinglousands):

June 30, 201* June 30, 201¢
Gross Accumulated Net Gross Accumulated Net
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Customer/publisher/advertiser relationships $ 37,05¢ $ (33,91 $ 3,14C $ 37,04 $ (31,187 $ 5,85¢
Content 62,16: (54,629 7,53 62,19¢ (50,349 11,84¢
Website/trade/domain nam 31,53: (24,697 6,83¢ 31,65 (21,487 10,17(
Acquired technology and othe 36,74 (35,22) 1,521 36,744 (33,176 3,56¢

$167,49: $(148,46) $19,03( $167,63: $(136,19) $31,44:

Amortization of intangible assets was $12.5 mil]i$69.6 million and $26.8 million for fiscal yee2815, 2014 and 2013.

Amortization expense for the Company’s acquisitielated intangible assets as of June 30, 2015afdh ef the next five years and
thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending June 30, Amortization
2016 $ 9,27¢
2017 6,07¢
2018 1,991
2019 79¢
2020 775
Thereaftel 11C

$ 19,03(

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillffecal years 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in siamals):

Total
Balance at June 30, 2013 $150,45¢
Additions 63€
Impairment (95,64)
Balance at June 30, 20 $ 55,451
Additions 667
Balance at June 30, 20 $ 56,11¢

The additions to goodwill in fiscal year 2015 relé the Company’s acquisition of a Brazil-baseliheread generation company in
exchange for $0.5 million in cash upon closinghaf &cquisition and estimated payments totaling 80li8n to be paid in the five years
following the acquisition date upon the achievenwrtertain financial metrics.

The additions to goodwill in fiscal year 2014 reléd the Company’s acquisition of an online pulitighbusiness in exchange for $0.9
million.

There was no impairment charge recorded duringlfigear 2015. The impairment charge recorded ddiéogl year 2014 is described in
Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Polici
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7. Income Taxes
The components of loss before income taxes arellasvs (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
us $(18,917) $(109,25) $(89,08Y)
Foreign (1,335 (93¢) (4,886

$(20,25)  $(110,19)  $(93,979)

The components of the (benefit from) provisiontiotes are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
Current
Federa $(2,140) $(8,885) $ 3,38¢
State (149 (374 577
Foreign 12¢ 361 36&
Total current (benefit from) provision for incomexes $(2,160) $(8,89¢) $ 4,33(
Deferred
Federa $ 1,95¢ $42,84: $(29,76%)
State — 2,26t (1,249
Foreign (38) — 81
Total deferred provision for (benefit from) incoraxes 1,91¢ 45,10% (30,93)
(Benefit from) provision for income tax $ (249 $36,20¢ $(26,607)

The reconciliation between the statutory federabime tax and the Compagsyeffective tax rates as a percentage of incomarédficom:
taxes is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

June 30,

2015 2014 2013
Federal tax rate 34.(% 34.(% 35.(%
States taxes, net of federal ben 5.8% 2.4% 0.%
Foreign rate differentic 1.1)% (0.6)% (1.1)%
Stocl-based compensation expel (13.9% (3.6% (1.7%
Change in valuation allowan: (25.0% (60.5% (1.0%
Impairment of goodwil — (4.9% (4.6)%
Research and development cre 1.€% 0.2% —
Other (0.8% (0.7% 0.8%
Effective income tax rat 1.2% (32.8% 28.2%
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The components of the current and long-term dedaar (liabilities) assets, net are as followstfioausands):

Fiscal Year Ended

June 30,
2015 2014

Current:

Reserves and accrui $ 3,091 $ 2,68¢

Stock options 1,94 2,03t

Other 74 91
Total current deferred tax ass 5,10 4,81z

Valuation allowance ST (4,940 (4,589)
Current deferred tax assets, $ 16€ $ 22¢
Noncurrent:

Reserves and accrus $ 1,13 $ 1,30¢

Stock options 5,82t 6,10¢

Intangible assel 53,26! 57,08:

Net operating los 5,71 25E

Fixed asset (702) (1,199

Tax Credits 2,78¢ 1,56¢

Other 93 167
Total noncurrent deferred tax ass 68,11: 65,29¢

Valuation allowance LT (68,307 (63,587
Noncurrent deferred tax (liabilities) assets, $ (189 $ 1,712
Total deferred tax (liabilities) assets, $ (22 $ 1,93

The Company recorded a valuation allowance ag#iestajority of the Company’s deferred tax assetseaend of fiscal year 2014 due
to the significant negative evidence that the meam realization of certain assets were deemedeigliThe Company regularly assesses the
continuing need for a valuation allowance agaitsstieéferred tax assets. Significant judgment isireq to determine whether a valuation
allowance continues to be necessary and the anodsaoth valuation allowance, if appropriate. Tharpany considers all available evidence,
both positive and negative to determine, basedenveight of available evidence, whether it is mikely than not that some or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. In eviigahe continued need for a valuation allowarmee@ompany considers, among other things,
the nature, frequency and severity of current amdutative losses, forecasts of future profitabjland the duration of statutory carryforward
periods. As of June 30, 2015, the Company beligvesiot more likely than not that the net defdrtax assets will be fully realizable and
therefore continues to maintain a full valuatiolewhnce against its deferred tax assets.

As of June 30, 2015, the Company had a federabtipgrloss carryforward of approximately $14.1 raill As of June 30, 2015, the
Company’s state operating loss carryforward wasapmately $13.8 million. Included in the feder@lifornia and other state net operating
loss carryovers above was $0.1 million, $0.2 millamd $0.3 million, respectively, related to stogkion windfall deductions which, when
realized will be credited to equity. The federati @tate net operating loss carryforwards may bgesuto various limitations under the Internal
Revenue Code and applicable state tax law. Thedbdad state net operating losses, if not usetipegin to expire on June 30, 2035 and
June 30, 2034, respectively. The operating losyfmaward in Brazil is approximately $0.8 milliomd does not have an expiration date. The
operating loss carryforward in India is approxinha&2.5 million which will begin to expire on Jud®, 2020. The Company has federal and
California research and development tax credityemwards of approximately
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$1.0 million and $3.8 million, respectively, to séft future taxable income. The federal researctdendlopment tax credits, if not used, will
begin to expire on June 30, 2033, while the statectedit carry-forwards do not have an expiratiate and may be carried forward
indefinitely.

United States federal income taxes have not bemrided for the $2.0 million of cumulative undistiiied earnings of the Company’s
foreign subsidiaries as of June 30, 2015. The Cayipgresent intention is that such undistributathangs be permanently reinvested
offshore, with the exception of the undistributedreéngs of its Canadian subsidiary. The Companylevba subject to additional United States
taxes if these earnings were repatriated. The atafuhe unrecognized deferred income tax liabitédated to these earnings is not material tc
the financial statements.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending ameurftunrecognized tax benefits is as follows (iouands):

Fiscal Year

2015 2014 2013
Balance at the beginning of the year $3,071 $2,69: $2,43¢
Gross increase- current period tax positior 337 37¢ 38¢
Gross increase- prior period tax position 11t 323 132
Gross decreast prior period tax position (49) — —
Reductions as a result of lapsed statute of limitat (222) (3179) (265)
Balance at the end of the ye $3,26: $3,077 $2,69:

The Company’s policy is to include interest andgiées related to unrecognized tax benefits withenCompany’s benefit from
(provision for) income taxes. As of June 30, 2ah& Company has accrued $1.1 million for interest penalties related to the unrecognized
tax benefits. The balance of unrecognized tax lisrefid the related interest and penalties is dexbas a noncurrent liability on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

As of June 30, 2015, unrecognized tax benefit2dd fillion, if recognized, would affect the Compameffective tax rate. The Compe
does not anticipate that the amount of existinggeoognized tax benefits will significantly increawedecrease within the next 12 months.

The Company is no longer subject to U.S. fedetatesand local, or non-U.S., income tax examinatioyntax authorities for years before
2010. The Company files income tax returns in thééd States, various U.S. states and certaingoieirisdictions. As of June 30, 2015, the
tax years 2010 through 2014 remain open in the, th8.tax years 2010 through 2014 remain opendrvéious state jurisdictions, and the tax
years 2012 through 2014 remain open in variouddorgirisdictions.

8. Debt
Loan Facility

In November 2011, the Company was party to a cegtitement (“Credit Agreement”) with Comerica Bdifle “Bank”), the
administrative agent and lead arranger. The Chggliéement consisted of a $100.0 million five-yesant loan facility, with annual principal
amortization of 5%, 10%, 15%, 20% and 50%, and@@%¥2million five-year revolving loan facility maiag on November 4, 2016.

On February 15, 2013, the Company entered int&-itts®¢ Amendment to Credit Agreement and Amendme@uaranty (“First
Amendment”) with the Bank to, among other thind9:dmend the definition of
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EBITDA; and (2) reduce the $200.0 million five-ygarolving loan facility to $100.0 million, effestt as of February 15, 2013.

On July 17, 2014, the Company entered into the iI®kéanendment to Credit Agreement (“Second Amendievith the Bank to,
among other things, amend the financial covenams@duce the revolving loan facility from $100.0lion to $50.0 million, each effective as
of June 30, 2014. Upfront arrangement fees incurr@dnnection with the Second Amendment totale® $@illion and were deferred and
amortized over the remaining term of the arrangenmarconnection with the reduction of the revolyiloan facility credit line capacity, the
Company accelerated amortization of approximatély $nillion of unamortized deferred upfront costs.

On June 11, 2015, the Company entered into thel Arinendment to Credit Agreement (“Third Amendmeniti)h the Bank to, among
other things, pay off in full and terminate thentdoan facility, amend the financial covenantsuemlthe revolving loan facility from $50.0
million to $25.0 million, and extend the expiratidate of the Credit Agreement from November 4, 2@l8une 11, 2017. Pursuant to the Thirc
Amendment, each of the revolving loan facility lensl(other than the Bank) assigned its revolvimg Ifacility credit commitments to the
Bank, resulting in the Bank remaining as sole lengeler the Credit Agreement. Upfront arrangemeesfincurred in connection with the
Third Amendment were not material. In connectiothwiine termination of the term loan facility, ther@pany accelerated amortization of
approximately $0.5 million of unamortized deferrgafront costs.

The Credit Agreement, as amended from time to timsecured by substantially all of the Compang'sess. Borrowings under the
revolving loan facility are subject to a borrowibgse consisting of eligible receivables and cex#tier customary conditions.

Pursuant to the Second Amendment, (1) the appéaalargin for base rate borrowings was set at @586 for the revolving loan facili
or (b) 1.75% for the term loan facility, and (2gthpplicable margin for Eurodollar rate borrowinggss set at (a) 2.375% for the revolving loan
facility or (b) 2.75% for the term loan facility h€reafter, the applicable margin on base rate amdddllar rate borrowings varied depending
on our funded debt to EBITDA ratio.

Pursuant to the Third Amendment, borrowings unkerrévolving loan facility bear interest at a Ewibar rate plus 3.00%, without
reference to the Company’s funded debt to EBITD#ora

EBITDA under the Credit Agreement is defined asloss less benefit from (provision for) taxes, éspution expense, amortization
expense, stock-based compensation expense, inaeksther expense, net, acquisition costs fomiessicombinations, extraordinary or non-
recurring non-cash expenses or losses includintowi limitation, goodwill impairments, and any edrdinary or nomecurring cash expens
in an aggregate amount not to exceed $5.0 milloritfe life of the Credit Agreement, as amendethftione to time. The Company must pay
an annual facility fee of $62,500 and an annuabediuee of 0.25% of the undrawn revolving loanliigocredit commitments. The Company
has the right to prepay the revolving loan facititypermanently reduce the revolving loan faciitgdit commitments without premium or
penalty, in whole or in part at any time.

The Credit Agreement, as amended, contains liroitaton the Company’s ability to sell assets, makgigitions, pay dividends, incur
capital expenditures, and also requires the Comfmogmply with certain additional covenants. lmigidn, pursuant to the Third Amendment,
the Company is required to maintain
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financial covenants as follows when there are artsoutstanding under the revolving loan facilityiroorder to draw down amounts under the
revolving loan facility:
1. Minimum EBITDA as of the end of each fiscal dearfor the trailing twelve month period of notdehan:
(a) $1 for the quarter ending June 30, 2015;
(b) $2,000,000 for the quarter ending SeptembeRG05;
(c) $3,000,000 for the quarter ending Decembel815;
(d) $4,000,000 for the quarter ending March 31,6201
(e) $5,000,000 for the quarter ending June 30, 2016
Thereafter, minimum EBITDA increases each quarteés1,000,000 increments; provided that there $fealio loss in EBITDA
greater than $2,000,000 in any fiscal quarter dusiinch trailing four quarter period.
2. Minimum adjusted quick ratio as of the end aftemonth of not less than 1.25 to 1.00.
The Company was in compliance with the covenanteeCredit Agreement, as amended, as of June03®, &nd 2014.

As of June 30, 2015, there were no amounts outstgnohder the term loan facility, as the term Iéacility had been terminated on
June 11, 2015. There was $77.5 million outstandimder the term loan facility as of June 30, 2014 oAJune 30, 2015, $15.0 million was
outstanding under the revolving loan facility. T&ere no amounts outstanding under the revolviag facility as of June 30, 2014.

Interest Rate Swap

The Company entered into an interest rate swapdoce its exposure to the financial impact of civapiterest rates under its term loan
facility. The swap encompasses the principal baarscheduled to be outstanding as of January 4, &@d thereafter, such principal amount
totaling $85.0 million in January 2014 and amontigto $35.0 million in November 2016. The effectdete of the swap is April 9, 2012 with a
maturity date of November 4, 2016. The swap agre¢exchanges a variable interest rate base (Elavdohrgin) for a fixed interest rate of
0.97% over the term of the agreement. This inteadstswap is designated as a cash flow hedgeofitérest rate risk attributable to foreca:
variable interest payments. The effective portibthe fair value gains or losses on this swap aeided as a component of accumulated othe
comprehensive loss.

In June 2015, in connection with the repaymentilhand termination of the term loan facility, tR@mpany also terminated the interest
rate swap agreement. Upon settlement, the Comgamgnized an expense of $0.3 million to other inedexpense), net in the consolidated
statement of operations.

Promissory Notes

The Company did not issue any promissory notesaalfyear 2015, 2014 and 2013. All of the pronmigsmtes are non-interest-bearing.
For these notes, interest was imputed such thatdtes carry an interest rate commensurate withetveilable to the Company in the market
for similar debt instruments. Accretion of promigsaotes recorded as interest expense was notialataring fiscal year 2015. Accretion of
promissory notes recorded as interest expense Was$llion during each of the fiscal years 2014 2913.

76



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Debt Maturities
The maturities of debt as of June 30, 2015 wefelksvs (in thousands):

Promissory Revolving Loar
Year Ending June 30, Note Facility
2016 $ 50 $ =
2017 — 15,00(
50 15,00(
Less: imputed interest and unamortized disco (@D} —
Less: current portio (49 —
Noncurrent portion of det $ — $ 15,00(

Letters of Credit

The Company has a $0.4 million letter of crediteggnent with a financial institution that is usedcalateral for fidelity bonds placed
with an insurance company and a $0.5 million letfezredit agreement with a financial institutidrat is used as collateral for the Company’s
corporate headquarters’ operating lease. The datfecredit automatically renew annually withouteaxdment unless cancelled by the financial
institutions within 30 days of the annual expiratitate.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases office space and equipment matecancelable operating leases with various etipit dates through fiscal year
2020. Rent expense for fiscal years 2015, 2014848 was $3.5 million, $3.6 million and $3.4 miliioThe Company recognizes rent expens
on a straight-line basis over the lease periodaaedues for rent expense incurred but not paid.

Future annual minimum lease payments under allamcelable operating leases as of June 30, 2015agdlows (in thousands):

Operating

Year Ending June 30, Leases
2016 $ 3,64t
2017 3,328
2018 3,24¢
2019 1,30
2020 57
$11,57¢

In February 2010, the Company entered into a lagssement for its corporate headquarters locat@8@iT ower Lane, Foster City,
California. The term of the lease began on Novemb@010 and expires on October 31, 2018. The Cagnpas the option to extend the term
of the lease twice by one additional year. The migritase rent was abated for the first 12 calenuamths under the lease, and was $0.1
million through the 24th calendar month of the terhthe lease. Monthly base rent increased to 80ln for the subsequent
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12 months and now increases approximately 3% aételn 12-month anniversary during the remaining témotuding any extensions under
options to extend.

Guarantor Arrangements

The Company has agreements whereby it indemntfesfficers and directors for certain events orusnces while the officer or
director is, or was, serving at the Company’s ragiresuch capacity. The term of the indemnificateriod is for the officer or director’s
lifetime. The maximum potential amount of futureypeents the Company could be required to make uthése indemnification agreements is
unlimited; however, the Company has a directorafider insurance policy that limits its exposuredaenables the Company to recover a
portion of any future amounts paid under certaiourhstances and subject to deductibles and exalsisis a result of its insurance policy
coverage, the Company believes the estimated dhilevof these indemnification agreements is noenet Accordingly, the Company had no
liabilities recorded for these agreements as oé By 2015 and 2014.

In the ordinary course of its business, the Compgeam time to time enters into standard indemntfma provisions in its agreements
with its clients. Pursuant to these provisions,Gloenpany may be obligated to indemnify its clidiotscertain losses suffered or incurred,
including losses arising from violations of appbtalaw by the Company or by its third-party pubéss, losses arising from actions or
omissions of the Company or its third-party puldish and for third-party claims that a Company pobdnfringed upon a third party’s
intellectual property rights. Where practicables @ompany limits its liabilities under such indetigs. Subject to these limitations, the term of
such indemnity provisions is generally coterminaith the corresponding agreements and survivethibduration of the applicable statute of
limitations after termination of the agreement. Plagential amount of future payments to defend tatsor settle indemnified claims under
these indemnification provisions is generally liedtand the Company believes the estimated faievafithese indemnity provisions is not
material. The payments under such agreements échdae not been significant. Accordingly, the Comyplaad no liabilities recorded for these
agreements as of June 30, 2015 and 2014.

10. Stock Benefit Plans
Stock-Based Compensation

In fiscal years 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Compacgrded stock-based compensation expense of $9i8m$10.4 million and $12.0
million. There was no excess tax benefits recoghirdiscal year 2015 due to the Company'’s fulluadion allowance. The Company
recognized related excess tax benefits of $0.5aniind $0.1 million in fiscal years 2014 and 2013.

There was no gross benefit of tax deductions rezegnin fiscal year 2015 due to the Company’sValuation allowance. The Company
included as part of cash flows from financing atit¢ a gross benefit of tax deductions of $0.3ianland $0.2 million in fiscal years 2014 ¢
2013 related to stock-based compensation.

Stock Incentive Plans

In November 2009, the Company’s board of directmispted the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “20idehtive Plan”) and the
Company'’s stockholders approved the 2010 Inceftlae in January 2010. The 2010 Incentive Plan beczffective upon the completion of
the IPO of the Company’s common stock in Febru@®302 Awards granted after January 2008 but befereatoption of the 2010 Incentive
Plan continue to be governed by the terms of tf8 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”). All stending stock awards granted before
January 2008 continue to be governed by the tefifedCompany’s amended and restated 1999 Equignkive Plan (the “1999 Plan”).
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The 2010 Incentive Plan provides for the granhogntive stock options (“ISOs”), nonstatutory stogiions (“NQSOs”)restricted stocl
restricted stock units (“RSUs"), stock appreciatihts, performance-based stock awards and otinersfof equity compensation, as well as
for the grant of performance cash awards. The Cosnpeay issue ISOs only to its employees. NQSOsadimmther awards may be granted to
employees, including officers, nonemployee directord consultants.

To date, the Company has issued ISOs, NQSOs, R&lgeaformance-based stock awards under the 2@tdtine Plan. ISOs and
NQSOs are generally granted to employees with ancese price equal to the market price of the Carng’'s common stock at the date of gri
Stock options granted to employees generally hasanfractual term of seven years and vest overyears of continuous service, with
25 percent of the stock options vesting on the ywa-anniversary of the date of grant and the neimgi75 percent vesting in equal monthly
installments over the three year period thereaRestricted stock units granted to employees poidiscal year 2013 generally vest over five
years of continuous service, with 15 percent ofristricted stock units vesting on the -year anniversary of the date of grant, 60 percent
vesting in equal quarterly installments over thiéofeing three years and the remaining 25 percesting in equal quarterly installments over
the last year of the vesting period. Restrictedlstmits granted to employees starting in fiscalry2013 generally vest over four years of
continuous service, with 25 percent of the restdatock units vesting on the one-year annivershtlye date of grant and 6.25% vesting
quarterly thereafter for the next 12 quarters.

An aggregate of 11,411,822 shares of the Compayisnon stock were reserved for issuance under@h@ mhcentive Plan as of
June 30, 2015, and this amount will be increasedryyoutstanding stock awards that expire or teguifor any reason prior to their exercise
or settlement. The number of shares of the Comgargrnmon stock reserved for issuance is increasaabdly through July 1, 2019 by up to
five percent of the total number of shares of tikenfany’s common stock outstanding on the last dalyeopreceding fiscal year. The
maximum number of shares that may be issued uhde2@10 Incentive Plan is 30,000,000. There we348679 shares available for issuance
under the 2010 Incentive Plan as of June 30, 2015.

In November 2009, the Company’s board of directatspted the 2010 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock AlRlan (the “Directors’
Plan™) and the stockholders approved the DirectBlah in January 2010. The Directors’ Plan becaffeeteve upon the completion of the
Company'’s IPO. The Directors’ Plan provides for #utomatic grant of NQSOs and restricted stocksunihon-employee directors and also
provides for the discretionary grant of NQSOs asstricted stock units. Stock options granted to nem-employee directors vest in equal
monthly installments over four years; annual stopkion grants to existing directors vest in equahthly installments over one year and the
initial and annual RSU grants vest quarterly ovpedod of four years. Starting in fiscal year 20itfitial and annual RSU grants vest daily
over a period of four years.

An aggregate of 2,047,770 shares of the Compamytsion stock were reserved for issuance under theefrs’ Plan as of June 30,
2015. This amount is increased annually, by the stig90,000 shares and the aggregate number acdsbéthe Company’s common stock
subject to awards granted under the Directors’ Blaing the immediately preceding fiscal year. Bhaeere 803,142 shares available for
issuance under the Directors’ Plan as of June @052

Valuation Assumptions

The Company estimates the fair value of stock opéwards at the date of grant using the Black-Sshoption-pricing model. Options
are granted with an exercise price equal to threvidue of the common stock as of the date of grEime Company calculates the weighted
average expected life of options using the singdifinethod pursuant to the accounting guidancehfamesbased payments as it does not have
sufficient historical exercise experience. The Campestimates the expected volatility of its commatwtk based on its historical volatility
over the stock option’s expected term. The Comgws/no history or expectation of paying dividends
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on its common stock. The risk-free interest ratgaised on the U.S. Treasury yield for a term ctgisisvith the expected term of the stock
options.

The weighted average Black-Scholes model assungpéiod the weighted average grant date fair valwtoak options in fiscal years
2015, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
Expected term (in years) 4.€ 4.6 4.€
Expected volatility 46% 48% 54%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 1.€% 1.4% 0.7%
Grant date fair valu $1.87 $3.67 $3.82

The fair value of restricted stock units is deteved based on the closing price of the Company’snrcomstock on the grant date.

Compensation expense is amortized net of estinfatégitures on a straight-line basis over the retigiservice period of the stock-based
compensation awards.

Stock Option Award Activity

The following table summarizes the stock option mhgctivity under the Comparg/stock incentive plans from June 30, 2013 to By
2015:

Weighted
Weightec Average
Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Life Intrinsic
Exercise Value
Shares Price (in years) (in thousands’
Outstanding at June 30, 2013 10,039,45 $ 10.31 3.3¢ $5,693,69.
Grantec 1,449,60: 8.9¢
Exercisec (731,93 4.9¢
Forfeited (790,179 10.7¢
Expired (2,454,35) 10.9:
Outstanding at June 30, 20 7,512,59; $10.32 3.27 $ 225,18.
Grantec 453,60 4.6%
Exercisec (211,879 4.6(
Forfeited (292,81Y 9.92
Expired (1,583,061 10.4¢
QOutstanding at June 30, 20 5,878,44. $10.0i 2.8¢ $ 950,75!
Vested and expect-to-vest at June 30, 20:® 5,757,58! $10.18 2.82 $ 888,95
Vested and exercisable at June 30, z 4,921,711 $ 10.52 2.44 $ 484,36

@ The expecte-to-vest options are the result of applying the-vesting forfeiture assumption to total outstandipgjons.
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The following table summarizes additional inforneatregarding outstanding and exercisable stoclongtat June 30, 2015:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average
Range or Exercise Price: Number of Share: Contractual Term Exercise Price Number of Share: Exercise Price
$3.91-$5.94 677,00: 5.9¢ $ 5.0¢ 307,73: $ 4.9C
$5.9¢-$9.00 476,04! 3.3 $ 7.5C 397,41¢ $ 7.4¢&
$9.01-$9.01 798,01 0.9¢ $ 9.01 798,01 $ 9.01
$9.25-$9.55 959,87 4.31 $ 9.47 642,12 $ 9.4:
$9.64-$9.91 655,20! 3.5¢ $ 9.6¢ 496,19¢ $ 9.6¢
$10.2¢$10.28 631,53t 0.0¢ $ 10.2¢ 631,53t $ 10.2¢
$10.3+%$11.67 1,006,26: 2.5¢4 $ 11.32 974,19 $ 11.31
$12.4-$15.60 181,00( 3.8 $ 14.1¢ 181,00( $ 14.1¢
$16.8¢-$16.89 104,29! 1.74 $ 16.8¢ 104,29! $ 16.8¢
$19.0(-$19.00 389,20( 1.3¢€ $ 19.0C 389,20( $ 19.0(C
$3.91-$19.00 5,878,44. 2.8¢ $ 10.07 4,921,71. $ 10.5Z

The following table summarizes the total intring&due, the cash received and the actual tax beufedit options exercised during fiscal

years 2015, 2014 and 20!

2015 2014 2013
Intrinsic value $131 $1,87¢ $42%
Cash receive 97t 3,65z 457
Tax benefil — — 11z

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

As of June 30, 2015, there was $2.6 million ofltateecognized compensation expense related tostedstock options which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 2.07 years.

Restricted Stock Unit Activity

The following table summarizes the restricted stawi activity under the Company’s stock incentplans from June 30, 2013 to

June 30, 2015:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Grant Date Contractual Life Intrinsic
Value
Shares Fair Value (in years) (in thousands’
Outstanding at June 30, 2013 1,660,20! $ 9.7¢C 1.47 $  14,32¢
Grantec 1,049,271 9.11
Vested (650,259 7.81
Forfeited (411,899 9.57
Outstanding at June 30, 20 1,647,33 $ 10.1C 1.32 $ 9,07
Grantec 3,443,271 5.2¢
Vested (606,209 5.11
Forfeited (751,779 7.0¢
Outstanding at June 30, 20 3,732,633l $ 7.0¢ 1.32 $ 24,06¢
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As of June 30, 2015, there was $14.8 million céltanrecognized compensation expense related tiicted stock units which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 2.84 years.

11. Stockholders’ Equity
Retirement of Treasury Stock
During the fiscal years ended 2015 and 2014, thagamy did not retire any shares of treasury stock.

During the fiscal year ended 2013, the Companye@t638,365 shares of treasury stock, with a aagryalue of approximately $6.2
million. These retired shares are now includechen€@ompany’s pool of authorized but unissued shaies retired treasury stock was initially
recorded using the cost method. The Company’s aticmupolicy upon the retirement of treasury sticto deduct its par value from common
stock, reduce additional paid-in capital by the antaecorded in additional paid-in capital when $heck was originally issued and any
remaining excess of cost as a deduction (incregge}ained earnings (accumulated deficit).

12. Related Party Transactions

On April 22, 2013, the Company entered into an exgrent (the “Transition Agreement”) with Bronwyn 8lyj the Company’s President,
which provides for the transition and conclusiorvis. Syiek’s employment with the Company. Pursdarthe Transition Agreement,
Ms. Syiek continued to work full time as the ComyparPresident at her existing base salary througite3nber 30, 2013. Ms. Syiek was
eligible for, and received, a bonus for fiscal y2@i3. On September 18, 2013, the Company entetedin amendment to the Transition
Agreement, (the “Amended Transition Agreement”) velioy the amendment replaced the agreement intitegmn Pursuant to the Amended
Transition Agreement Ms. Syiek’s employment wite thompany terminated on October 1, 2013, at whitht Ms. Syiek entered into a
consulting agreement with the Company, in constaardor which her “Continuous Service” (as definradhe Company’s 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan) continued for certain of her eqaityards. Ms. Syiek received $37,400 in cash congtemsunder the consulting agreement.
The consulting agreement terminated on March 30420

In connection with its continuing review of nonattgic assets in March 2014, the Company electdispmse of its equity investment in
DemandBase, Inc. (“DemandBase”). In this regare Gbmpany contacted a number of existing DemandBasstors, including Split Rock
Partners Il, LP (“Split Rock”). Split Rock is marexyby Split Rock Partners Il Management, LLC, ofchithe Company’s director
Mr. Simons is a managing director. In addition, @e@mpany’s director Mr. Sands is a member of therdhof directors of DemandBase and is
also a managing partner of Costanoa Venture Capitath is an investor in DemandBase. Accordinglythe Company’s sale of the shares tc
Split Rock could be deemed a related person tréinsathe Company conducted an auction processneghect to the sale of the DemandBas
shares. Split Rock ultimately prevailed in thatqass, and the Company’s Audit Committee approveddite in accordance with the
Company’s related person transactions policy. OnlAf, 2014 the Company entered into a Stock PasetAgreement with Split Rock
whereby the partnership purchased all 1,436,78teslat Series D Preferred Stock of DemandBase owpelde Company for a total purchase
price of $1,436,781.

13. Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as componentseritarprise about which separate financial inforarais available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision makergdecision making group, in deciding how to allocasources and in assessing performance
The Company’s chief operating decision maker isliigf executive officer. The Company’s chief exaauofficer reviews financial
information presented on a consolidated basis,rapaaied by information about operating segmentduding net sales and operating loss
before depreciation and amortization, stock-basedpensation expense and goodwill impairment.
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The Company determined its reportable operatinghsagis DMS, which derives revenue from fees eathemligh the delivery of
qualified leads, inquiries, clicks, calls, applioats, customers and, to a lesser extent, impressidre remaining segment does not meet the
guantitative threshold for an individually reporimsegment and is therefore included in the “Afiast line in the following table.

The Company evaluates the performance of its opgraegment based on operating income before degijgcand amortization, stock-
based compensation expense and goodwill impairment.

The Company does not allocate all of its assetis @epreciation and amortization expense, stadetl compensation expense, goodwil
impairment, interest income, interest expense,ratttdme (expense), net and income tax expensedment. Accordingly, the Company does
not report such information.

Summarized information by segment was as followghousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
Net revenue by segmel
DMS $281,22! $281,49( $304,08!
All other 91t 1,05¢ 1,01¢€
Total net revenu 282,141 282,54¢ 305,10:
Segment operating income before depreciation, aratiin, stock-based compensation expense,
goodwill impairment
DMS 9,007 23,55¢ 47,31¢
All other 53¢ 631 55€
Total segment operating income before depreciatiorgrtization, stockased compensation exper
and goodwill impairment 9,54t 24,18¢ 47,87:
Depreciation and amortizatic (18,867 (26,097 (32,32%)
Stocl-based compensation expel (9,855 (10,429 (12,016
Impairment of goodwil — (95,64)) (92,350
Total operating los $(19,17°) $(107,979) $(88,819)

The following tables set forth net revenue and lowed assets by geographic area (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2015 2014 2013
Net revenue
United State: $276,18. $278,79: $302,17¢
Internationa 5,95¢ 3,75¢ 2,928
Total net revenu $282,14( $282,54¢ $305,10:
June 30 June 30,
2015 2014
Property and equipment, ni
United State: $8,31: $10,87¢
Internationa 252 24¢
Total property and equipment, r $8,56¢ $11,12¢
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants otcAunting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cliirécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officexaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of June(®®.2I'he term “disclosure controls and proceduras defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-1
(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 n@araled (the “Exchange Act”), means controls andrgbhocedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported nvtftbitime periods specified in the SEC's rules famchs. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controlsigarocedures designed to ensure that informatiguired to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchafigeis accumulated and communicated to the compangnagement, including its principal
executive and principal financial officers, as agpiate to allow timely decisions regarding regdidésclosure. Management recognizes that
any controls and procedures, no matter how welbdesl and operated, can provide only reasonabigasse of achieving their objectives and
management necessarily applies its judgment iruatiag the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatoals and procedures. Based on the
evaluation of our disclosure controls and proceslaeof June 30, 2015, our Chief Executive Offarat Chief Financial Officer concluded
that, as of such date, our disclosure controlspradedures were effective at the reasonable assutavel.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Oueiinal control over financial reporting is designegrovide reasonable assurance regardin
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of consolidated financial statements faeexal purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Our internal cdrdver financial reporting includes those policéxl procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettilansactions and dispositions of its
assets,

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transactiomsecorded as necessary to permit preparatioorsolidated financial
statements in accordance with generally accepteabiating principles, and that receipts and expenetit are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshidé&nectors, and

(i) provide reasonable assurance regarding priwemr timely detection of any unauthorized acdigin, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on thediimiated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of internal control effectivenessutnre periods are subject to the risk that cdatneay become inadequate because of change
in conditions, or that the degree of compliancélite policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management has assessed the effectivenessinfemal control over financial reporting as oféd 30, 2015. In making this
assessment, our management used the criteriartebjothe Committee of Sponsoring OrganizationthefTreadway Commission (“COSQ”)
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2018fework). Based on this evaluation, our manageimestoncluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective dsone 30, 2015.
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The effectiveness of our internal control over fioil reporting as of June 30, 2015 has been albitPricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, ar
independent registered public accounting firm,tased in their report which appears in this anmepbrt on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control ovgairicial reporting identified in connection with tiealuation required by Rule 13a-15
(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occudedng the three months ended June 30, 2015 #sattaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govante

The information required by this item concerningedtors and executive officers is incorporated indog reference from the sections to
be titled “Election of Class Il Directors,” “Boamf Directors,” and “Directors and Executive Offisein our definitive proxy statement to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioodnnection with our 2015 annual meeting of stoddtérs (the “Proxy Statement”). The
Proxy Statement is expected to be filed no laten th?20 days after the end of our fiscal year eddee 30, 2015.

The information required by this item with respecBection 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorpatdterein by reference from the
section to be titled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Owstep Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics pdiea to all of our employees, officers (includiogr principal executive officer,
principal financial officer, principal accountindficer or controller, or persons performing simifanctions), agents and representatives,
including directors and consultants. We will makg aequired disclosure of future amendments to@age of Conduct and Ethics, or waivers
of such provisions, applicable to any principal@xese officer, principal financial officer, pringal accounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar functions or our directors or thvestor relations page of our corporate wel§sitew.quinstreet.com)

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be setth in the sections to be titled “Report of thenensation Committee,” “Board of
Directors” and “Executive Compensation” in our Br@tatement and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners @Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be setth in the sections to be titled “Executive Comgrion” and “Stock Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in ourxiPrStatement and is incorporated herein by refaren

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactionsdairector Independence
The information required by this item will be indied in the section to be titled “Stock OwnershifCeftain Beneficial Owners and

Management” and “Board of Directors” in the Proxat®ment and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be setth in the section to be titled “Ratification diet Selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP as our Independent Registered Public Accourfing” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporatedein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) We have filed the following documents as p&ths Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing 54
Consolidated Balance She: 55
Consolidated Statements of Operati 56
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 57
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity 58
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc 59
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 60
2. Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedule is filegla part of this report:
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
The activity in the allowance for doubtful accoyrsales returns and the deferred tax asset vatuallimvance are as follows (in
thousands):
Balance at Charged tc Balance a
the Write -offs
beginning of expenses/ the end of
against net of
the year revenue recoveries the year
Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales rett
Fiscal year 201 $ 2,80 $ 97 $ (879 $ 2,02¢
Fiscal year 201. $ 2,02¢ $ 32z $ (42¢) $ 1,922
Fiscal year 201! $ 1,92¢ $ 92t $ (78)) $ 2,064
Deferred tax asset valuation allowai
Fiscal year 201 $ — $ 947 $ — $ 2,02¢
Fiscal year 201. $ 947 $ 67,22t $ — $68,17:
Fiscal year 201! $ 68,17: $ 5,06¢ $ — $73,24:

Note: Additions to the allowance for doubtful acntsiand the valuation allowance are charged toresgpeAdditions to the allowance for
sales credits are charged against revenue.

All other schedules are omitted because they aresgaired or the required information is shownha financial statements or notes
thereto.

(b) Exhibits
See the exhibit index immediately following thersiture page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized, on August 19, 2015.

QuinStreet, Inc
By: /s/ Douglas Valen

Douglas Valenti
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears belostittbes and appoints Douglas
Valenti and Gregory Wong, and each of them, asrhesand lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, Wiithpower of substitution and re-
substitution, for him in any and all capacitiessign any and all amendments to this Annual Repoifform 10-K and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connedtierewith, with the Securities and Exchange Corsimishereby ratifying and confirming
that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agentijsosubstitute or substitutes, may lawfully do auge to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title. Date
/s/ Douglas Valenti Chairman of the Board and Chief August 19, 2015
Douglas Valent Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl Gregory Wong Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice August 19, 2015
Gregory Wong President (Principal Financial and Accoun

Officer)

/s/ William Bradley Director August 19, 2015
William Bradley
/s] Stuart M. Huizinga Director August 19, 2015
Stuart M. Huizinge
/s/ Robin Josephs Director August 19, 2015
Robin Joseph
/s/ John G. McDonald Director August 19, 2015
John G. McDonal
/s/ David Pauldine Director August 19, 2015

David Pauldine
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Signature

/sl Gregory Sands

Gregory Sand

/s| Marjorie T. Sennett

Marjorie T. Sennel

/s/ James Simons

James Simon

/s/ Dana Stalder

Dana Stalde
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Director
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Director

Director

Date

August 19, 2015

August 19, 2015

August 19, 2015

August 19, 2015
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Exhibit
No.

2.1®

3.16

3.20

4.1
10.1M+
10.2M +

10.30W+
10.4@+
10.5@+
10.647) +

10.70)+
10.845) +

10.945) +

10.10C1H+
10.1102+
10.1203)+

10.1349+

10.15D+

10.16®

10.17a8)

10.18®)

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated November 5, 2@l@ndbamong QuinStreet, Inc., Car Insurance.com, Gar
Insurance Agency, Inc., Car Insurance Holdings,, I8arinsurance.com, Inc., Lloyd Register 1V, Lidgdgister lll,
David Fitzgerald, Timothy Register, Randy Horovatrd Erick Pace

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporat
Bylaws.

Form of QuinStreet, In's Common Stock Certificat
QuinStreet, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Pl

Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notiocdar 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (for non-executifficer
employees)

Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Noticdar 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (for executive a#fs).
Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notiodar 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (for r-employee directors
QuinStreet, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Pl

Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notiodar 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (for non-executifiicer
employees)

Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notiodar 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (for executive cdfs).

Forms of Senior Management Restricted Stock Uritl{RGrant Notice and Agreement under 2010 Equitgiive
Plan (for executive officers

Forms of Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) Grant Notiogl &greement under 2010 Equity Incentive Plan iffmm-executive
officer employees)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2B#Qity Incentive Plan (for ni-employee directors
QuinStreet, Inc. 2010 N-Employee Director Stock Award Plan

Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notmelfitial Grants under the 2010 Non-Employee Diveg Stock
Award Plan.

Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notme&Annual Grants under the 2010 Non-Employee DinetiStock
Award Plan,

Annual Incentive Plar

Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit ant Tean Agreement, by and among QuinStreet, lhe.Jénders
thereto and Comerica Bank as Administrative Agasie $ead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner, Bank of AocgeN.A. as
Syndication Agent, and Union Bank, N.A. as Docuratah Agent dated as of November 4, 2C

First Amendment to Second Amended and RestatedRegcCredit and Term Loan Agreement and Amendment
Guaranty dated as of February 15, 2(

Office Lease Metro Center, dated as of Februar2@%0, between the registrant and CA-Metro Ceniited
Partnershiy
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Exhibit
No.

10.19@+
10.2009)

10.21@3

10.2319)
10.24@19)
10.262

10.27C% +

10.28C%+
10.29¢9)

10.30*+

23.1*
24.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*%*
101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101. LAB**
101. PRE**

* Filed herewith

Description of Exhibit

Form of Indemnification Agreement made by and betw®uinStreet, Inc. and each of its directors amstative officers

Assurance of Voluntary Compliance dated June 2622y and among QuinStreet, Inc. and the Attorriggseral of the
States of Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, Delawareiiddo Idaho, lllinois, lowa, Kentucky, Massachusghlississippi,
Missouri, Nevada, New York, North Carolina, Ohiag@on, South Carolina, Tennessee and West Vir¢

License and Investment Agreement by and among @@etS Inc., Bronwyn Syiek and TownB CorporationedbAugust
23, 2012

Transition Agreement dated September 18, 2013 leetilee Company and Scott Mackl
Transition Agreement dated September 18, 2013 leetwlee Company and Bronwyn Syi

Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Refatalving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, as aradricbm
time to time, dated as of July 17, 2014, by andragrQuinStreet, Inc., Comerica Bank, as administeagigent, and certe
lenders party theret

Forms of Senior Management Performance-Based Biestrtock Unit (RSU) Grant Notice and Agreemertearr?010
Equity Incentive Plan (for executive officer

Form of Deferred Restricted Stock Unit Agreemerdan2010 No-Employee Directol Stock Award Plan

Third Amendment, to the Second Amended and ResReedlving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, as aradricbm
time to time, dated as of June 11, 2015, by andhgn@uinStreet, Inc., Comerica Bank, as administeagigent, and
certain lenders party there

Forms of Performance-Based Restricted Stock UrBl[RGrant Notice and Agreement under 2010 Equitetive Plan
(for nor-executive officer employee

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference togigmature page of this Annual Report on Forr-K).
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Qi8treet, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sa-Oxley Act.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Qutreet, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sax-Oxley Act.
Section 1350 Certifications of Chief Executive ©i and Chief Financial Office

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

**  Furnished herewitt

+ Indicates man

agement contract or compensatory
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@

@

®

)

®)

(6)

O]

®)

©)

(10

(11)

(12

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

()]

(18)

(19

(20)

(21)

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigxbiQuinStreet, Inc.’s Registration Statementonm S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
163228) filed on November 19, 20(

Incorporated by reference Exhibit 99.9 to QuinSttee.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (SEHE Nb. 333-165534) filed on
March 17, 2010

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigxbiQuinStreet, Inc.’'s Amendment No. 2 to Regisbn Statement on Form S-1
(SEC File No. 33-163228) filed on January 14, 20:

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigxbiQuinStreet, Inc.’'s Amendment No. 3 to Regisbn Statement on Form S-1
(SEC File No. 33-163228) filed on January 26, 20:

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quia&t, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (SE@ Nb. 00134628) filed on May 1:
2010.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Quie8ty Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statethoa Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
163228) filed on December 22, 20t

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to QuieStr Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statethoa Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
163228) filed on December 22, 20t

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigxbiQuinStreet, Inc.’s Current Report on ForrK 8EC File No. 001-34628) filed
on November 8, 201!

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quia&t, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (SE@ Nb. 001-34628) filed on
November 8, 2011

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quia&t, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File. B01-34628) filed on June 27,
2012.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Quie&, Inc.’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Staat on Form S-1 (SEC File
N0.33:-163228) filed on January 14, 20:

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.12 to Quie& Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8Q$lile No. 333-165534) filed on
March 17, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.13 to Quie& Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8Q$lile No. 333-165534) filed on
March 17, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.14 to Quie& Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8Q$lile No. 333-165534) filed on
March 17, 2010

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbigxdiQuinStreet, Inc.’s Annual Report on FormK@SEC File No. 00134628) filec
on August 23, 201:

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quia&t, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (SE@ Nb. 001-34628) filed on
February 15, 201

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.10 to Quie& Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8Q$lile No. 333-165534) filed on
March 17, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quia&t, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File. R01-34628) filed on September
19, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Quia&t Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File R01-34628) filed on
September 19, 201

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.11 to Quie& Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8Q$lile No. 333-165534) filed on
March 17, 2010
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Exhibit 10.30

Q UIN STREET, I NC.
P ERFORMANCE -B ASED R ESTRICTED STock U NIT (RSU) GRANT N OTICE
2010 EQuITY | NCENTIVE P LAN

QuinStreet, Inc. (the Company”), pursuant to its 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (tHelan "), hereby grants to you as the Participant named
below a Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unitréwath respect to the number of shares of the Gomijs Common Stock set forth
below. This Performance-Based Restricted Stock Awitrd is subject to all of the terms and condii@s set forth herein, in the Performance
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (thegteement’), the Plan and the 2010 Equity Incentive PlansBextus (the Plan Prospectus),

all of which are attached hereto and incorporat@ih in their entirety.

Participant:

Date of Grant:

Target Performance Units:

Performance Period:

Performance Criteria:

Vesting Schedule: The final number of Performance Units to be awdrdnd eligible for vesting (theEarned Performance Unit?")
shall be | of the Target Performance Units set forth aboaselol on achievement of the Performance
Criteria as determined by the Compensation Comendfehe Company’s Board of Directors following #ed of
the Performance Period (thé®termination Date’). If the number of Earned Performance Units &sléhan the
number of Target Performance Units, the excess lsbdbrfeited on the Determination Da

Earned Performance Units shall become vesidujéct to the conditions in the Agreement) inalistents over

[ ] as follows: |

No Monetary Payment Required. You are not required to make any monetary payrtather than applicable Tax Obligations (as defimed
the Agreement)) as a condition to receiving thddPerance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award or shafeCommon Stock issued upon
vesting and settlement of the Performance-Basettigtes Stock Unit Award.

Additional Terms/Acknowledgements:The Participant acknowledges receipt of, and utdeds and agrees to, this Performance-Based
Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) Grant Notice, the Agneat, the Plan Prospectus, and the Plan. Participeher acknowledges that as of the
Date of Grant, this Performan&ased Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) Grant Notice,Algjeeement, the Plan Prospectus, and the Plaordktthe
entire understanding between Participant and thepaoy regarding this Award.

A TTACHMENTS : Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreen2i0 Equity Incentive Plan, 2010 Equity IncentRlan
Prospectu:



Q UIN STREET, I NC.
2010 EquiTy | NCENTIVE P LAN

P ERFORMANCE -B ASED R ESTRICTED STOCK U NIT A GREEMENT

Pursuant to the Performance-Based Restricted $toitk RSU) Grant Notice (Grant Notice”) and this Performance-Based Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement (thisAgreement’), QuinStreet, Inc. (the Company”) has granted you a “Target” award of PerformaBesed
Restricted Stock Unit Award Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awdjdunder its 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (th@tan ") subject
to the terms, conditions, and restrictions sehfartthis Agreement, the Grant Notice, and the Plath Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit (* Performance Unit’) represents the right to receive one share ofQbmpany’s Common Stock indicated in the Grant &éotin the
terms and conditions set forth herein and in thenGNotice. Defined terms not explicitly definedtitis Agreement but defined in the Plan s
have the same definitions as in the Plan.

The details of your Performance-Based RestrictedkStinit Award are as follows:

1.V ESTING . Subject to the limitations contained herein, yoarried Performance Units will vest as provided iary@rant Notice,
provided that vesting will cease upon the termarabf your Continuous Service. The amount of Eafedormance Units will be based on
achievement of certain Performance Criteria overrélevant Performance Period as specified in ffa@tGNotice. Immediately upon
termination of your Continuous Service for any mgsany unvested portion of your Earned Performéiies shall be forfeited without
consideration.

2.C oNVERSION | NTO SHARES . Shares of Common Stock will be issued on the agplevesting date (or, to the extent not
administratively feasible, as soon as practicatdedafter). As a condition to such issuance, yall blave satisfied your Tax Obligations as
specified in this Agreement and shall have comgledeggned and returned any documents and takeadditional action that the Company
deems appropriate to enable it to accomplish thieetg of such shares. In no event will the Compéaryobligated to issue a fractional share.

3.T AX T REATMENT .

(a) Regardless of any actions taken by the Companywill be ultimately responsible for any withdolg tax liabilities, whether
a result of federal, state or other law and whefbiethe payment and satisfaction of any income saxial security tax, payroll tax, or
payment on account of other tax related to withimgabligations that arise by reason of the Perforce-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Award, incurred in connection with the Performamased Restricted Stock Unit Award becoming vested@mmon Stock being
issued, or otherwise incurred in connection wit Brerformance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awartigciively, “ Tax Obligations”).

(b) Unless otherwise determined by the Companisisadle discretion, and subject to applicable e,Company shall require you
to satisfy the Tax Obligations (as defined below}te Company deducting from the shares of ComntookStherwise deliverable to
you in settlement of applicable portion of the Barfance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award on thsting date a number of whole
shares having a fair market value (as determinettid¥"ompany) as of the date on which the Tax @bbtgs arise not in excess of the
amount of such Tax Obligations determined by th@iegble minimum statutory withholding rates. Then@pany may in its sole
discretion permit you to elect an alternative mdtbdsatisfying you



Tax Obligations with notice to the Company, whichyninclude the following if specified by the Compgiand the Company may with
notice to you require any of the following methadg)by payment by you to the Company in cashycleck an amount equal to the
minimum amount of taxes that the Company conclitdegequired to withhold under applicable law;(idy by the sale by you of a
number of shares of Common Stock that are issug¢bdeoapplicable vesting date under the Perform&@ased Restricted Stock Unit
Award, which the Company determines is sufficiengénerate an amount that meets the Tax Obligapilussadditional shares to acco
for rounding and market fluctuations, and paymdrguch tax withholding to the Company, and suchiehanay be sold as part of a bl
trade with other Participants. You hereby authotfimeCompany to withhold such tax withholding amosem any amounts owing to
you to the Company and to take any action necessagcordance with this paragraph.

(c) The Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unitéhvigintended to qualify for the short-term deféexception to Section 409A
of the Code described in the regulations promuthitereunder, and therefore shares of Common Stibicke issued within 21/ 2
months after the taxable year in which the appleglortion of the Performance-Based RestrictedStéat Award is no longer subject
to a substantial risk of forfeiture.

4. SecuriTIES L Aw C ompPLIANCE . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaihedein, the Company shall not be obligated to
deliver any Common Stock during any period whenGbenpany determines that the conversion of anyigrodf the Performance-Based
Restricted Stock Unit Award or the delivery of sfmhereunder would violate any federal, state leeradpplicable laws and/or may issue sk
subject to any restrictive legends that, as detegthby the Company’s counsel, is necessary to gowigth securities or other regulatory
requirements.

5. R ESTRICTIONS ON T RANSFER OF A WARDS . You understand and agree that the Performance-Basstticted Stock Unit Award may
not be sold, given, transferred, assigned, pledgedherwise hypothecated.

6. C APITALIZATION A DJUSTMENTS . The number of shares of Common Stock subject to Peadformance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Award may be adjusted from time to time for Cajuttion Adjustments.

7.N o STockHOLDER R IGHTS . You will have no voting or other rights as then@any’s other stockholders with respect to theeshaf
Common Stock underlying the Performance-Based ResirStock Unit Award until issuance of such skare

8.D viDEND E QuivALENT U NITS . Unless otherwise determined by the Compensatamrittee of the Company’Board of Directors i
its sole discretion, you shall not have any rigbtdividends or dividend equivalents in the evéiat the Company pays a cash dividend to
holders of Common Stock generally.

9. A WARD NOT A SERVICE C ONTRACT . Your Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awsmbt an employment or service contract,
and nothing in your Performance-Based RestrictedkStnit Award shall be deemed to create in any whgtsoever any obligation on your
part to continue in the employ of the Company oAffiliate, or of the Company or an Affiliate to ninue your employment. In addition,
nothing in your Performance-Based Restricted Stk Award shall obligate the Company or an Affiéatheir respective stockholders,
Boards of Directors, Officers or Employees to cond any relationship that you might have as a Direar Consultant for the Company or an
Affiliate.



10.N oTices . Any notices provided for in your Performance-BhRestricted Stock Unit Award or the Plan shalbben in writing and
shall be deemed effectively given upon receiptrothe case of notices delivered by mail by the @any to you, five (5) days after deposit in
the United States mail, postage prepaid, addrassgall at the last address you provided to the Gayp

11.G overNING P LAN D ocuMeNT . Your Performancé&ased Restricted Stock Unit Award is subject tdtal provisions of the Plan, tl
provisions of which are hereby made a part of y@enformance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award,iaridrther subject to all interpretations,
amendments, rules and regulations, which may fiora to time be promulgated and adopted pursuathiet®lan. In the event of any conflict
between the provisions of your Performance-BasedrReed Stock Unit Award and those of the Plae, ghovisions of the Plan shall control.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢iee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B33714, 333-190735,

333-183517, 333-176272, 333-168322, and 333-165&3@)inStreet, Inc. of our report dated August2@15 relating to the consolidated
financial statements, financial statement schedntkthe effectiveness of internal control overiiicial reporting, which appears in this Form
10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
August 19, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Douglas Valenti, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fIQuinStreet, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or déonfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the company as of, andffier periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedortge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatebsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentdisingport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyedis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the company’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the company’s interr@ntrol over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the company’s board of directors (@nspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the comyfmability to record, process, summarize and refaancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@niifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 19, 2015

/s/ Douglas Valent

Douglas Valent

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Gregory Wong, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fIQuinStreet, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or déonfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the company as of, andffier periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedortge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatebsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentdisingport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyedis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the company’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the company’s interr@ntrol over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the company’s board of directors (@nspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the comyfmability to record, process, summarize and refaancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@niifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 19, 2015

/sl Gregory Won¢

Gregory Wonc

Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice Presid
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being subrdtte connection with the report on Form 10-K of @ireet, Inc. (the “Report”) for the

purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule-113l(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (thechange Act”) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Douglas Valenti, the Chief Executive Officer ance@ory Wong, the Chief Financial Officer of Quin&tenc., each certifies that, to the
best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requiremesttSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
QuinStreet, Inc.

Date: August 19, 2015

/s/ Douglas Valent

Name: Douglas Valen

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

/sl Gregory Won¢

Name: Gregory Won

Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice Presid
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




